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< Transforming the Handheld Industry >



A year ago, we shared our vision of a second growth wave building in the handheld industry, driven by new, powerful 

industry transitions:

• Significant technology improvements, including powerful ARM-based architectures, higher-resolution screens and 

innovative industrial designs;

• Increasing demands for mobile connectivity and the availability of data-oriented, always-on wireless networks using 

Wi-Fi and GPRS or CDMA 1x standards; 

• New applications, featuring communication and multimedia capabilities for use in education, science, business and 

entertainment environments; and

• The emergence of new handheld markets in geographies such as China and Brazil.

As the pioneer and undisputed leader of the handheld industry, Palm committed its resources to accelerating the arrival 

of the second growth wave, enhancing our strategic position and improving long-term return prospects to our stockholders.

During FY ’03:

• We transitioned our product lines and those of our licensees to the ARM processor family and Palm OS 5, the latest 

version of the Palm operating system. The move to ARM gives our licensees access to a much wider variety of proces-

sors, ranging from very low cost and low power to extremely high performance, so they can customize their devices for

particular markets. The higher performance range of ARM enables powerful new features such as digital photography

and media playback. In addition to supporting the move to ARM, Palm OS 5 added important new security features co-

developed with RSA Security, as well as improved sound and graphics capabilities, while preserving compatibility with

the vast majority of the more than 18,000 commercially available software programs running on Palm OS. 

• We reignited the rapid pace of technology and business innovation.

We introduced two new product subbrands, aligned with our segmentation of the handheld market:  

> The Zire™ subbrand appeals to the entry-level as well as the media-savvy consumer. Our first Zire handheld, 

introduced in October 2002 at $99 (suggested U.S. retail), attracted consumers who had previously used paper 

organizers. The Zire handheld sold 1 million units faster than any other product in the history of the handheld industry.

The Zire 71 handheld, introduced in April 2003 at $299 (suggested U.S. retail), brings multimedia capabilities with a

built-in digital camera and the ability to listen to stereo quality MP3 files, view photos with the Palm Photo application

and display home movie clips. 

> The Tungsten™ subbrand appeals to mobile business professionals who often require data-intensive applications 

and wireless connectivity. The Tungsten T handhelds provide integrated Bluetooth™ connectivity for communication

with other Bluetooth enabled devices as well as one-button voice recording. The Tungsten W handheld delivers 

integrated GSM/GPRS connectivity through various carrier networks. The Tungsten C handheld provides integrated 

Wi-Fi for connectivity within Wi-Fi-enabled business networks and at Wi-Fi hotspots, which are becoming increasingly 

commonplace at airports, coffee shops, hotels, hospitals and universities.

Our new Zire and Tungsten products won accolades from well-known industry watchers and analysts. 

We helped our licensees take Palm OS into new market categories. Notable products included: Garmin’s GPS-based

handheld; the Palm Powered™ Wrist PDA from Fossil; Sony’s Clié NZ-90, a combination camera and handheld; Aceeca’s 

customizable handheld for scientific and measurement tasks; TapWave’s new entertainment device; AlphaSmart’s Dana

product for education; and new and future Palm OS products targeting the China market from the two largest 

handheld-computing companies in China, Legend and Group Sense Limited.

To Our Stockholders

®



Our innovation extended beyond products and technologies. We also introduced new methods of distribution and enabled

new retail outlets. We opened Palm Cafés in selected shopping malls in the U.S., which provide a more personalized 

buying experience to customers.

• We continued to emphasize operational discipline to improve our processes and business performance, building upon the

foundation laid in FY’02. Our progress is evidenced by the improvements of several key metrics from FY’02 to FY’03:

> Inventory was reduced from $55 million to $23 million and inventory turns rose from 12 to 26;

> Cost of revenues, excluding the benefit from previous special charges and the applicable portion of amortization of

intangible assets, decreased from 72.3% of revenues to 67.8% of revenues; and

> The combination of our sales and marketing, research and development and general and administrative expenses was

reduced from $435 million to $339 million, while at the same time we improved the pace of innovation.

• We engineered a structural transformation of the handheld industry by combining our proposed distribution of PalmSource, 

our subsidiary in charge of creating and licensing the Palm operating system and growing the Palm Economy, with our

planned acquisition of Handspring, Inc., one of Palm’s early licensees and a pioneer in the emerging market for smartphones.

This transaction, announced shortly after the end of our fiscal year, will result in the creation of two independent, industry-

leading companies: 

> PalmSource will become the leading independent provider of operating system software and tools for mobile devices

and will drive the continued expansion of the Palm Economy, including licensees, software developers and other 

strategic partners; and

> palmOne will become a leading independent mobile computing and communications company, offering the Zire and

Tungsten product families plus Handspring’s Treo smartphones. 

STEP 1

STEP 2
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Palm stockholders will be asked to approve this transaction at our upcoming Annual Stockholder Meeting on 

October 28, 2003. We believe the resulting structural transformation of the industry will stimulate enhanced investments

and innovation on the part of existing and new Palm OS licensees, software developers and other strategic partners,

expand growth prospects for the industry and rekindle investor interest in these two new, industry-leading companies.

• We enhanced our corporate governance practices in light of new laws and regulations and in anticipation of the 

heightened expectations of investors. We formed a Nominating & Governance committee of the Board of Directors,

adopted corporate governance guidelines and updated our code of conduct for all employees. The transformation of 

Palm, Inc. into palmOne and PalmSource will increase director independence and strengthen the boards of both 

companies. I encourage you to learn more about our corporate governance practices by visiting our Palm.com website.

These achievements were made in the face of a sluggish global economy and depressed enterprise information-technology

budgets. This difficult environment affected our current available market opportunity, but did not affect our leadership 

standing or the nature or magnitude of our long-term potential. In fact, during FY’03:

• We increased our U.S. All Channel device market share from 51.4% in May ‘02 to 57.7% in May ‘03 according to 

the NPD Group; 

• We increased our worldwide device market share from 33.3% in Spring 2002 to 40.5% in Spring 2003 according 

to IDC; and 

• We maintained our U.S. All Channel OS market share, on average, around 80% in the U.S. throughout the year 

according to the NPD Group. 

As we completed the 4th quarter of our fiscal year, the year-over-

year growth rate in the worldwide sell-through of Palm branded

devices turned positive following six quarters of decline and

reached 5%.

We are confident our industry is poised for renewed growth. We

will continue to work hard to deliver returns to our stockholders

from the investments of the past two years.

Sincerely,

Eric A. Benhamou

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

September 2003
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Additional Information and Where to Find It 

On July 3, 2003, in connection with the proposed reorganization transaction involving Palm, PalmSource and Handspring,

Palm filed with the SEC a Registration Statement on Form S-4 containing a proxy statement/prospectus. In addition, on 

July 3, 2003, PalmSource filed with the SEC a Registration Statement on Form S-4 containing a prospectus relating to the

distribution of PalmSource shares to the existing stockholders of Palm. Investors and security holders are urged to read

these filings, and any amendments to these filings, because they contain important information about the reorganization

transaction described herein. Investors and security holders may obtain free copies of these documents and other docu-

ments filed with the SEC at the SEC’s web site at www.sec.gov. In addition, investors and security holders may obtain 

free copies of the documents filed with the SEC by Palm by contacting Palm Investor Relations (877.696.7256 or

palm.ir@corp.Palm.com). Investors and security holders may obtain free copies of the documents filed with the SEC by

Handspring by contacting Handspring Investor Relations (Bill Slakey at 650.230.5000 or bslakey@Handspring.com). 

Investors and security holders may obtain free copies of the documents filed with the SEC by PalmSource by contacting

PalmSource Investor Relations (Al Wood at 408.400.3000 or Al.Wood@Palmsource.com). 

Palm and its directors and executive officers may be deemed to be participants in the solicitation of proxies from the 

stockholders of Palm and Handspring in connection with the reorganization transaction described herein. Information 

regarding the special interests of these directors and executive officers in the reorganization transaction described herein 

is set forth in the proxy statement/prospectus, which is included in the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by Palm

with the SEC on July 3, 2003, as such filing is amended from time to time. PalmSource and its directors and executive offi-

cers also may be deemed to be participants in the solicitation of proxies from the stockholders of Palm and Handspring in 

connection with the reorganization transaction described herein. Information regarding the special interests of these 

directors and executive officers in the reorganization transaction described herein is set forth in the prospectus, which is

included in the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by PalmSource with the SEC on July 3, 2003, as such filing is

amended from time to time.
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This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal
securities laws. These statements include those concerning the following: our intentions, beliefs and expectations
regarding handheld devices, the market for handheld devices and the handheld device industry; the Palm
platform, our ability to license it and licensing opportunities for the Palm platform; the timetable, plans, tax
effects and benefits of the separation of our businesses into two independent entities, the Solutions Group and
PalmSource, and the acquisition of Handspring; wireless services, applications and technologies and our network
services; our strategies and objectives; growth opportunities for us and our developer community; product
development, design, innovation and introduction relating to new and existing products, technologies and
solutions; expandability options; support and software applications developed by third party developers; the
enterprise market and related opportunities; international business, international sales and international markets;
customer service and technical support; the availability of manufacturing, distribution and component supply;
demand forecast information, inventory and backlog; seasonal fluctuations in demand for and sale of our
products and our licensees’ products; competition and our competitive advantages; industry standards and
compatibility of our products; our rights in the Palm trademark portfolio; our intent to change our name to
palmOne; the licensing of complementary technologies from other parties; our relationship with our employees
and our workforce reductions; our properties, facilities, operating leases and our ability to secure additional
space; legal proceedings; our intellectual property rights; cash dividends; expense allocations and costs relating
to the PalmSource distribution and Handspring acquisition; our expenses; research and development; cost
reductions and savings and our restructuring program; charges for the discontinuance of projects; interest and
other income; the conversion features of outstanding notes; our revenues and ability to collect our receivables;
our belief that our cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash requirements; sales
of securities under our universal shelf registration statement; our beliefs and expectations about our future
success and results; our ability to forecast demand; our foreign exchange exposure; our interest rate sensitivity;
our operating results; our expectations regarding our revenues and customers; our distributors, retailers and
resellers; joint development arrangements; strategic acquisitions; strategic investments; strategic relationships;
our beliefs about provisions in our charter documents and Delaware law and our adoption of a stockholder rights
plan; proposed executive officers; investment activities, interest rates and derivative financial instruments; and
our beliefs regarding the effects of recent accounting pronouncements. These statements are subject to risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results and events to differ materially. For a detailed discussion of these
risks and uncertainties, see the “Business Environment and Risk Factors” section of this Form 10-K.

The stockholder communication document accompanying this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains
forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. These statements include those
concerning the following: industry and market growth and demand expectations; the adoption of handhelds and
smartphones; technology improvements; new applications and product features; the proliferation of Wi-Fi and
other wireless technologies and connectivity; our methods of distribution; competing business strategies;
operational problems; existing and future opportunities and the future for handheld devices; the markets for our
products and services and our position and market share in these markets; our process improvement and business
performance; our inventory, cost of sales and other expenses; the timetable, plans and benefits of the separation
of our businesses into two independent entities, the Solutions Group and PalmSource, and the acquisition of
Handspring; our beliefs regarding the operating system software licensing business; the Palm Economy and the
growth of the Palm Economy; our management and its execution capabilities; our developer community; our
plans for, and deployment of, Palm OS 5 and the ARM platform; returns to our shareholders; opportunities in the
entry level consumer market and in new geographies; international business, international sales and international
markets; and our corporate governance practices. These statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that
could cause actual results and events to differ materially. For a detailed discussion of these risks and
uncertainties, see the “Business Environment and Risk Factors” section of this Form 10-K.

Palm, Inc. undertakes no obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances
occurring after the date of this Form 10-K.

Graffiti, HotSync, PalmPak, Palm OS and PalmSource are registered trademarks and Palm, AnyDay,
palmOne, Palm Powered, Palm Reader, Tungsten, VersaMail and Zire are trademarks of Palm, Inc. or its
subsidiaries. Bluetooth is a trademark of Bluetooth SIG, Inc., U.S.A.
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Part I

Item 1. Business

Overview

Palm, Inc. is the leading global provider of handheld computing devices and operating systems for handheld
devices. For purposes of this report, we refer to the devices designed and sold by Palm as Palm Branded devices,
and we refer to devices running on the Palm operating system (“the Palm OS”) as Palm Powered devices. Palm
Powered devices include Palm Branded devices as well as devices designed and sold by third parties licensing
the Palm OS. Our fiscal year ends on the Friday nearest May 31. For presentation purposes, the periods have
been presented as ending on May 31.

Palm was founded in 1992 as Palm Computing, Inc. In 1995, it was acquired by U.S. Robotics Corporation
and sold its first handheld product in 1996, quickly establishing a leadership role in the handheld device industry.
In 1997, 3Com Corporation acquired U.S. Robotics, and in 1999, 3Com announced the intent to separate the
Palm business into an independent company. In preparation for becoming an independent, publicly traded
company, Palm Computing, Inc. changed its name to Palm, Inc. and was reincorporated in Delaware in
December 1999. In March 2000, approximately 6% of the shares of Palm common stock were sold in an initial
public offering and concurrent private placements, and in July 2000, 3Com distributed the remaining shares of
Palm common stock it owned, approximately 94% of Palm’s common stock then outstanding, to 3Com’s
stockholders. In December 2001, Palm formed PalmSource, Inc. (“PalmSource”), a stand-alone subsidiary for its
operating system business, and subsequently announced its intent to establish PalmSource as an independent,
publicly traded company.

Palm has been organized into two operating segments—PalmSource and the Solutions Group. In the first
quarter of fiscal year 2002, Palm announced its strategy to separate its Palm OS business (PalmSource) and its
device business (the Solutions Group) into two independent companies. We believe the separation of our two
businesses brings greater clarity of mission and focus to each unit and better serves PalmSource’s existing and
future licensees. In December 2002, Palm received a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service that a distribution
of PalmSource stock to Palm stockholders, if it occurs in accordance with the terms of the ruling, will be tax-free
to the Company and its U.S. stockholders. On June 4, 2003, Palm entered into an agreement for a transaction in
which Palm will distribute, on a pro rata basis to its existing stockholders, all of the shares of PalmSource
common stock we own; and immediately following the PalmSource distribution, Palm will acquire Handspring,
Inc. (“Handspring”), and Handspring stockholders will receive Palm common stock in exchange for their
Handspring common stock. In the PalmSource distribution, the 10.0 million shares (as recapitalized via
PalmSource’s one-for-five reverse stock split to take effect prior to the distribution date) of PalmSource common
stock held by Palm will be distributed to existing Palm stockholders on a pro rata basis. The final exchange ratio
for the PalmSource distribution will be determined based on the number of shares of Palm common stock
outstanding at the distribution date. In the Handspring merger, the stockholders of Handspring will receive 0.09
of a share of Palm common stock for each share of Handspring common stock held (an aggregate of
approximately 13.4 million shares of Palm common stock, based on the number of shares of Handspring
common stock outstanding at June 28, 2003, Handspring’s fiscal year end). The closing of the transaction
effecting the PalmSource distribution and the Handspring merger is subject to stockholder approval and other
customary conditions.

Palm’s total revenue has grown from approximately $1 million in fiscal year 1995 to $871.9 million in fiscal
year 2003. Substantially all of Palm’s revenues to date have been generated from sales of its handheld devices
and related add-ons and accessories. As of May 31, 2003, Palm had shipped over 22.3 million Palm Branded
devices and approximately 29.1 million Palm Powered devices have been sold worldwide.

Consistent with our intent to distribute all of the PalmSource stock we own, our summary is organized into
two parts: Solutions Group and PalmSource.
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SOLUTIONS GROUP

Solutions Group Business Summary

The Solutions Group operating segment of Palm develops, markets and sells handheld computing devices,
add-ons and accessories as well as related services and software. We target consumer, enterprise, education and
government users. The Solutions Group currently offers the Tungsten and Zire families of handheld devices as
well as the m130 and m515 handhelds, each of which runs on the Palm OS. Since Palm introduced its first
handheld computer in 1996, it has been the leading handheld device provider in the world, having shipped over
22.3 million handheld devices worldwide as of May 31, 2003.

Solutions Group Strategy

The Solutions Group has three key objectives: grow the market, maintain its market leadership position and
achieve operational excellence.

Grow the Market

A key part of our success is continuing to develop innovative products that address customer needs and
desired functionality. We do this by delivering solutions tailored to specific customer segments, including entry-
level, media savvy, professional and enterprise users. At the entry-level, we deliver our Zire handheld, our most
affordable handheld to date, which sells at a retail price of under $100. The Zire’s mix of price, functionality and
performance has expanded our available market to new users, as demonstrated by our user registration data. We
believe that by making an entry-level product such as the Zire available, we are driving the early adoption of
handheld devices by consumers who would not otherwise own a handheld and increasing the potential for future
upgrade purchases as customers become accustomed to handheld technology and demand additional functionality
in the future.

We believe wireless communications is another area that presents future growth opportunities for us. We
expect that growth in the market for wireless communication devices will come primarily from devices that
combine voice and data transmission capabilities, including smartphones and data centric communicators, also
known as converged devices. These will include integrated wireless devices as well as two-piece wireless
solutions, such as a Bluetooth enabled handheld device that can wirelessly access data through a Bluetooth
enabled phone. The Solutions Group, through our Tungsten line of handheld computers, offers a wide range of
solutions covering the various wireless communications technologies, such as Bluetooth for personal area
networks (“PAN”), WiFi for local area networks (“LAN”) and GSM/GPRS for wide area networks (“WAN”).

We are also pursuing opportunities to grow the market through international expansion, such as in China
and Brazil. International Data Corporation (“IDC”) reports that China is expected to generate a 21% compound
annual growth rate in handheld unit shipments from 2002 through 2007. In April 2003, we opened a sales and
marketing support office in China and launched several products in that market. In June 2003, we entered into a
relationship with a third party to manufacture and sell certain Palm Branded products in Brazil.

Maintain Our Market Leadership Position

The Solutions Group continues to maintain its market leadership position both in the United States and
worldwide. The Solutions Group’s devices held a 57% unit market share in United States Retail for the month of
May 2003, according to the National Purchase Diary (“NPD”) Group, and a 40% unit market share worldwide
for the second calendar quarter of 2003, according to IDC. Our strategy is to maintain our leadership position by
delivering innovative, differentiated products which enhance the user experience and incorporate new
applications. We will continue to foster strategic relationships with companies such as IBM, with which we are
engaged in a strategic relationship to develop and promote mobile solutions jointly leveraging Palm devices and
IBM’s enterprise software, along with both companies’ sales, marketing and service resources.
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Achieve Operational Excellence

The Solution Group’s business necessitates the development of products that ship in high volumes during
rapid product cycles and therefore operational excellence plays a critical role in achieving profitability and
building a sustainable competitive advantage. We have broadly focused the Solutions Group on the objective of
operational excellence. This encompasses initiatives such as improving productivity, reducing product costs and
operating expenses, reducing cycle times within manufacturing and product development and improving forecast
accuracy. Our strategy of operational excellence is aimed at helping us return to consistent annual profitability
and minimizing the working capital required to operate the business.

Solutions Group Products and Services

Our products are differentiated in terms of price, functionality and software applications that are delivered
with the device. Standard software in all of our products includes an address book, date book, clock, to do list,
memo pad, note pad and calculator. Other features that can be found in certain of our products include:

Š wireless communication capabilities, such as Bluetooth, WiFi and GSM/GPRS, to enable messaging,
email and web browsing;

Š multimedia features, allowing users to view photos, watch video clips and listen to MP3 music;

Š an infrared port for beaming information to other users;

Š SD/MMC slot for stamp-sized expansion cards for storage, content and input/output devices such as
Margi Systems Presenter To Go card;

Š data synchronization technology (Hotsync) enabling the device to synchronize with desktop
applications such as Microsoft Outlook; and

Š productivity software, such as DataViz®’s Documents to Go® that allows users to create, view and edit
Microsoft Word and Excel files and view and share PowerPoint presentations.

In Fall 2002, the Solutions Group introduced two new product sub-brands—Zire and Tungsten. The Zire
family is designed for the entry-level and media savvy customers and the Tungsten line is designed for business
professionals and the enterprise customer. With the introduction of these new product families, we have solutions
that span the handheld market and include a wide range of wireless technologies, including Bluetooth, WiFi and
GSM/GPRS. We have leading edge products that include the latest Palm OS (Palm OS 5) running on Texas
Instruments Open Mobile Application Platform (OMAP) and Intel XScale ARM processors, which provide
improved power and speed as compared to non-ARM processors used with older versions of the Palm OS.

The m130 is an entry-level product that features removable faceplates in many different colors, a 16-bit
color display, a SD/MMC slot for expansion and Palm OS 4.

The m515 is aimed at the business professional and features Palm’s slimmest form factor, a color display, a
SD/MMC slot for expansion and Palm OS 4. It also includes business software applications such as DataViz’s
Documents-to-Go that allows users to create, view and edit Microsoft Word and Excel files and view PowerPoint
presentations.

The Zire handheld was introduced in October 2002 and is our first product that had a retail price of under
$100 at launch. The Zire is designed for first-time and entry-level users looking for a paper replacement. We
designed the Zire to be profitable at the sub-$100 price point, and it has been the fastest growing handheld in our
history. The Zire has won numerous awards including PC Magazine’s Best Product of 2002 and was the best
selling product in United States Retail in the fourth calendar quarter of 2002, according to NPD Powerview. The
Zire runs on Palm OS 4.
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The Zire 71 handheld was introduced in April 2003. It includes a new slider design that conceals an
integrated camera, the ability to listen to stereo quality MP3 music and watch video clips using the Kinoma
player, a joystick for navigation, a SD/MMC slot and a new 320x320 transflective Thin Film Transistor (“TFT”)
color display which is the sharpest screen we have ever offered. The Zire 71 is based on Palm OS 5.

The Tungsten T handheld was introduced in October 2002 and includes a new compact form factor with a
slider design that conceals the Graffiti writing area, five-way navigation, a SD/MMC slot, a 320x320 reflective
TFT color display and a voice recorder. The Tungsten T was our first product based on Palm OS 5. In addition,
the Tungsten T has integrated wireless capability using Bluetooth technology, which is a short-range radio
technology facilitating data transfer between compatible Bluetooth devices such as mobile phones, laptops,
printers, access points and other handhelds. Using a compatible Bluetooth enabled mobile phone as a modem, a
user can access the Internet or email wirelessly.

The Tungsten C handheld was introduced in April 2003 and includes integrated WiFi capability, an
integrated keyboard, five-way navigation, a SD/MMC slot, a new 320x320 transflective TFT color display and a
Solutions Group software enhancement that allows 64MB of memory and is based on Palm OS 5. It also includes
virtual private network (“VPN”) software to access behind-the-firewall data and email using Palm’s VersaMail
2.5 email client. This product was designed for the mobile professional in a wireless networked campus, in a
home network or using public hotspots, which allow users broadband wireless Internet access.

The Tungsten W handheld was introduced in February 2003 and includes an integrated keyboard, five-way
navigation, a SD/MMC slot, a 320x320 reflective TFT color display, integrated tri-band GSM/GPRS radio and is
based on Palm OS 4. Tungsten W is a wireless, data-oriented device with messaging, SMS capability and the
ability to make voice calls with up to 10 hours of talk time. Wireless service for the Tungsten W is currently
offered on several networks around the world, including AT&T Wireless in the United States, Rogers AT&T
Wireless in Canada, Vodaphone in Australia and SingTel in Asia. In addition, we are working with Orange
France to provide wireless service in France.

We also sell add-ons and accessories, including portable keyboards, SD/MMC expansion cards for storage
and content, modems and carrying cases. In addition, we provide the ability to purchase and download software
applications via a link from our Palm.com website.

Solutions Group Customers

The Solutions Group sells its products to distributors, retailers, resellers and directly to end-users directly
through its web site at www.palm.com. In fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, Solutions Group’s customers Ingram
Micro represented 18%, 20% and 19% and Tech Data represented 9%, 12% and 9% of consolidated revenues,
respectively. Ingram Micro and Tech Data are distributors of the Solutions Group’s products.

Solutions Group Competition

Competition in the mobile device market is intense and characterized by rapid change and complex
technology. Our devices compete with a variety of mobile devices, including pen- and keyboard-based devices,
mobile phones, converged voice/data devices and sub-notebooks and personal computers. Our principal
competitors include:

Š personal computer companies, such as Acer, and consumer electronics companies, such as Sony, which
also develop and sell handheld computing products running on the Palm OS;

Š personal computer companies, such as Dell, Hewlett-Packard and Toshiba, and consumer electronics
companies, such as Casio and Sharp, which also develop and sell handheld computing products relying
on other operating systems, such as Microsoft’s Pocket PC operating system, Linux or proprietary
operating systems;
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Š Research In Motion Limited (“RIM”), a leading provider of wireless email, instant messaging and
Internet connectivity;

Š mobile handset manufacturers, such as Audiovox, Ericsson, Handspring, HTC Corporation, Kyocera,
LG Motorola, Nextel, Nokia, Samsung, Sanyo and Sony-Ericsson, which also develop and sell wireless
handheld and smartphone products; and

Š a variety of privately held start-up companies looking to compete in our current and future markets,
such as Danger and Good Technology.

We believe the principal competitive factors affecting the market for our handheld devices are functionality,
features, operating system performance, styling, brand, price, availability of third party software applications,
customer and developer support and access to channels of distribution. We believe that we compete more
favorably than many of our current competitors with respect to some or all of these factors, which is reflected by
our greater number of users, our leading market share and strong brand recognition.

The separation of the Solutions Group and PalmSource businesses into two independent companies may
result in more competition for the Solutions Group’s handheld devices as PalmSource may license the Palm OS
to companies who compete directly or indirectly with our Solutions Group’s business. For example, PalmSource
has a license agreement with Sony and has recently signed Palm OS license agreements with HuneTech, Lenovo
(formerly known as Legend) and Group Sense (International) Limited, located in the Asia Pacific region.

Solutions Group Sales and Marketing

We sell to our end-users primarily through distributors, retailers and resellers. We primarily sell products to
enterprise customers through corporate and value added resellers. We also sell directly to end-user customers
through our Palm.com website.

In the United States, retailers represent our largest sales channel and encompass national and regional office
supply stores, computer superstores, consumer electronics retailers and mass merchants. Distributors represent
our second largest United States channel and generally sell to both traditional and Internet retailers and resellers,
including enterprise and education resellers. In Europe and Asia, we sell our products primarily through
distributors. We have over 100 international distributors, located throughout Europe, Latin America, Canada,
Asia, the Middle East and South Africa. These distributors sell primarily to retailers and resellers.

We use our Palm.com store as a vehicle to sell our products and third-party products, focusing particularly
on the installed base of Palm Branded devices. This is accomplished through e-marketing campaigns and product
bundles. We also offer a wide array of software titles on the Software Connection website which is accessed from
the Palm.com store.

We build awareness of our products and brands through mass-media advertising, targeted advertising, public
relations efforts, in-store promotions and merchandising, retail advertising and our branded Internet properties.
We also receive feedback from our end-users and our channel customers through market research. We use this
feedback to refine our product development efforts and for marketing our products.

Solutions Group Customer Service and Support

We believe that customer service and technical support are essential to the sales process within our industry.
Our customer service organization works closely with our entire customer base, including distributors, retailers,
resellers, enterprises, and individual customers, to develop service programs that meet specific customer needs.

Individual customers have access to an Internet-based repository for technical information and
troubleshooting techniques. They can obtain support through other means such as the Palm website, email,
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web chat and telephone support. Our customer support is provided by outsourced service providers as well as
internal personnel.

Solutions Group Research and Development

Our product development efforts are focused on both improving the functionality of our existing products
and developing new products. We believe the innovation and design of our products has played an important role
in our success. We intend to continue to identify and respond to the needs of our existing and potential customers
by introducing new products with an emphasis on innovation in the functionality, mobility, style and ease of use
of our products. We utilize third parties to design, develop and manufacture certain products, (outsource design
and manufacturer, or ODM, partners), after we have completed product definition.

To identify and develop technologies for future generations of Palm Branded devices, we use parallel
development teams to avoid schedule dependencies from one product to the next. These parallel development
teams share results to avoid duplication of effort. As a result, we have a rapid product development cycle that
targets releasing new versions of products approximately every six months and introducing new generation
products approximately every 12 to 18 months, depending on the complexity of the next generation product
release.

Solutions Group Manufacturing and Supply Chain

We currently outsource all of our manufacturing and much of the hardware design of our devices to third
party manufacturers. This outsourcing extends from prototyping to volume manufacturing and includes activities
such as material procurement, final assembly, test, quality control and shipment to distribution centers. We
believe that there is currently an adequate supply of components to manufacture our products. The majority of
our products are assembled in China and Mexico. Distribution centers are operated on an outsourced basis in
Tennessee, Ireland and Hong Kong.

Solutions Group Backlog

We order finished products from third party manufacturers based upon our forecast of worldwide customer
demand and in advance of receiving orders from our customers. Our customers generally place orders on an as
needed basis, and products are shipped as soon as possible after receipt of an order, usually within one to four
weeks. Generally, orders may be cancelled or rescheduled by the customer without penalty.

Solutions Group Seasonality

Our Solutions Group business is generally affected by the seasonal fluctuations of traditional retail sales.
Our Solutions Group revenues are generally sequentially higher in the second quarter of our fiscal year, as
distributors and retailers purchase product in anticipation of the December holiday selling season. The timing of
our new product launches also contributes to seasonal fluctuations in our revenue. We typically introduce new
products in the Fall and in the Spring, which contributes to higher revenue in the second fiscal quarter and the
fourth fiscal quarter, respectively.

Solutions Group Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent, trademark and trade secret laws and restrictions on disclosure to protect
our intellectual property rights.

The United States Patent and Trademark Office has issued approximately 80 patents to us. We have over
250 applications pending in the United States Patent and Trademark Office, and numerous foreign counterpart
applications on file. We own a number of trademarks, including the ZIRE and TUNGSTEN marks, and we have
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applications for registration of these marks pending in the United States and in just over 60 other jurisdictions.
We are working to increase and protect our rights in our patent and trademark portfolios, which is important to
our value, reputation and branding. While our patents are important to our business, our business is not materially
dependent on any one patent.

We believe that the public perception of our brand and trademarks is instrumental to our success. In 2003
and in connection with the separation of PalmSource, Palm established a holding company, Palm Trademark
Holding Company, LLC, to administer the use of trade names, trademarks, service marks and domain names that
contain the word or letter string “palm”. Palm and PalmSource own Palm Trademark Holding Company, LLC for
the purpose of receiving, holding, maintaining, registering, enforcing and defending intellectual property. Subject
to certain restrictions, the Solutions Group has an exclusive license from Palm Trademark Holding Company,
LLC to use the palmOne mark and domain name. In August 2003, Palm announced its intent to change its name
to palmOne following the PalmSource distribution. If our new branding efforts are unsuccessful, our reputation
and business could be harmed. While our trademarks are important to our business, our business is not materially
dependent on any one trademark or group of related trademarks, other than the “Palm” and “palmOne” related
trademarks.

We also license technologies from third parties for integration into our products. We believe that the
licensing of complementary technologies from parties with specific expertise is an effective means of expanding
the features and functionality of our products. We are substantially dependent upon PalmSource to provide us the
operating system software necessary to operate our handheld devices. Without a license to this technology, we
would be required to devote substantial resources to develop our own operating system software or alternatively
acquire a license from another provider of operating system software, such as Microsoft. We cannot assure you
that we would be able to develop our own operating system software, or if required to obtain a license to such
software from a third party, that we could acquire such a license on favorable terms.

While we rely on these methods to protect our intellectual property, we also believe that factors such as the
technological and creative skills of our personnel, new product developments and enhancements are essential to
establishing and maintaining a technology leadership position. We cannot assure you that others will not develop
technologies that are similar or superior to our technology.

Solutions Group Employees

As of June 30, 2003, the Solutions Group had a total of 674 employees, of which 82 were in supply chain,
204 were in engineering, 258 were in sales and marketing and 130 were in general and administrative activities.
None of the Solutions Group’s employees is subject to a collective bargaining agreement. The Solutions Group
considers its relationship with its employees to be good.

PALMSOURCE

PalmSource Business Summary

The PalmSource operating segment of Palm is a leading developer and licensor of platform software that
enables mobile information devices. Our software platform consists of operating system software and software
development tools. We have also extended our platform with applications such as personal information
management software, web browsers and email. We license these products to leading mobile information device
manufacturers, including Garmin, Handspring, Kyocera, Lenovo (formerly known as Legend), Palm Solutions
Group, Samsung and Sony. Historically, the majority of our licensees developed personal digital assistants
(“PDAs”). Palm Powered devices have held the number one PDA market share position as measured in units sold
in each of the past six annual reports prepared by IDC.

A wide range of mobile information devices incorporate our solutions, including PDAs, mobile phones,
location-aware devices, entertainment devices and industry-specific devices used in industries such as education,
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hospitality and healthcare. We are the leader in the PDA market and are now actively extending our product line
into other segments as well. Our primary product offering, Palm OS, provides a flexible platform that enables the
creation of powerful, innovative and easy-to-use mobile information devices. The Palm OS platform has attracted
a large and loyal following, with approximately 29.1 million Palm Powered devices sold as of May 31, 2003.
There are more than 275,000 third-party developers who have registered to use Palm OS developer tools to create
software applications for our platform. According to PalmGear.com, an on-line provider of handheld
applications, there are currently more than 19,000 applications available for Palm Powered devices. To extend
our software platform, we provide professional services and support for our licensees and developers.

PalmSource Strategy

PalmSource’s primary objective is to extend our leadership position as a developer and licensor of a
software platform that enables mobile information devices. There are six key elements to achieve this objective:
extend our success in PDA’s to smartphones and other next generation mobile information devices; increase
market penetration of Palm Powered devices in the enterprise; expand internationally; pursue additional
opportunities in vertical industries; continue to extend our technological advantages and continue to grow and
support the developer community.

Extend Our Success in PDAs to Smartphones and Other Mobile Information Devices

Palm Powered devices have held the number one PDA market share position as measured in units sold in
each of the past six annual reports prepared by IDC. We intend to continue to build on our leadership position
and experience in PDAs to become the leading licensor of a software platform for smartphones and other next
generation mobile information devices. By working in a number of emerging product categories, we intend to
increase our overall market opportunity and reduce our dependence on any given industry.

Increase Market Penetration of Palm Powered Devices in the Enterprise

We intend to facilitate greater adoption of Palm Powered devices by enterprise customers. To increase our
overall presence in the enterprise, we will continue to target market-leading device manufacturers as new
licensees and develop software features attractive to both end-users and the decision makers responsible for the
deployment of mobile information devices throughout the enterprise. For example, the next generation of Palm
OS will feature more enhanced security, integration and performance features that further enable enterprise
solutions. In addition, we will continue to work with leading enterprise solutions, applications and service
providers, such as IBM and Novell, to provide business-critical solutions that enable handheld computing in the
enterprise.

Expand Internationally

Our licensees sell Palm Powered products in approximately 60 countries. We intend to expand our
international presence by targeting countries with large populations and propensities for adopting new
technologies. Accordingly, we have developed a version of Palm OS that supports simplified Chinese character
sets, and we expect licensees to ship in the next few months. We intend to aggressively pursue licensees that are
well positioned to capitalize on these emerging opportunities and encourage our developer community to focus
on providing solutions for these regions.

Pursue Additional Opportunities in Vertical Industries

We believe that Palm OS is particularly well suited to meet the demands of licensees, technology providers
and application developers in a number of vertical industries. For example, Symbol Technologies recently
introduced a Palm Powered industrial device used by rental car companies to remotely process rental car returns,
AlphaSmart recently introduced a Palm Powered word processor and productivity device targeted at the K-12
education market Garmin recently introduced a Palm Powered location-aware device and Tapwave is developing
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next generation game devices based on Palm OS. We will continue to identify new industries that will benefit
from deploying specialized mobile information devices with an operating system that is both intuitive to use and
powerful enough to satisfy end-user requirements without compromising the battery life or size of the device.

Continue to Extend Our Technological Advantages

We believe that the performance and flexibility of our software architecture represent significant
competitive advantages. We plan to continue to invest in our research and development strategy to further these
competitive advantages. Additionally, under our licensing arrangements, we have the right to incorporate broadly
applicable technology advancements that our licensees develop into future versions of our operating system. We
also intend to continue to build upon the technology advances of our licensees to extend our technological
advantage relative to our competitors.

Continue to Grow and Support Our Developer Community

We believe that the Palm Powered ingredient brand has become a symbol for quality, ease of use and
elegant simplicity in the mobile information device industry. This brand identity has enabled us to create a large
and loyal user base worldwide that represents an attractive opportunity for our global developer community. We
intend to continue to invest in the tools, marketing and programs offered to our developers so that we may
continue to offer the widest selection of applications to our licensees and the end-users of Palm Powered
products. As we continue to evolve our platform, we intend to maintain the compatibility, tools and support
necessary for a large number of applications to continue to be available to our users.

PalmSource Products and Services

Palm OS

We license to our customers a product development kit that enables our customers to build a version of
Palm OS specifically for their products. The product development kit includes the operating system and
supporting technology components, such as applications and tools, and reference materials, which are the
foundation for Palm Powered devices manufactured by our licensees. Palm OS has been optimized for mobile
information devices, for which instant access to information, low power consumption and wireless capabilities
are critical. Palm OS consists of several components:

Š a kernel, which is a core of software that resides in memory and performs basic and essential
operations system tasks;

Š software that performs critical functions such as data management, communications, power
management, pen input, graphics and other capabilities;

Š the Palm OS user interface, which enables users to interact with the Palm Powered device in a
consistent, simple and efficient manner using common input methods such as buttons, a stylus, a
keyboard or voice;

Š familiar personal information management applications, including datebook, address book, to-do list,
memo pad, calculator and expense management functions;

Š a collection of application programming interfaces that allow licensees, application developers and
other technology providers to develop solutions for Palm Powered devices;

Š HotSync data synchronization technology, which enables a mobile information device to synchronize
information with personal computers or enterprise databases;

Š Palm desktop software for Windows and Macintosh, which enables users to manage their mobile data
on their desktop computers and synchronizes this data with Palm Powered devices using HotSync; and

Š localized versions of Palm OS for English, French, Italian, Spanish, German, Japanese and Chinese
languages.
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The current version of our operating system, Palm OS 5, is the first version of Palm OS running on
integrated circuits using ARM Holdings PLC’s design for microprocessor architecture, which enables faster
processing speeds and more advanced functionality than prior hardware components. We have designed Palm OS
5 to enable applications that were written for prior versions of our operating system to run on Palm OS 5. The
first products using Palm OS 5 shipped in October 2002.

Applications and Other Products

We offer a number of applications and other products that our licensees can incorporate into Palm Powered
products. These include:

Š Mobile Mail, a mobile email application that incorporates support for Simple Mail Transfer Protocol
(“SMTP”), a protocol for sending email between servers, and Internet Message Access Protocol 4
(“IMAP4”), an emerging Internet email standard, email protocols and is interoperable with Microsoft
Exchange and other messaging servers;

Š Palm OS Web Browser, a proxy-less web browser application that supports many standard industry
protocols for web browsing, including HTML 4.0, Cascading Style Sheets (“CSS”), a web design tool,
Dynamic Hypertext Markup Language (“DHTML”), software authoring language used on the web,
Secure Socket Layer (“SSL”), a technology for authentication and data encryption between a web
server and web browser, and JavaScript Palm Reader, a software application that enables published
content to be read on Palm Powered devices, PocketPC devices and Windows and Macintosh desktop
computers; and

Š Palm eBook Studio, a software application that works with the Palm Reader to enable the publishing
industry, content providers and consumers to download and re-format content for use on handheld
devices.

We released Bluetooth support for Palm OS in Spring 2002. Bluetooth is an industry standard local area
networking technology used to enable devices within a short range of each other to communicate and
interoperate with one another. A common application for this technology with our licensees is to facilitate
wireless communication between a handheld and a separate mobile phone.

PalmSource Competition

Competition in the market for platform software for mobile information devices is intense and characterized
by rapid change and complex technology. We compete primarily with Microsoft and Symbian. Microsoft offers
several operating systems focused on different markets including: Windows CE for sub-PC computers, Windows
Mobile™ 2003 software for Pocket PC handheld devices, Smartphone 2002 and Pocket PC 2002 Phone Edition
for voice enabled handhelds or communication devices. Symbian offers an operating system that is
predominantly being marketed today by Nokia and Sony-Ericsson for smartphones. Symbian has also recently
signed Samsung and Matsushita as licensees. In addition, Research in Motion licenses its “reference platform”
for other companies to design devices based on its software and hardware specifications. Our Palm OS platform
also competes with the proprietary operating systems of other companies, including the proprietary systems of
our potential licensees, as well as alternative operating systems such as Linux and Java for handheld devices.

We believe that the principal competitive factors affecting the market for platform software that runs on
mobile information devices are the architecture of the operating system, technological features and capabilities of
the operating system, number and quality of third-party applications available for use on the operating system,
overall number of end-users, and relative ease of developing compatible applications. We believe that we
compete favorably due to our large and loyal base of customers using Palm Powered products, the architecture of
Palm OS that may be adapted across multiple device platforms in a way that some of our competitors’ products
cannot, large number of third-party developers and software applications available for Palm OS and our brand
recognition.
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PalmSource Customers

The following table sets forth our licensees who are actively shipping or developing Palm Powered products
as of June 30, 2003, the type of device they have developed or are developing incorporating Palm OS and the
target markets for their Palm Powered devices:

Licensee Device Category Target Market

Aceeca Industrial measurement device Vertical industry
AlphaSmart Word processor and productivity

devices with full keyboard and
landscape screen

Educational market, primarily
kindergarten through grade 12

Fossil Branded and private label
wristwatches

Consumer retail

Garmin Handheld GPS devices GPS and location-aware services for
consumer products

Group Sense Limited PDAs and smartphones Asia Pacific region
Handspring PDAs and smartphones Consumer and enterprise
HuneTech Co., Ltd. Two-way messaging devices Consumer and enterprise
Kyocera Smartphones Consumer and enterprise
Lenovo (formerly known as
Legend)

PDAs and smartphones Asia Pacific region

Palm Solutions Group PDAs and communicators Consumer and enterprise
Samsung Smartphones Consumer
Sony PDAs Entertainment management with

enhanced multimedia
Symbol Vertical industry devices Vertical industries, including

hospitality, healthcare,
transportation and retail

Tapwave Game device Entertainment market

For the year ended May 31, 2003, there were no PalmSource customers which represented 10% or more of
Palm’s consolidated revenues. Palm Solutions Group represented 53.5%, 62.0% and 69.6% of PalmSource
revenues in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Sony represented 15.3%, 7.5% and 1.4% of
PalmSource revenues in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Handspring represented 8.7%, 14.3%
and 19.6% of PalmSource revenues in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

PalmSource Sales and Marketing

We license and market our products and services in North America, Europe and the Asia Pacific region,
primarily through our direct sales force and marketing team. Our sales activities are focused on developing
relationships with potential licensees through our direct sales force, which is located in the United States, France,
Hong Kong, Japan and the United Kingdom.

Our direct sales force targets customers who we believe will expand the market for Palm Powered devices.
Our sales cycle typically ranges from three to 12 months depending on the size of the licensee and the
complexity of the solution. In targeting potential licensees, we consider a partner’s brand identity, distribution
channels and technical capabilities. We typically focus on large, well-established device manufacturers like Palm
Solutions Group and Sony, and have recently begun to explore new markets with licensees such as AlphaSmart,
Fossil, Garmin, HuneTech and Tapwave.

Our marketing team promotes our company, our licensees’ products and our developer’s applications
through global marketing and co-marketing programs. These marketing efforts are designed to create demand for
Palm Powered devices and applications, to educate the market and create awareness for the Palm OS value
proposition in key market segments and to re-position and strengthen the Palm Powered ingredient brand
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worldwide. Our licensees are generally required to include the Palm Powered ingredient brand in their mass
media and targeted advertising. In addition, we conduct public relations efforts and market our products at
industry tradeshows and on our website. We also receive extensive feedback from the end-users of Palm Powered
products and the third-party developer community through market research.

PalmSource Customer Service and Support

We provide a variety of support and professional services to our licensees and third-party developers
designed to accelerate the development and proliferation of Palm Powered devices and customized third-party
applications. We provide both direct development support and professional services to our licensees and
professional services to third-party developers.

Our licensee support programs provide three distinct types of maintenance and support: an annual or
subscription-based program that is tied to a specific master Palm OS license agreement, a silicon provider or
Palm OS Ready partner support program and a custom support program. Maintenance updates are included with
the first two programs, but are billed separately when associated with a custom support program. As part of the
maintenance agreement, licensees generally also receive updated versions of the Palm OS software that are
available as part of the Palm OS product development kit. Our licensee support also consists of issue resolution
and post-development support to address issues escalated by our licensees after a product has been shipped by
our licensee.

Licensees may also purchase professional services from us for assistance in the design and development of
their products, custom development of applications or system software and education and training of the licensee
on our platform and tools.

Third-party developers may purchase project-level support from our professional services organization, or
alternatively, may purchase per-incident support from our developer services organization. We also provide
online support, training and development tools for our developer community through our developer support
programs.

PalmSource Research and Development

Our research and product development efforts are focused on enhancing the available features and functions
of the Palm OS product development kit, including improving its capability and efficiency. These enhancements
are intended to reduce time-to-market for our licensees. In addition, we work with licensees and third-party
developers to increase the proliferation of Palm OS-based solutions. We supplement our research and
development efforts with our licensing strategy, which specifies that our licensees contribute their broadly
applicable derivative development works and give us the rights to include these works in our Palm OS platform.
We believe that our success will depend, in part, on our ability to develop and introduce new versions of the
Palm OS platform that continue to address the rapidly expanding needs of the mobile information device market.

PalmSource Seasonality

Our PalmSource business is generally affected by seasonality during our third fiscal quarter, as this is when
PalmSource generally records royalty revenues from its licensees’ December holiday season sales. PalmSource
recognizes revenue when its licensees report sales to PalmSource, which is typically one month to one quarter
after the licensee sells the products. In addition, certain licensees, including Palm Solutions Group, satisfy the
remaining amount of their yearly minimum commitments, if necessary, in our third fiscal quarter. Historically,
these factors have resulted in a substantial increase in revenues for our third fiscal quarter as compared to other
quarters in the fiscal year.
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PalmSource Intellectual Property

We rely on and benefit from a portfolio of intellectual property. We currently have 14 U.S. patents issued
for our technology, and we have 141 U.S. patent applications pending. We do not have any foreign patents issued
or any foreign patent applications pending. Subject to certain restrictions, we have an exclusive license from
Palm Trademark Holding Company, LLC to use “palm” marks, other than palmOne and certain transition marks,
in connection with our business, including various usages of Palm, PalmSource, Palm OS, the Palm logo, Palm
Powered and Palm Computing. Palm Trademark Holding Company, LLC has 25 trademarks registered in the
United States and 213 trademark registrations in other countries. Palm Trademark Holding Company, LLC also
has 19 trademark applications pending in the United States and 258 trademark applications pending in other
countries. We also have 12 trademarks registered in the United States and one trademark application pending in
the United States. We, including through Palm Trademark Holding Company, LLC, are working to increase and
enforce our rights in the PalmSource trademark portfolio, the protection of which is important to our reputation
and branding. We also own copyrights relating to our software development applications including HotSync
Manager, Palm OS and other software.

We also license technologies from third parties for integration into our products. We believe that the
licensing of complementary technologies from parties with specific expertise is an effective means of expanding
the features and functionality of our products.

We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws and restrictions on
disclosure to protect our intellectual property rights. While we rely on these methods to protect our intellectual
property, we also believe that factors such as the technological and creative skills of our personnel, new product
developments and enhancements are essential to establishing and maintaining a technology leadership position.
We cannot assure you that others will not develop technologies that are similar or superior to our technology.

PalmSource Employees

As of June 30, 2003, PalmSource had a total of 308 employees, of which 12 were in support and service,
205 were in engineering and product development, 60 were in sales and marketing and 31 were in finance,
administration and operations. PalmSource’s future performance depends, in significant part, on its ability to
attract new personnel and retain existing personnel in key areas including engineering and sales. None of
PalmSource’s employees is subject to a collective bargaining agreement. PalmSource considers its relationship
with its employees to be good.

PALM, INC.

Financial Information about Segments

Solutions Group revenues totaled $837.6 million, $1,004.4 million and $1,533.2 million in fiscal years 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively. Solutions Group segment loss before income taxes totaled $199.4 million,
$79.9 million and $500.7 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Solutions Group segment loss
before income taxes includes intersegment cost of revenues, which are eliminated in consolidation and totaled
$39.6 million, $42.1 million and $60.2 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Total assets for
the Solutions Group were $496.1 million and $905.2 million in fiscal years 2003 and 2002, respectively.

PalmSource revenues totaled $73.4 million, $69.9 million and $86.4 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively. PalmSource segment loss before income taxes totaled $19.1 million, $26.5 million and
$23.4 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. PalmSource segment loss before income taxes
includes intersegment revenues, which are eliminated in consolidation and totaled $39.1 million, $43.4 million
and $60.3 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Total assets for PalmSource were
$108.3 million and $117.7 million in fiscal years 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Financial Information about Geographic Areas

Palm’s headquarters and most of its operations are located in the United States. Palm conducts its sales,
marketing and customer service activities throughout the world and also has a research and development facility
in France. Geographic revenue information is based on the location of the customer. For fiscal years 2003, 2002
and 2001, no single country outside the United States accounted for 10% or more of total revenues. Total
revenues in the United States totaled $526.8 million, $670.3 million and $966.6 million, and total revenues in
other geographic locations totaled $345.1 million, $360.5 million and $592.7 million for fiscal years 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively. Land not in use, property and equipment, net in the United States totaled $92.6 million,
$206.5 million and $219.6 million, and land not in use, property and equipment, net in other geographic locations
totaled $2.0 million, $5.1 million and $3.9 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Available Information

We make available free of charge through our website, www.palm.com, our annual reports on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and all amendments to those
reports as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”). These reports may also be obtained without charge by contacting Investor
Relations, Palm, Inc., Corporate Headquarters, 400 N. McCarthy Blvd., Milpitas, California 95035, email:
palm.ir@corp.palm.com, phone: 1-408-503-7200. Our Internet website and the information contained therein or
incorporated therein are not intended to be incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, the
public may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth
Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549 or may obtain information by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.
Moreover, the SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other
information regarding reports that we file electronically with them at http://www.sec.gov.

Item 2. Properties

Our Solutions Group currently occupies 153,274 square feet of leased space in Milpitas, California in three
buildings, while PalmSource occupies 88,096 square feet of leased space in one building in Sunnyvale,
California. We also lease research and development facilities in Washington, Illinois, New York, Massachusetts
and Montpellier, France and sales and support offices domestically and internationally. We believe that existing
facilities are adequate for our current needs and we are attempting to sublease excess space in certain locations. If
we require additional space, we believe that we will be able to secure such space on commercially reasonable
terms without undue operational disruption.

Palm also owns approximately 39 acres of land not in use, located in San Jose, California that was originally
acquired with the intent of building our corporate headquarters. In May 2001, with the downturn in the market,
and Palm’s declining revenues, construction plans were terminated. We have no current plans to develop this
land. Given the depressed state of commercial real estate in the San Jose area, we are not actively marketing the
land at the present time.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Palm is a party to lawsuits in the normal course of its business. Litigation in general, and intellectual
property litigation in particular, can be expensive and disruptive to normal business operations. Moreover, the
results of complex legal proceedings are difficult to predict. Palm believes that it has defenses to the cases set
forth below and is vigorously contesting these matters. Palm is not currently able to estimate, with reasonable
certainty, the possible loss, or range of loss, if any, from the cases listed below, but an unfavorable resolution of
these lawsuits could materially adversely affect Palm’s business, results of operations or financial condition.

On April 28, 1997, Xerox Corporation filed suit in the United States District Court for the Western District
of New York. The case came to be captioned Xerox Corporation v. 3Com Corporation, U.S. Robotics
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Corporation, U.S. Robotics Access Corp., and Palm Computing, Inc., Civil Action No. 97-CV-6182T. The
complaint alleged willful infringement of U.S. Patent No. 5,596,656, entitled “Unistrokes for Computerized
Interpretation of Handwriting.” The complaint sought unspecified damages and to permanently enjoin the
defendants from infringing the patent in the future. In 2000, the District Court dismissed the case, ruling that the
patent is not infringed by the Graffiti handwriting recognition system used in handheld computers using Palm’s
operating systems. Xerox appealed the dismissal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit
(“CAFC”). On October 5, 2001, the CAFC affirmed-in-part, reversed-in-part and remanded the case to the
District Court for further proceedings. On December 20, 2001, the District Court granted Xerox’s motion for
summary judgment that the patent is valid, enforceable and infringed. The defendants filed a Notice of Appeal on
December 21, 2001. On February 22, 2002, the court denied a request for an injunction sought by Xerox to
prohibit the manufacture or sale of products using the Graffiti handwriting recognition system. The court also
rejected a request by Xerox to set a trial date to determine damages Xerox claims it is owed. In connection with
the denial of Xerox’s request to set a trial date on damages, the court required Palm to post a $50 million bond,
which was satisfied with a letter of credit from a financial institution. A Notice of Appeal from the District
Court’s order of February 22, 2002 was filed by Palm on March 15, 2002. A cross-appeal from the District
Court’s order of February 22, 2002 was filed by Xerox on March 4, 2002. A hearing on the appeal and cross-
appeal was held on January 6, 2003 before the CAFC. The CAFC has remanded the case to the District Court for
a determination on the issue of invalidity of the ‘656 patent. Xerox petitioned the CAFC for reconsideration of its
determination on the appeal and cross-appeal, but the CAFC has denied this petition and eliminated the
requirement for the $50 million bond from Palm. If Palm is not successful regarding the remand to the District
Court, the CAFC has noted that an injunction will apply. If an injunction is sought by Xerox and issued, it could
result in business interruption for Palm that would have a significant adverse impact on Palm’s operations and
financial condition if Palm has not transitioned to a handwriting recognition system outside the scope of Xerox’s
asserted claims. In addition, if Palm is not successful with regard to this remand to the District Court, Xerox has
stated in its court pleadings that it will seek at a trial, a significant compensatory and punitive damage award or
license fees from Palm. Furthermore, if Palm is not successful with regard to this remand to the District Court,
Palm might be liable to Palm’s licensees and other third parties under contractual obligations or otherwise sustain
adverse financial impact if Xerox seeks to enforce its patents claims against Palm’s licensees and other third
parties. In connection with Palm’s separation from 3Com, pursuant to the terms of the Indemnification and
Insurance Matters Agreement between 3Com and Palm, Palm may be required to indemnify and hold 3Com
harmless for any damages or losses which may arise out of the Xerox litigation.

On February 28, 2000, E-Pass Technologies, Inc. filed suit against “3Com, Inc.” in the United States
District Court for the Southern District of New York and later filed, on March 6, 2000, an amended complaint
against Palm and 3Com. The case is now captioned E-Pass Technologies, Inc. v. 3Com Corporation, a/k/a 3Com,
Inc. and Palm, Inc., Civil Action No. 00 CIV 1523. The amended complaint alleges willful infringement of U.S.
Patent No. 5,276,311, entitled “Method and Device for Simplifying the Use of Credit Cards, or the Like.” The
complaint seeks unspecified compensatory and treble damages and to permanently enjoin the defendants from
infringing the patent in the future. The case was transferred to the United States District Court for the Northern
District of California. In an Order dated August 12, 2002, the Court granted Palm’s motion for summary
judgment that there was no infringement. E-Pass appealed the Court’s decision to the CAFC. The issues on
appeal before the CAFC have been fully briefed and argued by the parties. On August 21, 2003, the CAFC issued
a ruling reversing the claim construction of the District Court and the attendant summary judgment motion and
remanded the case to the District Court for further proceedings. In connection with Palm’s separation from
3Com, pursuant to the terms of the Indemnification and Insurance Matters Agreement between 3Com and Palm,
Palm may be required to indemnify and hold 3Com harmless for any damages or losses which may arise out of
the E-Pass litigation.

On March 14, 2001, NCR Corporation filed suit against Palm and Handspring, Inc. in the United States
District Court for the District of Delaware. The case is captioned NCR Corporation v. Palm, Inc. and
Handspring, Inc., Civil Action No. 01-169. The complaint alleges infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 4,634,845
and 4,689,478, entitled, respectively, “Portable Personal Terminal for Use in a System for Handling
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Transactions” and “System for Handling Transactions Including a Portable Personal Terminal.” The complaint
seeks unspecified compensatory and treble damages and to permanently enjoin the defendants from infringing
the patents in the future. The case was referred to Magistrate Judge Mary P. Thynge. In a Memorandum Opinion
dated July 11, 2002, the Magistrate Judge indicated that she would recommend that the District Court grant the
defendants’ motion for summary judgment that there was no infringement. NCR filed objections to the
recommendations of the Magistrate Judge, and Palm has filed a response to NCR’s objections. On August 28,
2003, the District Court granted Palm’s motion for summary judgment, ruling that Palm products do not infringe
the NCR patents, and denied NCR’s motion.

On January 23, 2003, Peer-to-Peer Systems LLC filed a complaint against Palm in the United States District
Court for the District of Delaware. The case is captioned Peer-to-Peer Systems, LLC vs. Palm, Inc., Civil Action
No. 03-115. The complaint alleges infringement of U.S. Patent No. 5,618,045 entitled “Interactive Multiple
Player Game System and Method of Playing a Game Between at Least Two Players”. The complaint seeks
unspecified compensatory and treble damages and to permanently enjoin the defendant from infringing the patent
in the future. Palm believes that the claims are without merit and intends to defend against them vigorously. The
parties have begun the discovery process.

In June 2001, the first of several putative stockholder class action lawsuits was filed in United States District
Court, Southern District of New York against certain of the underwriters for Palm’s initial public offering, Palm and
several of its officers. The complaints, which have been consolidated under the caption In re Palm, Inc. Initial
Public Offering Securities Litigation, Case No. 01 CV 5613, assert that the prospectus from Palm’s March 2, 2000
initial public offering failed to disclose certain alleged actions by the underwriters for the offering. The complaints
allege claims against Palm and the officers under Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
Certain of the complaints also allege claims under Section 10(b) and Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended. Other actions have been filed making similar allegations regarding the initial public offerings
of more than 300 other companies. All of these various consolidated cases have been coordinated for pretrial
purposes as In re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation, Civil Action No. 21-MC-92. An amended
consolidated complaint was filed in April 2002. The claims against the individual defendants have been dismissed
without prejudice pursuant to an agreement with plaintiffs. The Court has denied Palm’s motion to dismiss. A
special committee of Palm’s Board of Directors recently approved a tentative settlement proposal from plaintiffs,
which includes a guaranteed recovery to be paid by the issuer defendants’ insurance carriers and an assignment of
certain claims the issuers, including Palm, may have against the underwriters. There is no guarantee that the
settlement will become final however, as it is subject to a number of conditions, including court approval. Palm
believes that it has meritorious defenses to the claims against it and intends to defend the action vigorously if the
case does not settle.

On August 7, 2001, a purported consumer class action lawsuit was filed against Palm and 3Com in
California Superior Court, San Francisco County. The case is captioned Connelly et al v. Palm, Inc., 3 Com Corp
et al, Case No. 323587. An amended complaint alleging breach of warranty and violation of California’s Unfair
Competition Law was filed and served on Palm on August 15, 2001. The amended complaint, filed on behalf of
purchasers of Palm III, IIIc, V and Vx handhelds, alleges that certain Palm handhelds may cause damage to PC
motherboards by permitting an electrical charge, or “floating voltage,” from either the handheld or the cradle to
be introduced into the PC via the serial and/or USB port on the PC. The plaintiffs allege that this damage is the
result of a design defect in one or more of the following: HotSync software, handheld, cradle and/or the
connection cable. The complaint seeks restitution, rescission, damages, an injunction mandating corrective
measures to protect against future damage as well as notifying users of potential harm. Discovery is closed. The
parties engaged in mediation and have reached an agreement in principle to settle the action, subject to
acceptable documentation and court approval. In connection with Palm’s separation from 3Com, pursuant to the
terms of the Indemnification and Insurance Matters Agreement between 3Com and Palm, Palm may be required
to indemnify and hold 3Com harmless for any damages or losses which may arise out of the Connelly litigation.
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On January 23, 2002, a purported consumer class action lawsuit was filed against Palm in California
Superior Court, San Francisco County. The case is captioned Eley et al v. Palm, Inc., Case No. 403768. The
unverified complaint, filed on behalf of purchasers of Palm m500 and m505 handhelds, alleges (1) that the
HotSync function in certain Palm handhelds does not perform as advertised and the products are therefore
defective and (2) that upon learning of the problem, Palm did not perform proper corrective measures for
individual customers as set forth in the product warranty. The complaint alleges Palm’s actions are a violation of
California’s Unfair Competition Law and a breach of express warranty. The complaint seeks alternative relief
including an injunction to have Palm desist from selling and advertising the handhelds, to recall the defective
handhelds, to restore the units to their advertised functionality, to pay restitution or disgorgement of the purchase
price of the units and/or damages and attorneys’ fees. Palm filed its answer denying the allegations and the
parties engaged in document and deposition discovery. Plaintiff and Palm engaged in mediation and have
reached an agreement in principle to settle the action, subject to acceptable documentation and court approval.
No trial date has been set.

On March 11, 2002, a purported consumer class action lawsuit was filed against Palm in the Wayne County
Circuit Court, Detroit, Michigan. The case is captioned Hayman, et al. v Palm, Inc., Case No. 02-208249-CP.
Plaintiffs allege that certain of Palm’s advertisements for its Palm III, V and m100 handheld devices were false
or misleading regarding the ability of the device to wirelessly and remotely access emails or the Internet without
the need for additional hardware or software sold separately. Plaintiffs allege violations of the Michigan
Consumer Protection Act, breach of express and implied warranties and Michigan common law, and seek to
recover the purchase price of the device from Palm for themselves and a class of all similarly situated consumers.
Palm has filed a motion to dismiss the lawsuit in its entirety. The Court has heard arguments on that motion, and
it has advised that it would rule on Palm’s motion to dismiss before considering the suitability of this lawsuit for
class treatment.

In October 2002, a purported consumer class action lawsuit was filed against Palm in Illinois Circuit Court,
Cook County. The case is captioned Goldstein v. Palm, Inc., Case No. 02CH19678. The case alleges consumer
fraud regarding Palm’s representations that its m100, III, V and VII handheld personal digital assistant, as sold,
would provide wireless access to the Internet and email accounts, and would perform common business functions
including database management, custom form creation and viewing Microsoft Word and Excel documents,
among other tasks. The case seeks unspecified actual damages and indemnification of certain costs. Palm
responded to the complaint and the case is in its early stages. No trial date has been set.

In August and September 2002, four purported consumer class action lawsuits were filed against Palm in
California Superior Court, Santa Clara County; California Superior Court, San Diego County; Illinois Circuit
Court, Cook County; and Illinois Circuit Court, St. Clair County. The respective cases are captioned Lipner and
Ouyang v. Palm, Inc., Case No. CV-810533; Veltman v. Palm, Inc., Case No. 02CH16143; Wireless Consumer’s
Alliance, Inc. v. Palm, Inc., Case No. GIC-794940; and Cokenour v. Palm, Inc., Case No. 02L0592. All four
cases allege consumer fraud regarding Palm’s representations that its m130 handheld personal digital assistant
supported more than 65,000 colors. Certain of the cases also allege breach of express warranty and unfair
competition. In general, the cases seek unspecified damages and/or to enjoin Palm from continuing it’s allegedly
misleading advertising. The parties have tentatively agreed to a settlement in principle, subject to acceptable
documentation and court approval.

On February 27, 2003, a purported consumer class action lawsuit was filed against Palm in California
Superior Court, Santa Clara County. The case is captioned Hemmingsen et al v. Palm, Inc., Case No. CV815074.
The unverified complaint, filed on behalf of purchasers of Palm m515 handhelds, alleges that such handhelds fail
at unacceptably high rates, and in particular that instant updating and synchronization of data with PCs often will
not occur. The complaint further alleges that, upon learning of the problem, Palm did not perform proper
corrective measures for individual customers as set forth in the product warranty, among other things. The
complaint alleges that Palm’s actions violate California’s Unfair Competition Law and constitute a breach of
warranty. The complaint seeks restitution, disgorgement, damages, an injunction mandating corrective measures
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including a full replacement program for all allegedly defective m515s or, alternatively mandating a refund to all
purported class members of the full purchase price for their m515s, and attorneys’ fees. The parties have begun
the discovery process.

On or about June 17 and 19, 2003, respectively, two putative class action lawsuits were filed in the Court of
Chancery in the State of Delaware in and for the County of New Castle against Palm, Handspring and various
officers and directors of Handspring. The cases are captioned Goldhirsch v. Handspring, Inc., et. al., Civil Action
No. 20376-NC and Majarian v. Handspring, Inc., et. al., Civil Action No. 20381-NC. The Majarian complaint
was amended on or about June 23, 2003 to, among other things, delete certain previously named officer
defendants. Both complaints allege that the officers and directors of Handspring breached their fiduciary duties to
Handspring stockholders by, among other things, failing to undertake an appropriate evaluation of Handspring’s
net worth as a merger or acquisition candidate and failing to maximize Handspring stockholder value by not
engaging in a meaningful auction of Handspring. The Majarian complaint also alleges, among other things, that
the officers and directors of Handspring breached their fiduciary duties by failing to act independently so that the
interests of Handspring’s public stockholders would be protected and enhanced. Both complaints allege that Palm
aided and abetted the alleged breaches of fiduciary duty of Handspring’s officers and directors. Both complaints
seek, among other things, a prelimiary and permanent injunction against the transaction, a recission of the
transaction if it is consummated and unspecified damages. The Goldhirsch complaint also requests, among other
things, that the Court order Handspring’s officers and directors to take all necessary steps to maximize
stockholder value, including open bidding and/or a market check. Palm believes that the lawsuits are without
merit and intends to vigorously defend the cases.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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Part II

Item 5. Market for Common Stock and Related Stockholder Matters

Our common stock has traded on the Nasdaq stock market under the symbol PALM since our initial public
offering on March 2, 2000. The following table sets forth the high and low closing sales prices as reported on the
Nasdaq stock market for the periods indicated, as adjusted for Palm’s one for twenty reverse stock split effective
October 15, 2002.

High Low High Low

Fiscal Year 2003 Fiscal Year 2002
Fourth quarter . . . . . . . . . . . $12.07 $ 9.08 Fourth quarter . . . . . . . $ 79.80 $31.80
Third quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . $19.29 $11.60 Third quarter . . . . . . . . $ 93.20 $57.60
Second quarter . . . . . . . . . . $18.06 $10.33 Second quarter . . . . . . $ 77.40 $29.00
First quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . $35.20 $13.20 First quarter . . . . . . . . . $125.20 $71.60

As of July 25, 2003, we had approximately 8,412 registered stockholders of record. Other than the
$150 million cash dividend paid to 3Com in March 2000 out of the proceeds from our initial public offering,
Palm has not paid and does not anticipate paying cash dividends in the future.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data for each of the five years in the period ended May 31,
2003 have been derived from our audited financial statements. Certain prior year balances have been reclassified
to conform to the current year presentation. The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of
results of future operations and should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and notes to those
statements included in Items 7 and 8 of Part II of this Form 10-K. Palm’s fiscal year ends on the Friday nearest to
May 31. For presentation purposes, the periods have been presented as ending on May 31.

Years ended May 31,

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

(in thousands, except per share data)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 871,946 $1,030,831 $1,559,312 $1,057,597 $563,525
Cost of revenues* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 596,493 649,987 1,333,943 613,628 315,945
Operating income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (215,455) (108,843) (566,072) 61,449 48,339
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (442,582) (82,168) (356,476) 45,910 29,628
Net income (loss) per share:

Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (15.23) $ (2.87) $ (12.59) $ 1.70 $ 1.11
Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (15.23) (2.87) (12.59) 1.70 1.11

Shares used in computing per share amounts:
Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29,069 28,640 28,307 26,987 26,600
Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29,069 28,640 28,307 26,993 26,600

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 242,432 $ 278,547 $ 513,769 $1,062,128 $ 478
Short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 17,970 — — —
Working capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 133,677 245,181 350,668 1,012,476 12,682
Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 576,626 989,096 1,297,251 1,282,676 152,247
Payable to 3Com Corporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — 18,374 40,509
Long-term convertible debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50,000 50,000 — — —
Minority interest in a consolidated
subsidiary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000 — — — —

Total stockholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 255,786 690,848 734,152 1,029,188 34,018

* Cost of revenues includes ‘Cost of revenues’, ‘Cost of revenues—charge (benefit) for special excess
inventory and related costs’ and the applicable portion of ‘Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets’.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our
consolidated financial statements and notes to those statements included in Item 8 of Part II of this Form 10-K. Our
52-53 week fiscal year ends on the Friday nearest to May 31. Fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001 contained 52 weeks.
For presentation purposes, the fiscal years have been presented as ending on May 31. Unless otherwise stated, all
years and dates refer to our fiscal years and fiscal periods.

Overview

Palm, Inc. is the leading global provider of handheld computing devices and operating systems for handheld
devices. For purposes of this report, we refer to the devices designed and sold by Palm as Palm Branded devices,
and we refer to devices running on the Palm OS as Palm Powered devices. Palm Powered devices include Palm
Branded devices as well as devices designed and sold by third parties licensing the Palm OS.

Palm was founded in 1992 as Palm Computing, Inc. In 1995, it was acquired by U.S. Robotics Corporation
and sold its first handheld product in 1996, quickly establishing a leadership role in the handheld device industry.
In 1997, 3Com Corporation acquired U.S. Robotics, and in 1999, 3Com announced the intent to separate the
Palm business into an independent company. In preparation for becoming an independent, publicly traded
company, Palm Computing, Inc. changed its name to Palm, Inc. and was reincorporated in Delaware in
December 1999. In March 2000, approximately 6% of the shares of Palm common stock were sold in an initial
public offering and concurrent private placements, and in July 2000, 3Com distributed the remaining shares of
Palm common stock it owned, approximately 94% of Palm’s common stock then outstanding, to 3Com’s
stockholders. In December 2001, Palm formed PalmSource, Inc., a stand-alone subsidiary for its operating
system business, and subsequently announced its intent to establish PalmSource as an independent, publicly
traded company.

Palm is organized into two operating segments—PalmSource and the Solutions Group. In the first quarter of
fiscal year 2002, Palm announced its strategy to separate its Palm OS business (PalmSource) and its device
business (the Solutions Group) into two independent companies. We believe the separation of our two businesses
brings greater clarity of mission and focus to each unit and better serves our existing and future licensees. In
December 2002, Palm received a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service that a distribution of PalmSource
stock to Palm stockholders, if it occurs in accordance with the terms of the ruling, will be tax-free to the
Company and its U.S. stockholders. On June 4, 2003, Palm entered into an agreement for a transaction in which
Palm will distribute, on a pro rata basis to its existing stockholders, all of the shares of PalmSource common
stock we own; and immediately following the PalmSource distribution, Palm will acquire Handspring, and
Handspring stockholders will receive Palm common stock in exchange for their Handspring common stock. In
the PalmSource distribution, the 10.0 million shares (as recapitalized via PalmSource’s one-for-five reverse stock
split to take effect prior to the distribution date) of PalmSource common stock held by Palm will be distributed to
existing Palm stockholders on a pro rata basis. The final exchange ratio for the PalmSource distribution will be
determined based on the number of shares of Palm common stock outstanding at the distribution date. In the
Handspring merger, the stockholders of Handspring will receive 0.09 of a share of Palm common stock for each
share of Handspring common stock held (an aggregate of approximately 13.4 million shares of Palm common
stock, based on the number of shares of Handspring common stock outstanding at June 28, 2003, Handspring’s
fiscal year end). The closing of the transaction effecting the PalmSource distribution and the Handspring merger
is subject to stockholder approval and other customary conditions.

Palm’s total revenue has grown from approximately $1 million in fiscal year 1995 to $871.9 million in fiscal
year 2003. Substantially all of Palm’s revenues to date have been generated from sales of its handheld devices
and related add-ons and accessories. As of May 31, 2003, Palm had shipped over 22.3 million Palm Branded
devices and approximately 29.1 million Palm Powered devices have been sold worldwide.
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Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make judgments, assumptions and
estimates that affect the amounts reported in Palm’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe
are reasonable under the circumstances. However, future events are subject to change and the best estimates and
judgments routinely require adjustment. The amounts of assets and liabilities reported in our balance sheets and
the amounts of revenues and expenses reported for each of our fiscal periods are affected by estimates and
assumptions which are used for, but not limited to, the accounting for rebates, price protection, product returns,
allowance for doubtful accounts, warranty and technical service costs, goodwill and intangible asset impairments,
restructurings, inventory and income taxes. Actual results could differ from these estimates. The following
critical accounting policies are significantly affected by judgments, assumptions and estimates used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue is recognized when earned in accordance with applicable accounting standards, including AICPA
Statement of Position (“SOP”) No. 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as amended. We recognize revenues
from sales of handheld device products upon shipment, net of estimated returns, provided that collection is
determined to be probable and no significant obligations remain. Sales to resellers are subject to agreements
allowing for limited rights of return, rebates and price protection. Accordingly, we reduce revenues for our
estimates of liabilities related to these rights at the time the related sale is recorded. The estimates for returns are
adjusted periodically based upon historical rates of returns, inventory levels in the channel and other related
factors. The estimates and reserves for rebates and price protection are based on specific programs, expected
usage and historical experience. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Within PalmSource, revenue from software license agreements with manufacturers of handheld devices is
generally recognized on a per-unit or volume royalty basis, and any prepaid royalties received under the license
agreements are generally deferred and recognized on a per-unit or net sales basis in the period information is
reported by licensees, generally the month or quarter subsequent to the period of sale by the licensee. Upfront
license fees from subscription license arrangements are generally recognized ratably over the term of the
subscription period. Post contract support revenue consists primarily of fees for providing unspecified software
updates when and if available and technical support for software products to licensees. Post contract support
revenue is deferred and recognized ratably over the term of the agreement.

Within the Solutions Group, revenue from software license agreements with end-users is recognized upon
delivery of the software, provided that persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, collection is determined to
be probable and no significant obligations remain. Deferred revenue is recorded for post contract support and any
other future deliverables, and is recognized over the support period or as the elements of the agreement are
delivered.

Vendor specific objective evidence of the fair value of the elements contained in these software license
agreements is based on the price determined by management having the relevant authority when the element is
not yet sold separately, but is expected to be sold in the marketplace within six months of the initial
determination of the price by management.

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on our assessment of the collectibility of specific customer
accounts and an assessment of international, political and economic risk as well as the aging of the accounts
receivable. If there is a change in a major customer’s credit worthiness or actual defaults differ from our
historical experience, our estimates of recoverability of amounts due us could be affected.

We accrue for warranty costs based on historical rates of usage as a percentage of shipment levels and the
expected repair cost per unit, service policies and specific known issues. If we experience claims or significant
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changes in costs of services, such as third party vendor charges, materials or freight, which could be higher or
lower than our historical experience, our cost of revenues could be affected.

Long-lived assets such as land not in use, property and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not ultimately be
recoverable. Determination of recoverability is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting
from the use of the asset and its ultimate disposition.

We evaluate the recoverability of goodwill annually or more frequently if impairment indicators arise, as
required under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment by applying a fair-value-based test at the reporting unit level, which
is the same as the business segment level. A goodwill impairment loss is recorded for any goodwill that is
determined to be impaired. Under SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, intangible
assets are evaluated whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset
may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognized for an intangible asset to the extent that the asset’s carrying
value exceeds its fair value, which is determined based upon the estimated future cash flows expected to result
from the use of the asset, including disposition. Cash flow estimates used in evaluating for impairment represent
management’s best estimates using appropriate assumptions and projections at the time.

Effective for calendar year 2003, in accordance with SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with
Exit or Disposal Activities, which supersedes Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 94-3, Liability
Recognition for Costs to Exit an Activity (Including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring), we record
liabilities for costs associated with exit or disposal activities when the liability is incurred instead of at the date of
commitment to an exit or disposal activity. Prior to calendar year 2003, in accordance with EITF Issue No. 94-3,
we accrued for restructuring costs when we made a commitment to a firm exit plan that specifically identified all
significant actions to be taken. We record initial restructuring charges based on assumptions and related estimates
that we deem appropriate for the economic environment at the time these estimates are made. We reassess
restructuring accruals on a quarterly basis to reflect changes in the costs of the restructuring activities, and we
record new restructuring accruals as liabilities are incurred.

Inventory purchases and purchase commitments are based upon forecasts of future demand. We value our
inventory at the lower of standard cost (which approximates first-in, first-out cost) or market. If we believe that
demand no longer allows us to sell our inventory above cost or at all, then we write down that inventory to
market or write-off excess inventory levels. If customer demand subsequently differs from our forecasts,
requirements for inventory write-offs could differ from our estimates.

Our deferred tax assets represent net operating loss carryforwards and temporary differences that will result
in deductible amounts in future years if we have taxable income. A valuation allowance reduces deferred tax
assets to estimated realizable value, based on estimates and certain tax planning strategies. The carrying value of
our net deferred tax assets assumes that it is more likely than not that we will be able to generate sufficient future
taxable income in certain tax jurisdictions to realize the net carrying value. If these estimates and related
assumptions change in the future, we may be required to increase our valuation allowance against the deferred
tax assets resulting in additional income tax expense.

Our key accounting estimates and policies are reviewed with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.
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Results of Operations

Palm’s fiscal year ends on the Friday nearest to May 31. For presentation purposes, the periods have been
presented as ending on May 31. Our Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is organized into three
sections: consolidated Palm, and our two segments, Solutions Group and PalmSource, as described in “Business”
in Item 1 of Part I of this Form 10-K.

The business segment information included in this MD&A has been prepared in accordance with SFAS
No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, and is based upon the financial
information used by management for assessing segment performance. The accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as for the Company as a whole, except that for segment reporting purposes, PalmSource
recognizes intersegment revenues from the Solutions Group based on information reported by the Solutions
Group in the month subsequent to the period of sale by the Solutions Group of a Palm OS device, in accordance
with the Palm OS license agreement between PalmSource and the Solutions Group. The license agreement
between Solutions Group and PalmSource became effective December 3, 2001 when PalmSource was
established as a separate legal entity. For periods prior to December 3, 2001, business segment information
includes imputed royalties as revenues for PalmSource and cost of revenues for Solutions Group. These imputed
royalties would not be reported as revenues of PalmSource or as cost of revenues of Solutions Group under
generally accepted accounting principles in the separate financial statements of the respective entities.
Intersegment revenues and expenses between Solutions Group and PalmSource are eliminated in consolidation.
For management reporting purposes, the Company does not allocate income tax provision (benefit) to the
operating segments.

The following tables set forth consolidating statement of operations data which is also expressed as a
percentage of revenues for the respective segment and fiscal years as indicated:

Year ended May 31, 2003

Solutions Group PalmSource Eliminations Total Palm

(dollars in thousands)
Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 837,637 100.0% $ 73,414 100.0% $(39,105) $ 871,946 100.0%
Costs and operating expenses:
Cost of revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 625,245 74.6 5,719 7.8 (39,635) 591,329 67.8
Cost of revenues—charge (benefit) for special
excess inventory and related costs . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — —

Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 160,705 19.2 17,272 23.5 (74) 177,903 20.4
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 70,927 8.5 40,101 54.6 (417) 110,611 12.7
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,725 4.5 12,374 16.9 80 50,179 5.8
Amortization of goodwill and intangible
assets (*) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,127 0.1 4,942 6.7 — 6,069 0.7

Separation costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,258 0.5 5,024 6.9 — 9,282 1.1
Impairment charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 102,540 12.3 — — — 102,540 11.7
Restructuring charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,504 4.5 1,984 2.7 — 39,488 4.5
Purchased in-process technology . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — —

Total costs and operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . 1,040,031 124.2 87,416 119.1 (40,046) 1,087,401 124.7

Operating loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (202,394) (24.2) (14,002) (19.1) 941 (215,455) (24.7)
Interest and other income (expense), net . . . . . . . . . 3,005 0.4 (5,134) (7.0) — (2,129) (0.3)

Loss before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (199,389) (23.8)% $(19,136) (26.1)% $ 941 $ (217,584) (25.0)%

(*) Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets:
Cost of revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 634 0.1% $ 4,530 6.2% $ — $ 5,164 0.6%
Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — —
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 493 — 282 0.3 — 775 0.1
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 130 0.2 — 130 —

Total amortization of goodwill and intangible
assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,127 0.1% $ 4,942 6.7% $ — $ 6,069 0.7%
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Year ended May 31, 2002

Solutions Group PalmSource Eliminations Total Palm

(dollars in thousands)
Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,004,388 100.0% $ 69,883 100.0% $(43,440) $1,030,831 100.0%
Costs and operating expenses:
Cost of revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 782,709 77.9 4,931 7.1 (42,115) 745,525 72.3
Cost of revenues—charge (benefit) for
special excess inventory and related
costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (101,844) (10.1) — — — (101,844) (9.9)

Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 217,998 21.7 19,309 27.6 (82) 237,225 23.0
Research and development . . . . . . . . . 91,539 9.1 50,033 71.6 126 141,698 13.8
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . 43,598 4.3 12,779 18.3 67 56,444 5.5
Amortization of goodwill and
intangible assets (*) . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,548 0.7 5,983 8.6 — 12,531 1.2

Separation costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,023 0.1 519 0.7 — 1,542 0.2
Impairment charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — —
Restructuring charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44,357 4.4 2,196 3.1 — 46,553 4.5
Purchased in-process technology . . . . — — — — — — —

Total costs and operating
expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,085,928 108.1 95,750 137.0 (42,004) 1,139,674 110.6

Operating loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (81,540) (8.1) (25,867) (37.0) (1,436) (108,843) (10.6)
Interest and other income (expense),
net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,615 0.2 (677) (1.0) — 938 0.1

Loss before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (79,925) (7.9)% $(26,544) (38.0)% $ (1,436) $ (107,905) (10.5)%

(*) Amortization of goodwill and
intangible assets:
Cost of revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 634 0.1% $ 5,672 8.1% $ — $ 6,306 0.6%
Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 11 — — 11 —
Research and development . . . . . . . . . 5,914 0.6 223 0.4 — 6,137 0.6
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . — — 77 0.1 — 77 —

Total amortization of goodwill and
intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6,548 0.7% $ 5,983 8.6% $ — $ 12,531 1.2%
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Year ended May 31, 2001

Solutions Group PalmSource Eliminations Total Palm

(dollars in thousands)
Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,533,171 100.0% $ 86,432 100.0% $(60,291) $1,559,312 100.0%
Costs and operating expenses:
Cost of revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,118,490 73.0 2,580 3.0 (60,192) 1,060,878 68.0
Cost of revenues—charge (benefit)
for special excess inventory and
related costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 268,930 17.5 — — — 268,930 17.2

Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 311,686 20.3 25,589 29.6 — 337,275 21.6
Research and development . . . . . . . . . 103,559 6.7 55,491 64.2 — 159,050 10.3
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . 74,987 4.9 12,855 14.9 — 87,842 5.6
Amortization of goodwill and
intangible assets (*) . . . . . . . . . . . . 27,907 1.8 9,414 10.9 — 37,321 2.4

Separation costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,007 0.3 1,461 1.7 — 5,468 0.4
Impairment charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 106,669 7.0 — — — 106,669 6.8
Restructuring charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . 58,662 3.8 2,226 2.6 — 60,888 3.9
Purchased in-process technology . . . . 853 0.1 210 0.2 — 1,063 0.1

Total costs and operating
expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,075,750 135.4 109,826 127.1 (60,192) 2,125,384 136.3

Operating loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (542,579) (35.4) (23,394) (27.1) (99) (566,072) (36.3)
Interest and other income (expense),
net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41,870 2.7 11 0.0 — 41,881 2.6

Loss before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (500,709) (32.7)% $ (23,383) (27.1)% $ (99) $ (524,191) (33.7)%

(*) Amortization of goodwill and
intangible assets:
Cost of revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,266 0.1% $ 2,869 3.3% $ — $ 4,135 0.3%
Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 529 0.6 — 529 —
Research and development . . . . . . . . . 26,641 1.7 5,968 6.9 — 32,609 2.1
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . — — 48 0.1 — 48 —

Total amortization of goodwill and
intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 27,907 1.8% $ 9,414 10.9% $ — $ 37,321 2.4%

28



The following is a discussion and analysis of the consolidated statement of operations data of Palm. Further
discussion and analysis of the statement of operations data by our Solutions Group and PalmSource segments is
provided later in this MD&A.

Comparison of fiscal years ended May 31, 2003 and 2002

Revenues

We derive our revenues primarily from sales of our handheld computing devices, add-ons and accessories
by the Solutions Group, and licensing of the Palm OS by PalmSource. Revenues for fiscal year 2003 were
$871.9 million, a decrease of $158.9 million or approximately 15% from revenues for fiscal year 2002. The
decrease consists of a $166.8 million decrease in Solutions Group revenues offset by a $7.9 million increase in
PalmSource revenues from third party customers. The decrease in the Solutions Group revenue was primarily
driven by a decline in unit shipments reflecting a continued weak economy in both the consumer and enterprise
segments and a decline in the average selling price of our handheld devices reflective of a price sensitive and
increasingly competitive market. The increase in PalmSource revenue from third party customers was primarily
due to increased royalties received from Sony and from new license agreements. See Solutions Group and
PalmSource MD&A sections for further analysis.

Total Cost of Revenues

‘Total cost of revenues’ is comprised of ‘Cost of revenues’, ‘Cost of revenues—charge (benefit) for special
excess inventory and related costs’ and the applicable portion of ‘Amortization of goodwill and intangible
assets’. ‘Total cost of revenues’ was $596.5 million in fiscal year 2003, a decrease of $53.5 million or
approximately 8% from ‘Total cost of revenues’ in fiscal year 2002. This decrease consists of a $53.1 million
decrease in Solutions Group ‘Total cost of revenues’ exclusive of intersegment royalty expenses and a
$0.4 million decrease in PalmSource ‘Total cost of revenues’ for fiscal year 2003 compared to fiscal year 2002.
‘Total cost of revenues’ as a percentage of revenues was 68.4% in fiscal year 2003 compared to 63.0% in fiscal
year 2002. This 5.4% increase in ‘Total cost of revenues’ as a percentage of revenues primarily reflects a benefit
for special excess inventory and related costs realized in fiscal year 2002 of 9.9% of revenues, partially offset by
improved component and product transformation costs, reduced excess and obsolete costs and lower product
warranty expenses. See Solutions Group and PalmSource MD&A sections for further analysis.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist principally of advertising and marketing programs, salaries and
benefits for sales and marketing personnel, sales commissions, travel expenses and related information
technology and facilities costs. Sales and marketing expenses were $177.9 million in fiscal year 2003, a decrease
of $59.3 million or approximately 25% from sales and marketing expenses in fiscal year 2002. This decrease
consists of a $57.3 million decrease in Solutions Group sales and marketing expenses and a $2.0 million decrease
in PalmSource sales and marketing expenses for fiscal year 2003 compared to fiscal year 2002. Sales and
marketing expenses as a percentage of revenues were 20.4% in fiscal year 2003 compared to 23.0% in fiscal year
2002. The reduction in our consolidated sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to cost cutting efforts to
better align our spending with current revenue levels. See Solutions Group and PalmSource MD&A sections for
further analysis.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist principally of employee related costs, third party development
costs, program materials, depreciation and related information technology and facilities costs. Research and
development expenses were $110.6 million in fiscal year 2003, a decrease of $31.1 million or approximately
22% from research and development expenses in fiscal year 2002. This decrease consists of a $20.6 million
decrease in Solutions Group research and development expenses and a $10.5 million decrease in PalmSource

29



research and development expenses for fiscal year 2003 compared to fiscal year 2002. Research and development
expenses as a percentage of revenues were 12.7% in fiscal year 2003 compared to 13.8% in fiscal year 2002. The
reduction in our consolidated research and development expenses was primarily due to cost cutting efforts to
better align our spending with current revenue levels. See Solutions Group and PalmSource MD&A sections for
further analysis.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist of employee related costs, travel expenses and related
information technology and facilities costs for finance, legal, human resources and executive functions, outside
legal and accounting fees, provision for doubtful accounts and business insurance costs. General and
administrative expenses were $50.2 million in fiscal year 2003, a decrease of $6.2 million or approximately 11%
from general and administrative expenses in fiscal year 2002. This decrease consists of a $5.9 million decrease in
Solutions Group general and administrative expenses and a $0.3 million decrease in PalmSource general and
administrative expenses for fiscal year 2003 compared to fiscal year 2002. General and administrative expenses
as a percentage of revenues were 5.8% in fiscal year 2003 compared to 5.5% in fiscal year 2002. The reduction in
our consolidated general and administrative expenses was primarily due to cost cutting efforts to better align our
spending with current revenue levels partially offset by an increased provision for doubtful accounts. See
Solutions Group and PalmSource MD&A sections for further analysis.

Amortization of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets was $6.1 million in fiscal year 2003 compared to $12.5 million in fiscal
year 2002, as a result of certain intangible assets becoming fully amortized. See Solutions Group and PalmSource
MD&A sections for further analysis.

Separation Costs

Separation costs reflect costs related to separating our businesses, such as consulting and professional fees.
Separation costs were $9.3 million in fiscal year 2003 compared to $1.5 million in fiscal year 2002. All of the
separation costs in fiscal year 2003 and $1.1 million of the separation costs in fiscal year 2002 related to the
establishment of PalmSource as a separate business. Separation costs of $0.4 million in fiscal year 2002 related
to our fiscal year 2000 separation from 3Com. We expect to continue to incur separation costs in fiscal year 2004
relating to the PalmSource separation. See Solutions Group and PalmSource MD&A sections for further analysis.

Impairment Charges

In the third quarter of fiscal year 2003, we incurred an impairment charge of $102.5 million, including
$100.0 million related to approximately 39 acres of land in San Jose, California owned by us. Market conditions
for commercial real estate in the Silicon Valley have deteriorated since the land was acquired in May 2001, and
during the third quarter of fiscal year 2003, we determined that we no longer expect to hold the land as long as
would be required to realize the $160.0 million carrying value. As a result, we adjusted the carrying value to
$60.0 million based upon the estimated fair value at February 2003. Additionally, a $2.5 million impairment
charge was recorded in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets, related to the core technology acquired as a result of the December 2001 business combination with
ThinAirApps, Inc. The core technology of ThinAirApps is no longer considered useful, and its carrying value is
not considered to be recoverable. The fair value of the core technology was determined using the discounted cash
flow method.

Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges relate to the implementation of a series of actions to better align our expense structure
with our revenues. Restructuring charges were $39.5 million in fiscal year 2003 compared to $46.6 million in
fiscal year 2002. See Solutions Group and PalmSource MD&A sections for further analysis.

30



Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest and other income (expense), on a net basis, was $2.1 million of net interest and other expense in
fiscal year 2003 compared to $0.9 million of net interest and other income in fiscal year 2002. See Solutions
Group and PalmSource MD&A sections for further analysis.

Income Tax Provision (Benefit)

The income tax provision for fiscal year 2003 was $225.0 million, or (103.4)% of pretax loss, reflecting a
$219.6 million increase in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, first established in fiscal year 2002, as
well as income taxes in foreign jurisdictions, which are not offset by operating loss carryforwards. As of the end
of fiscal year 2002, Palm had recorded a net deferred tax asset of $254.4 million. The realization of the net
deferred tax asset was supported by certain identified tax strategies, involving the potential sale or transfer of
appreciated assets, which were prudent, feasible and which management would implement, if necessary, to
realize the related tax benefits before Palm’s net operating loss carryforwards expired. The identified tax
strategies included the potential sale or transfer of certain identified business operations, consisting of our
PalmSource, Inc. subsidiary and our wireless access service operations, as well as the transfer of certain
intellectual property from a foreign subsidiary to the United States, on a taxable basis. During the first quarter of
fiscal year 2003, there was a significant decline in the value of these identified business operations and assets. In
addition, the Company’s business plans had developed such that the potential sale or transfer of PalmSource, Inc.
and our wireless access service operations on a taxable basis were no longer feasible tax planning strategies. As a
result, the Company increased its valuation allowance by $219.6 million to reflect these changes and to reduce
the net deferred tax assets to $34.8 million, which is the amount supported by the value of its intellectual
property transfer strategy which, as of that date and at the end of fiscal year 2003, continues to be prudent,
feasible and one that management would implement, if necessary, to realize the related tax benefits before Palm’s
net operating loss carryforwards expired. The net operating loss carryforwards, which are a significant
component of the deferred tax assets of Palm and which totaled $562 million at May 31, 2003, remain available
for us to utilize against future profits.

Comparison of fiscal years ended May 31, 2002 and 2001

Revenues

Revenues for fiscal year 2002 were $1,030.8 million, a decrease of $528.5 million or approximately 34%
from revenues for fiscal year 2001 of $1,559.3 million. The decrease consists of a $528.8 million decrease in
Solutions Group revenues and a $0.3 million increase in PalmSource revenues from third party customers. The
decline in Solutions Group revenues was primarily driven by reduced unit shipments as a result of the economic
slowdown and reduced growth in the handheld industry as well as by a reduction in average selling prices due to
increased competition. See Solutions Group and PalmSource MD&A sections for further analysis.

Total Cost of Revenues

‘Total cost of revenues’ was $650.0 million in fiscal year 2002, a decrease of $683.9 million or
approximately 51% from ‘Total cost of revenues in fiscal year 2001 of $1,333.9 million. This decrease consists
of a $689.1 million decrease in Solutions Group ‘Total cost of revenues’ exclusive of intersegment royalty
expenses offset by a $5.2 million increase in PalmSource ‘Total cost of revenues’ for fiscal year 2002 compared
to fiscal year 2001. ‘Total cost of revenues’ as a percentage of revenues were 63.0% in fiscal year 2002
compared to 85.5% in fiscal year 2001. This 22.5% decrease in ‘Total cost of revenues’ as a percentage of
revenues primarily reflects a charge for special excess inventory and related costs of 17.2% of revenues in fiscal
year 2001 and a benefit for special excess inventory and related costs realized in fiscal year 2002 of 9.9% of
revenues (resulting in a year-to-year decrease in ‘Total cost of revenues’ of 27.1%), partially offset by the impact
of lower average selling prices due to increasing competition and increased warehousing and freight expenses
due to higher inventory levels. See Solutions Group and PalmSource MD&A sections for further analysis.
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Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses were $237.2 million in fiscal year 2002, a decrease of $100.1 million or
approximately 30% from sales and marketing expenses in fiscal year 2001 of $337.3 million. This decrease
consists of a $93.7 million decrease in Solutions Group sales and marketing expenses and a $6.4 million decrease
in PalmSource sales and marketing expenses for fiscal year 2002 compared to fiscal year 2001. Sales and
marketing expenses as a percentage of revenues were 23.0% in fiscal year 2002 compared to 21.6% in fiscal year
2001. The reduction in our consolidated sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to cost cutting efforts to
better align our spending with reduced revenue levels. See Solutions Group and PalmSource MD&A sections for
further analysis.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses were $141.7 million in fiscal year 2002, a decrease of $17.4 million or
approximately 11% from research and development expenses in fiscal year 2001 of $159.1 million. This decrease
consists of a $12.1 million decrease in Solutions Group research and development expenses and a $5.3 million
decrease in PalmSource research and development expenses for fiscal year 2002 compared to fiscal year 2001.
Research and development expenses as a percentage of revenues were 13.8% in fiscal year 2002 compared to
10.3% in fiscal year 2001. The reduction in absolute dollars of our consolidated research and development
expenses was primarily due to cost cutting efforts to better align our spending with reduced revenue levels. The
increase in the research and development expenses as a percentage of revenues primarily reflects decreased
revenues in fiscal year 2002. See Solutions Group and PalmSource MD&A sections for further analysis.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were $56.4 million in fiscal year 2002, a decrease of $31.4 million or
approximately 36% from general and administrative expenses in fiscal year 2001 of $87.8 million. This decrease
consists of a $31.4 million decrease in Solutions Group general and administrative expenses while PalmSource
research and development expenses remained relatively flat for fiscal year 2002 compared to fiscal year 2001.
General and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues were 5.5% in fiscal year 2002 compared to
5.6% in fiscal year 2001. The reduction in our consolidated general and administrative expenses was primarily
due to cost cutting efforts to better align our spending with current revenue levels and a reduction in the
provision for doubtful accounts consistent with the decrease in our revenues and outstanding accounts receivable
balance. See Solutions Group and PalmSource MD&A sections for further analysis.

Amortization of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets was $12.5 million in fiscal year 2002. Amortization of goodwill and
intangible assets was $37.3 million in fiscal year 2001. The decrease in amortization of goodwill and intangible
assets was primarily the result of the implementation of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, at
the beginning of fiscal year 2002, which resulted in goodwill no longer being amortized. See Solutions Group
and PalmSource MD&A sections for further analysis.

Separation Costs

Separation costs were $1.5 million in fiscal year 2002 compared to $5.5 million in fiscal year 2001.
Separation costs of $1.1 million in fiscal year 2002 related to the establishment of PalmSource as a separate
business. All of the separation costs in fiscal year 2001 and $0.4 million of the separation costs in fiscal year
2002 related to our fiscal year 2000 separation from 3Com. See Solutions Group and PalmSource MD&A
sections for further analysis.
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Impairment Charges

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, we incurred impairment charges of $106.7 million consisting of a
$47.7 million impairment of goodwill and intangible assets related to the AnyDay acquisition, due to the AnyDay
acquisition performing below expectations, and a $59.0 million impairment charge related to the land on which
we had previously intended to build our new corporate headquarters. See Solutions Group and PalmSource
MD&A sections for further analysis.

Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges were $46.6 million in fiscal year 2002 compared to $60.9 million in fiscal year 2001.
See Solutions Group and PalmSource MD&A sections for further analysis.

Purchased In-Process Technology

Purchased in-process technology in fiscal year 2001 was a result of the AnyDay acquisition and the
peanutpress acquisition. Approximately $0.9 million of the purchase price of AnyDay and $0.2 million of the
purchase price of peanutpress represented purchased in-process technology that had not yet reached technological
feasibility, had no alternative future use and was charged to operations. See Solutions Group and PalmSource
MD&A sections for further analysis.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest and other income (expense), on a net basis, was $0.9 million of net interest and other income in
fiscal year 2002 compared to $41.9 million in fiscal year 2001 resulting from lower cash balances, reduced
interest rates and increased interest expense arising from the issuance of subordinated convertible debt. See
Solutions Group and PalmSource MD&A sections for further analysis.

Income Tax Provision (Benefit)

The income tax benefit for fiscal year 2002 was $25.7 million, or 23.9% of pretax loss, which included a
$22.7 million valuation allowance that related to a portion of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The
income tax benefit for fiscal year 2001 was $167.7 million, or 32.0% of pretax loss.
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Results of Operations—Solutions Group

The following table sets forth the Solutions Group segment statement of operations data and is also
expressed as a percentage of Solutions Group revenues for the fiscal years indicated (dollars in thousands):

Years ended May 31,

2003 2002 2001

Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 837,637 100.0% $1,004,388 100.0% $1,533,171 100.0%
Costs and operating expenses:

Cost of revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 625,245 74.6 782,709 77.9 1,118,490 73.0

Cost of revenues—charge (benefit) for
special excess inventory and related
costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (101,844) (10.1) 268,930 17.5

Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 160,705 19.2 217,998 21.7 311,686 20.3
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . 70,927 8.5 91,539 9.1 103,559 6.7
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . 37,725 4.5 43,598 4.3 74,987 4.9
Amortization of goodwill and intangible
assets (*) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,127 0.1 6,548 0.7 27,907 1.8

Separation costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,258 0.5 1,023 0.1 4,007 0.3
Impairment charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 102,540 12.3 — — 106,669 7.0
Restructuring charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,504 4.5 44,357 4.4 58,662 3.8
Purchased in-process technology . . . . . . — — — — 853 0.1

Total costs and operating
expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,040,031 124.2 1,085,928 108.1 2,075,750 135.4

Operating loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (202,394) (24.2) (81,540) (8.1) (542,579) (35.4)
Interest and other income (expense), net . . . . 3,005 0.4 1,615 0.2 41,870 2.7

Loss before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (199,389) (23.8)% $ (79,925) (7.9)% $ (500,709) (32.7)%

(*) Amortization of goodwill and intangible
assets:
Cost of revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 634 0.1% $ 634 0.1% $ 1,266 0.1%
Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — —
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . 493 — 5,914 0.6 26,641 1.7
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — —

Total amortization of goodwill and
intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,127 0.1% $ 6,548 0.7% $ 27,907 1.8%

Solutions Group Comparison of fiscal years ended May 31, 2003 and 2002

Revenues

We derive our revenues primarily from sales of our handheld computing devices, add-ons and accessories as
well as related services and software. Revenues for fiscal year 2003 were $837.6 million, a decrease of
$166.8 million or approximately 17% from revenues for fiscal year 2002. The decrease in revenues was primarily
driven by a decline in unit shipments reflecting a continued weak economy in both the consumer and enterprise
segments and a decline in the average selling price of our handheld devices reflective of a price sensitive and
increasingly competitive market. The average selling price of our handheld devices decreased to approximately
$171 per unit in fiscal year 2003 from approximately $192 per unit in fiscal year 2002, accounting for more than
50% of the overall decrease in revenues. Net unit shipments of devices were 4.2 million units in fiscal year 2003
compared to 4.4 million units in fiscal year 2002, accounting for just under 30% of the decrease in revenues.
Revenues from accessory sales were down by approximately $40.1 million, or 37%, from fiscal year 2002,
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reflective of a decrease in device sales and an increase in competition in the accessories business. These factors
were partially offset by a decrease in the provision for product return reserves from 7.3% of revenue in fiscal
year 2002 to 4.5% of revenue in fiscal year 2003. This decrease was primarily attributable to lower return rates
from our channel partners for product returned to them by their end customers (open box returns) driven by a
decrease in product defects and our channel partners developing alternative means for selling open box returns.

International revenues were approximately 41% of worldwide revenues in fiscal year 2003 compared with
approximately 36% in fiscal year 2002. Of the 17% decline in worldwide revenues from fiscal year 2002 to fiscal
year 2003, 15% resulted from a reduction in US revenues and 2% resulted from a reduction in international
revenues. The relatively smaller decline in international revenues accounts for international revenues providing
for a larger share of worldwide revenues in fiscal year 2003 despite a reduction in absolute international
revenues. Although average selling prices for our handheld devices declined similarly in both the US and
international markets by about 11% from fiscal year 2002 to fiscal year 2003, absolute international revenues
declined by only 5% relative to the decline in US revenues of 23%. The lower decline in international revenues
came from an increase in handheld units sold internationally, (representing a 10% increase in fiscal year 2003
over fiscal year 2002, versus a 10% reduction in the US), coupled with a lower decline in accessories revenue
internationally (a 21% decline internationally in fiscal year 2003 over fiscal year 2002 versus a 44% decline in
the US). The international revenues reflected strong year over year performance in Europe with increased unit
shipments and sell through to end users reflecting European market share gains.

We believe Palm faced weaker economies and more intense competition both domestically and
internationally in fiscal year 2003 over fiscal year 2002.

Total Cost of Revenues

‘Total cost of revenues’ is comprised of ‘Cost of revenues’, ‘Cost of revenues—charge (benefit) for special
excess inventory and related costs’ and the applicable portion of ‘Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets’
as shown in the Solutions Group results of operations table. ‘Total cost of revenues’ was $625.9 million in fiscal
year 2003 and $681.5 million in fiscal year 2002. ‘Total cost of revenues’ as a percentage of revenues was 74.7%
in fiscal year 2003 compared to 67.9% in fiscal year 2002. ‘Cost of revenues’ primarily consists of costs to
produce and deliver our devices, accessories and related services. ‘Cost of revenues’ in fiscal year 2003 was
$625.2 million, or 74.6% of revenues, compared to $782.7 million, or 77.9% of revenues, in fiscal year 2002.
The decrease in ‘cost of revenues’ as a percentage of revenues was primarily due to improvement in component
and product transformation costs of approximately 2.0 percentage points, reduced excess and obsolete costs of
approximately 1.2 percentage points resulting from improved inventory management, and lower product
warranty expenses of approximately 1.2 percentage points as a result of fewer than anticipated claims with
respect to electro-static discharge issues related to certain products as well as lower repair costs per unit resulting
from contract renegotiations and changes in third party repair vendors, partially offset by increased scrap and
rework and manufacturing spending of approximately 1.6 percentage points.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, we recorded an inventory related charge of $268.9 million, or
17.5% of revenues, captioned ‘Cost of revenues—charge (benefit) for special excess inventory and related costs’
in the Solutions Group results of operations table. During the first three quarters of fiscal year 2001, we were
experiencing high growth rates and product supply constraints, including a limited supply of certain key
components. As a result, we purchased inventory and made purchase commitments with third party suppliers in
anticipation of the continuation of this trend. During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, we experienced a
sudden and significant decline in demand for our products. Revenues in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001
were $165.3 million compared to revenues of $470.8 million during the third quarter of fiscal year 2001. This
rapid and unexpected decline in demand for handheld device products and in revenues resulted in us recording a
charge totaling $268.9 million consisting of $144.3 million of excess inventory and related tooling costs and
$124.6 million of non-cancelable inventory purchase commitments in excess of our forecasted needs. This excess
inventory charge was calculated in accordance with Palm’s policy, which is based on inventory levels determined

35



to be in excess of anticipated 12-month demand based upon our internal sales and marketing forecasts of product
demand and inventory levels in the distribution channel. During fiscal year 2002, we experienced continued
customer demand for the products that had been previously written off and settled the component purchase
commitments for less than the original amount. Accordingly, during fiscal year 2002, we recognized a benefit of
$101.8 million, or 10.1% of revenues, because we were able to sell approximately $83.0 million of inventory that
had previously been written off and to realize approximately $18.8 million from the favorable settlement of non-
cancelable component commitments. There were no similar benefits recognized in fiscal year 2003, as all excess
inventory related to the fiscal year 2001 inventory charge had been sold or scrapped by the end of fiscal year
2002.

The ‘Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets’ applicable to the cost of revenues remained the same
as a percentage of revenue and in absolute dollars in fiscal year 2003 as compared to fiscal year 2002.
Intersegment cost of revenues for royalties to PalmSource recorded by Solutions Group in fiscal years 2003 and
2002 of $39.6 million and $42.1 million, respectively, are eliminated in consolidation.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist principally of advertising and marketing programs, salaries and
benefits for sales and marketing personnel, sales commissions, travel expenses and related information
technology and facilities costs. Sales and marketing expenses were $160.7 million in fiscal year 2003 compared
to $218.0 million in fiscal year 2002, a decrease of $57.3 million or approximately 26%. Sales and marketing
expenses as a percentage of revenues were 19.2% in fiscal year 2003 compared to 21.7% in fiscal year 2002. The
decrease in sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenues and in absolute dollars reflects decreased
spending across all marketing areas. Sales and marketing expenses were significantly reduced during fiscal year
2003 as compared to fiscal year 2002 to better align our spending with current revenue levels. Advertising and
branding expense reductions accounted for approximately $20.0 million, direct marketing, program and
promotion reductions accounted for approximately $15.2 million, international marketing expense reductions
accounted for approximately $6.8 million and trade show and other marketing expense reductions accounted for
approximately $5.6 million of the decrease in sales and marketing expenses. Additionally, personnel and related
expenses decreased by approximately $6.2 million and associated information technology and facilities costs
decreased by approximately $3.0 million primarily due to headcount reductions as a result of our restructuring
actions and new lower cost facilities leases.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist principally of employee related costs, third party development
costs, program materials, depreciation and related information technology and facilities costs. Research and
development expenses were $70.9 million in fiscal year 2003 compared to $91.5 million in fiscal year 2002, a
decrease of $20.6 million or approximately 23%. Research and development expenses decreased as a percentage
of revenues to 8.5% in fiscal year 2003 from 9.1% in fiscal year 2002. Approximately $7.9 million of the
decrease in research and development expenses was due to decreased third party development costs, as some of
these costs are now incurred in cost of revenues consistent with our ODM strategy and reduced program
materials expenses. Approximately $6.7 million of the decrease is due to lower personnel related costs and
consulting expenses. Personnel and related costs, including salaries and related benefits and travel, decreased
primarily as a result of reduced headcount in fiscal year 2003 compared to fiscal year 2002 resulting from
restructuring actions initiated to align our cost structure with our business operations.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist of employee related costs, travel expenses and related
information technology and facilities costs for finance, legal, human resources and executive functions, outside
legal and accounting fees, provision for doubtful accounts and business insurance costs. General and
administrative expenses were $37.7 million in fiscal year 2003 compared to $43.6 million in fiscal year 2002, a
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decrease of $5.9 million or approximately 14%. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues
increased to 4.5% in fiscal year 2003 from 4.3% in fiscal year 2002. The increase as a percentage of revenues in
fiscal year 2003 is primarily due to decreased revenues in fiscal year 2003 as compared to fiscal year 2002. The
decrease in absolute dollars was due to lower employee related expenses of approximately $5.4 million as a
result of reduced headcount and lower legal and professional services expenses of approximately $5.3 million.
These decreases in expenses were offset by an increased provision for doubtful accounts, of approximately
$5.7 million. The provision for doubtful accounts was a charge of $0.9 million in fiscal year 2003 compared to a
credit of $4.8 million in fiscal year 2002; this credit was due to collection of certain specifically reserved fiscal
year 2001 receivables and the overall lower balance of gross accounts receivable at the end of fiscal year 2002.
Headcount at the end of fiscal year 2003 decreased by approximately 23% compared to fiscal year 2002,
resulting from restructuring actions initiated to align our cost structure with current revenue levels.

Amortization of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets was $1.1 million in fiscal year 2003 compared to $6.5 million in fiscal
year 2002. The decrease in amortization of goodwill and intangible assets of $5.4 million is a result of certain
intangible assets becoming fully amortized and the impairment of certain other intangible assets that would
otherwise have resulted in $0.6 million of amortization.

Separation Costs

Separation costs reflect costs related to separating our businesses, such as consulting and professional fees.
Separation costs were $4.3 million in fiscal year 2003 compared to $1.0 million in fiscal year 2002, an increase
of $3.3 million. Separation costs in fiscal year 2003 and $0.7 million of separation costs in fiscal year 2002
related to the establishment of PalmSource as a separate business. Separation costs in fiscal year 2002 included
$0.3 million related to our fiscal year 2000 separation from 3Com. We expect to continue to incur separation
costs in fiscal year 2004 relating to the PalmSource separation.

Impairment Charges

In the third quarter of fiscal year 2003, we incurred an impairment charge of $102.5 million, including
$100.0 million related to approximately 39 acres of land in San Jose, California owned by us. Market conditions
for commercial real estate in the Silicon Valley have deteriorated since the land was acquired in May 2001, and
during the third quarter of fiscal year 2003, we determined that we no longer expect to hold the land as long as
would be required to realize the $160.0 million carrying value. As a result, we adjusted the carrying value to
$60.0 million based upon the estimated fair value at February 2003. Additionally, a $2.5 million impairment
charge was recorded in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets, related to the core technology acquired as a result of the December 2001 business combination with
ThinAirApps, Inc. The core technology of ThinAirApps is no longer considered useful, and its carrying value is
not considered to be recoverable. The fair value of the core technology was determined using the discounted cash
flow method.

Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges relate to the implementation of a series of actions to better align our expense structure
with our revenues. Restructuring charges of $37.5 million recorded during fiscal year 2003 consist of
$19.1 million related to the restructuring actions taken during the third quarter of fiscal year 2003 plus $18.4
million of net adjustments related to restructuring actions taken in prior fiscal years.

The fiscal year 2003 restructuring charges of $19.1 million consist of:

Š $6.1 million of severance, benefits and related costs related to workforce reductions, primarily in the
United States, of approximately 140 regular employees. As of May 31, 2003, approximately 120
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regular employees had been terminated as a result of this restructuring and approximately $4.6 million
has been paid in cash, primarily for severance and benefits;

Š $2.4 million related to facilities and property and equipment disposed of or removed from service, of
which $0.1 million has been paid in cash;

Š $10.6 million related to programs that were cancelled, of which $4.7 million has been paid in cash; and

Š Upon completion of these restructuring actions, estimated future savings are expected to be
approximately $26.0 million per year consisting of savings of approximately $18.0 million related to
workforce reductions, $2.0 million related to facilities rents and depreciation of property and
equipment and $6.0 million related to programs which were cancelled.

Restructuring charges taken in prior periods included:

Š the fourth quarter fiscal year 2002 restructuring charges related to workforce reductions across all
geographic regions of approximately 90 regular employees, facilities and property and equipment that
would be disposed of or removed from service in fiscal year 2003 and cancelled project costs. As of
May 31, 2003, workforce reductions were complete. During the year ended May 31, 2003, the
Solutions Group recorded restructuring adjustments totaling $1.4 million to reflect the changes in the
estimated costs of certain actions from the original estimates.

Š the second quarter fiscal year 2002 restructuring actions related to workforce reductions across all
geographic regions of approximately 210 regular employees, excess facilities and related costs for lease
commitments for space no longer needed or intended for use. As of May 31, 2003, headcount
reductions were complete. During the year ended May 31, 2003, the Solutions Group recorded
restructuring adjustments totaling $1.3 million to reflect the changes in the estimated costs of certain
actions from the original estimates.

Š the fourth quarter fiscal year 2001 restructuring charges related to carrying and development costs
related to the land on which we had previously planned to build our corporate headquarters, facilities
costs related to lease commitments for space no longer intended for use, workforce reduction costs
across all geographic regions of approximately 205 regular employees and discontinued project costs.
As of May 31, 2003, headcount reductions were complete. During the year ended May 31, 2003, the
Solutions Group recorded additional charges totaling $21.1 million due to further changes from the
original estimate of the cost of the restructuring actions announced in the fourth quarter of fiscal year
2001 primarily due to changes in estimates of sublease income for excess facilities. The ability to
realize sublease income is dependent on lease market conditions. The amount of estimated sublease
income may be subject to change based upon developments in lease market conditions and other
pertinent facts. As of May 31, 2003, the balance consists of lease commitments payable over nine
years, net of estimated sublease income, of $25.7 million.

Cost reduction actions initiated in the second and fourth quarters of fiscal year 2002 and in the fourth
quarter of fiscal year 2001 are substantially complete except for remaining rent payments related to excess
facilities. Cost reduction actions initiated in the third quarter of fiscal year 2003 are expected to be substantially
complete by the end of the second quarter of fiscal year 2004. We cannot assure you that our current estimates of
the costs associated with these restructuring actions will not change during implementation.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest and other income (expense), on a net basis, was $3.0 million of income in fiscal year 2003
compared to $1.6 million of income in fiscal year 2002. Interest and other income (expense) in fiscal year 2003
primarily consisted of insurance proceeds of $12.7 million from a partial insurance settlement of a business
interruption claim and interest income on our cash balances of $3.8 million offset by interest expense of
$2.6 million, bank charges, including amortization of financing activities and credit card fees, of $3.9 million,
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legal settlements of $4.1 million and impairment of equity investments of $2.7 million. Interest and other income
(expense) for fiscal year 2002 primarily consisted of interest income on our cash balances of $9.2 million and
insurance proceeds of $5.0 million from a partial insurance settlement of a business interruption claim offset by
banking charges of $5.1 million, impairment of our investments in two privately-held companies of $5.1 million
and interest expense of $1.8 million. Interest income decreased primarily as the result of lower cash balances and
reduced interest rates on our investments. Bank charges decreased due to decreased credit card fees of
$1.2 million. Interest expense increased reflective of a full year of interest from the issuance of our subordinated
convertible debt in the second quarter of fiscal year 2002.

Solutions Group Comparison of fiscal years ended May 31, 2002 and 2001

Revenues

Revenues for fiscal year 2002 were $1,004.4 million, a decrease of $528.8 million or approximately 34%
from revenues for fiscal year 2001. The decline in revenues was primarily driven by a decrease in unit shipments.
Unit shipments decreased to 4.4 million in fiscal year 2002 from 6.4 million units in fiscal year 2001, accounting
for more than 75% of the decrease in revenues, as a result of an economic slowdown and reduced growth in the
handheld industry. In addition, our average selling price decreased to $192 per unit in fiscal year 2002 from $206
per unit in fiscal year 2001 due to increased competition in the handheld market, accounting for approximately
12% of the decrease in revenues. International revenues for fiscal year 2002 were 36% of revenues compared
with 39% of revenues for fiscal year 2001.

Total Cost of Revenues

For fiscal year 2002, ‘Total cost of revenues’ was $681.5 million compared to $1,388.7 million in fiscal year
2001. ‘Total cost of revenues’ is comprised of ‘Cost of revenues’, ‘Cost of revenues—charge (benefit) for special
excess inventory and related costs’ and the applicable portion of ‘Amortization of goodwill and intangible
assets’. ‘Total cost of revenues’ as a percentage of revenues was 67.9% in fiscal year 2002 compared to 90.6% in
fiscal year 2001. ‘Cost of revenues’ in fiscal year 2002 was $782.7 million, or 77.9% of revenues, compared to
$1,118.5 million, or 73.0% of revenues, in fiscal year 2001. The increase in ‘Cost of revenues’ as a percentage of
revenues was primarily due to a decrease in the average selling price of our products, accounting for
approximately 3.0 percentage points of the increase in ‘Cost of revenues’. Additionally, warehousing and freight
expenses increased as we experienced a sudden and significant decline in demand for our products resulting in
increased inventories, accounting for approximately 0.8 percentage points. This increase was slightly off-set by
lower product warranty expenses of approximately 0.9 percentage points as a result of improved efficiencies
reducing repair costs per unit.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, we recorded an inventory related charge of $268.9 million, or
17.5% of revenues, captioned ‘Cost of revenues – charge (benefit) for special excess inventory and related costs’
in the Solutions Group results of operations table. During the first three quarters of fiscal year 2001, we were
experiencing high growth rates and product supply constraints, including a limited supply of certain key
components. As a result, we purchased inventory and made purchase commitments with third party suppliers in
anticipation of the continuation of this trend. During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, we experienced a
sudden and significant decline in demand for our products. Revenues in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001
were $165.3 million compared to revenues of $470.8 million during the third quarter of fiscal year 2001. This
rapid and unexpected decline in demand for handheld device products and in revenues resulted in us recording a
charge totaling $268.9 million consisting of $144.3 million of excess inventory and related tooling costs and
$124.6 million of non-cancelable inventory purchase commitments in excess of our forecasted needs. This excess
inventory charge was calculated in accordance with Palm’s policy, which is based on inventory levels determined
to be in excess of anticipated 12-month demand based upon our internal sales and marketing forecasts of product
demand and inventory levels in the distribution channel. During fiscal year 2002, we experienced continued
customer demand for the products that had been previously written off and settled the component purchase
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commitments for less than the original amount. Accordingly, during fiscal year 2002, we recognized a benefit of
$101.8 million, or 10.1% of revenues, because we were able to sell approximately $83.0 million of inventory that
had previously been written off and to realize approximately $18.8 million from the favorable settlement of non-
cancelable component commitments.

The ‘Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets’ applicable to the cost of revenues decreased in
absolute dollars in fiscal year 2002 compared to fiscal year 2001 primarily due to amortization of goodwill being
discontinued in accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Intersegment cost of
revenues for royalties to PalmSource recorded by Solutions Group in fiscal years 2002 and 2001 of $42.1 million
and $60.2 million, respectively, are eliminated in consolidation.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses were $218.0 million in fiscal year 2002 compared to $311.7 million in fiscal
year 2001, a decrease of $93.7 million or approximately 30%. Sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of
revenues were 21.7% in fiscal year 2002 compared to 20.3% in fiscal year 2001. The increase in sales and
marketing expenses as a percentage of revenues primarily reflects decreased revenues in fiscal year 2002
compared to fiscal year 2001. The decrease in absolute dollars in fiscal year 2002 compared to fiscal year 2001
was primarily the result of decreased advertising and branding expenses of approximately $35.0 million, reduced
direct marketing and program and promotion expenses of approximately $27.8 million, decreased trade show and
other marketing expenses of approximately $11.3 million and reduced international marketing of $5.1 million.
Additionally, personnel and related expenses decreased approximately $11.4 million. These reductions were all
intended to better align our spending with lower revenues in fiscal year 2002 compared to fiscal year 2001.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses were $91.5 million in fiscal year 2002 compared to $103.6 million in
fiscal year 2001, a decrease of $12.1 million or approximately 12%. Research and development expenses
increased as a percentage of revenues to 9.1% in fiscal year 2002 from 6.7% in fiscal year 2001. The increase in
the research and development expenses as a percentage of revenues primarily reflects decreased revenues in
fiscal year 2002. The decrease in expenses in absolute dollars in fiscal year 2002 compared to fiscal year 2001
was primarily due to decreased consulting and personnel and related expenses of approximately $9.8 million and
decreased spending on project materials of approximately $1.5 million. The reduction in personnel and related
costs resulted from restructuring actions which reduced headcount in order align our cost structure with our lower
revenues in fiscal year 2002 compared to fiscal year 2001.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were $43.6 million in fiscal year 2002 compared to $75.0 million in
fiscal year 2001, a decrease of $31.4 million or approximately 42%. General and administrative expenses as a
percentage of revenues decreased to 4.3% in fiscal year 2002 from 4.9% in fiscal year 2001. The decrease as a
percentage of revenues and in absolute dollars was primarily due to a decrease in the provision for doubtful
accounts of approximately $13.5 million. The provision for doubtful accounts was a credit of $4.8 million in
fiscal year 2002 compared to a charge of $8.7 million in fiscal year 2001; the credit in fiscal year 2002 was due
to collection of certain specifically reserved fiscal year 2001 receivables and the overall lower balance of gross
accounts receivable, and the charge in fiscal year 2001 reflects provision for specifically identified accounts and
the overall higher balance of gross accounts receivable. In addition, personnel and related expenses decreased
approximately $7.0 million, reflecting reduced headcount as a result of restructuring actions.

Amortization of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets was $6.5 million in fiscal year 2002 compared to
$27.9 million in fiscal year 2001, a decrease of $21.4 million. The decrease was primarily the result of the
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implementation of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, at the beginning of fiscal year 2002,
which resulted in goodwill no longer being amortized and the impairment of the intangible assets acquired in
connection with the June 2000 business combination with AnyDay.com, Inc. (“AnyDay”). The impairment of the
AnyDay intangible assets was recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001 and resulted in the termination of
related amortization charges. The decrease of goodwill amortization of approximately $20.5 million and AnyDay
intangible asset amortization of approximately $1.7 million was partially offset by amortization charges resulting
from certain acquisitions made during fiscal year 2002 of $0.6 million. We completed our transitional and annual
impairment tests of the goodwill recorded on our balance sheet during fiscal year 2002, and there was no
impairment indicated.

Separation Costs

Separation costs were $1.0 million in fiscal year 2002 compared to $4.0 million in fiscal year 2001, a
decrease of $3.0 million or approximately 74%. Separation costs reflect costs related to separating our
businesses, such as consulting and professional fees. Separation costs in fiscal year 2002 primarily consist of
$0.7 million related to the establishment of PalmSource as a separate business and $0.3 million related to our
fiscal year 2000 separation from 3Com. Separation costs in fiscal year 2001 related to our separation from 3Com.

Impairment Charges

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, we incurred impairment charges of $106.7 million consisting of a
$47.7 million impairment of goodwill and intangible assets related to the AnyDay acquisition, due to the AnyDay
acquisition performing below expectations, and a $59.0 million impairment charge related to the land on which
we had previously intended to build our new corporate headquarters.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, we terminated a seven-year master lease agreement that had been
entered into during the second quarter of fiscal year 2001 related to the land and construction of a headquarters
facility in San Jose, California. At the initiation of the lease agreement, the lessor acquired the land for the future
headquarters. Due to the uncertain economic environment and changes to our business, we decided not to go
forward with the lease commitment or construction of the future headquarters facility. Pursuant to the terms of
the master lease agreement, upon termination of the agreement, we were required to exercise our option to
purchase the land for the lessor’s full initial purchase price. Recognizing that there had been a decline in the
market value of land in the Silicon Valley area due to the downturn in the economy, an impairment charge was
recorded for the difference between the fair market value of the land at May 31, 2001 and our purchase price.

Restructuring Charges

During fiscal year 2002, we recorded restructuring charges of $44.4 million. These charges relate to two
restructuring programs announced during the second and fourth quarters of fiscal year 2002 and an adjustment to
the charge recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2002, we recorded restructuring charges of $14.9 million related to
decisions and commitments made in that quarter. These restructuring charges consist of workforce reduction
costs across all geographic regions, excess facilities charges and discontinued project costs. We recorded
approximately $5.2 million related to workforce reductions primarily related to severance, benefits and related
costs due to the reduction of approximately 90 regular employees. We recorded a charge of approximately
$6.1 million related to facilities and property and equipment that would be disposed of or removed from service
in fiscal year 2003. The facilities charges reflected the remaining commitment on existing leases which we would
not use. We recorded a charge of approximately $3.6 million, of which $2.3 million had been paid in cash as of
May 31, 2002, related to projects that had been cancelled.

In the second quarter of fiscal year 2002, we announced actions intended to reduce our cost structure and we
recorded charges of $21.5 million in the second quarter for these actions. The second quarter fiscal year 2002
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restructuring charges consisted of workforce reduction costs across all geographic regions and excess facilities
and related costs for lease commitments for space no longer needed to support ongoing operations. We recorded
approximately $13.3 million related to workforce reductions of approximately 210 regular employees, and, as of
May 31, 2003, headcount reductions were complete. During the remainder of fiscal year 2002, we recorded
charges totaling $0.2 million primarily due to changes from the original estimate in the expected sublease income
from excess facilities. As of May 31, 2002, cash payments of $13.7 million had been made in connection with the
second quarter of fiscal year 2002 restructuring charge.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, we recorded restructuring charges which consisted of carrying and
development costs related to the land on which we had previously planned to build our future headquarters
facility, facilities costs related to lease commitments for space no longer intended for use, workforce reduction
costs across all geographic regions and discontinued project costs. These workforce reductions affected
approximately 205 regular employees. During fiscal year 2002, we recorded charges totaling $7.8 million due to
changes from the original estimate of the cost of the restructuring actions announced in the fourth quarter of
fiscal year 2001 primarily as a result of a reduction in estimated sublease income. As of May 31, 2002, the
headcount reductions were essentially complete. As of May 31, 2002, cash payments of $19.7 million had been
made in connection with the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001 restructuring charge.

Purchased In-Process Technology

Purchased in-process technology in fiscal year 2001 was a result of the AnyDay acquisition. Approximately
$0.9 million of the purchase price of AnyDay represented purchased in-process technology that had not yet
reached technological feasibility, had no alternative future use and was charged to operations.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest and other income (expense), on a net basis, was $1.6 million of income in fiscal year 2002
compared to $41.9 million of income in fiscal year 2001. Interest and other income (expense) in fiscal year 2002
primarily consisted of interest income on our cash balances of $9.2 million and insurance proceeds of
$5.0 million from a partial insurance settlement of a business interruption claim offset by banking charges of
$5.1 million, impairment of our investments in two privately-held companies of $5.1 million and interest expense
of $1.8 million. Interest and other income (expense) for fiscal year 2001 primarily consisted of interest income
on our cash balances of $48.7 million offset by approximately $5.5 million related to the net settlement of two
lawsuits. The decline in interest and other income (expense) is the result of lower cash balances, reduced interest
rates on investments, increased interest expense arising from the issuance of subordinated convertible debt in the
second quarter of fiscal year 2002 and the amortization of financing charges incurred related to the $150 million
asset-backed, borrowing-base credit facility obtained in the first quarter of fiscal year 2002.
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Results of Operations—PalmSource

The following table sets forth PalmSource segment statement of operations data and is also expressed as a
percentage of PalmSource revenues for the fiscal years indicated (dollars in thousands):

Years ended May 31,

2003 2002 2001

Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 73,414 100.0% $ 69,883 100.0% $ 86,432 100.0%
Costs and operating expenses:

Cost of revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,719 7.8 4,931 7.1 2,580 3.0
Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,272 23.5 19,309 27.6 25,589 29.6
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40,101 54.6 50,033 71.6 55,491 64.2
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,374 16.9 12,779 18.3 12,855 14.9
Amortization of goodwill and intangible
assets (*) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,942 6.7 5,983 8.6 9,414 10.9

Separation costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,024 6.9 519 0.7 1,461 1.7
Restructuring charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,984 2.7 2,196 3.1 2,226 2.6
Purchased in-process technology . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 210 0.2

Total costs and operating expenses . . . . . 87,416 119.1 95,750 137.0 109,826 127.1

Operating loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (14,002) (19.1) (25,867) (37.0) (23,394) (27.1)
Interest and other income (expense), net . . . . . . . . . (5,134) (7.0) (677) (1.0) 11 —

Loss before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(19,136) (26.1)% $(26,544) (38.0)% $ (23,383) (27.1)%

(*) Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets:
Cost of revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,530 6.1% $ 5,672 8.1% $ 2,869 3.3%
Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 11 — 529 0.6
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 282 0.4 223 0.4 5,968 6.9
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 130 0.2 77 0.1 48 0.1

Total amortization of goodwill and
intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,942 6.7% $ 5,983 8.6% $ 9,414 10.9%

The business segment information included in this MD&A has been prepared in accordance with SFAS
No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, and is based upon the financial
information used by management for assessing segment performance. The accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as for the Company as a whole, except that for segment reporting purposes, PalmSource
recognizes intersegment revenues from the Solutions Group based on information reported by the Solutions
Group in the month subsequent to the period of sale by the Solutions Group of a Palm OS device, in accordance
with the Palm OS license agreement between PalmSource and the Solutions Group. The license agreement
between Solutions Group and PalmSource became effective December 3, 2001 when PalmSource was
established as a separate legal entity. For periods prior to December 3, 2001, business segment information
includes imputed royalties as revenues for PalmSource and cost of revenues for Solutions Group. These imputed
royalties would not be reported as revenues of PalmSource or as cost of revenues of Solutions Group under
generally accepted accounting principles in the separate financial statements of the respective entities.
Intersegment revenues and expenses between Solutions Group and PalmSource are eliminated in consolidation.
For management reporting purposes, the Company does not allocate income tax provision (benefit) to the
operating segments.
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PalmSource Comparison of Fiscal Years Ended May 31, 2003 and 2002

Revenues

Revenues were $73.4 million in fiscal year 2003 and $69.9 million in fiscal year 2002, representing an
increase of 5% from fiscal year 2002 to 2003. Revenues from Palm Solutions Group were $39.1 million and
$43.4 million, representing 53.3% and 62.2% of revenues in fiscal years 2003 and 2002, respectively. License
and royalty revenues were $67.4 million in fiscal year 2003 and $66.9 million in fiscal year 2002 representing an
increase of less than 1% in fiscal year 2003 from fiscal year 2002. The slight increase in license and royalty
revenues in fiscal year 2003 from 2002 was primarily due to increased royalties received from Sony and
increased license fees from new license agreements, offset by lower royalties received from Palm Solutions
Group and Handspring due to lower Palm Solutions Group and Handspring revenues from the sales of Palm
Powered devices. In fiscal year 2003, PalmSource received a payment of $3.6 million from Palm Solutions
Group as a result of Palm Solutions Group’s shortfall under its minimum annual commitment for the annual
contractual period ending December 3, 2002. Support and service revenues were $6.0 million in fiscal year 2003
and $3.0 million in fiscal year 2002, representing growth of 100% in fiscal year 2003 from fiscal year 2002. The
increase in fiscal year 2003 from fiscal year 2002 was due to the increase in the number of licensees with
maintenance and support agreements and the establishment of the professional services business during the
fourth quarter of fiscal year 2002.

Total Cost of Revenues

‘Total cost of revenues’ is comprised of ‘Cost of revenues’ and the applicable portion of ‘Amortization of
intangible assets’ as shown in the PalmSource results of operations table. ‘Total cost of revenues’ was
$10.2 million in fiscal year 2003 and $10.6 million in fiscal year 2002. ‘Total cost of revenues’ as a percentage
of revenues was 13.9% in fiscal year 2003 compared to 15.2% in fiscal year 2002. ‘Cost of revenues’ principally
represents royalty payments to third-party technology vendors, costs to provide software updates and technical
support for software products, and costs to provide product development, engineering services, consulting and
training. ‘Cost of revenues’ was $5.7 million in fiscal year 2003 and $4.9 million in fiscal year 2002,
representing 7.8% and 7.1% of revenues, respectively. Cost of license and royalty revenues was $3.0 million in
fiscal year 2003 and $2.8 million in fiscal year 2002, representing 4.1% and 4.0% of revenues, respectively. The
increase in cost of license and royalty revenues in fiscal year 2003 from fiscal year 2002 in absolute dollars and
as a percentage of revenue was due to increased royalties paid to new and existing third-party technology
vendors. Cost of support and service revenues was $2.7 million in fiscal year 2003 and $2.1 million in fiscal year
2002, representing 3.7% and 3.0% of revenues, respectively. The increase in cost of support and service revenues
in absolute dollars in fiscal year 2003 from fiscal year 2002 was primarily due to costs associated with the
delivery of professional services of $0.6 million. Cost of support and service revenues as a percentage of
revenues increased due to an increase in the number of licensees with support and maintenance agreements. The
‘Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets’ applicable to cost of revenues was $4.5 million in fiscal year
2003 compared to $5.7 million in fiscal year 2002.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel and related costs of our direct sales force and
marketing staff and the cost of marketing programs, including advertising, trade shows, promotional materials
and customer conferences and related information technology and facilities costs. Sales and marketing expenses
were $17.3 million in fiscal year 2003 and $19.3 million in fiscal year 2002, representing a decrease of 11% in
fiscal year 2003 from fiscal year 2002. Sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenues were 23.5% in
fiscal year 2003 and 27.6% in fiscal year 2002. The decrease in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenues
in sales and marketing expenses in fiscal year 2003 compared to fiscal year 2002 was due to lower expenses of
approximately $2.7 million incurred associated with the PalmSource developer conference which was scaled
back in fiscal year 2003 to a local/regional conference from a large global conference in fiscal year 2002.
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Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel and related costs to support our product
development and related information technology and facilities costs. Research and development expenses were
$40.1 million in fiscal year 2003 and $50.0 million in fiscal year 2002, representing a decrease of 20% in fiscal
year 2003 from fiscal year 2002. Research and development expenses as a percentage of revenues were 54.6% in
fiscal year 2003 and 71.6% in fiscal year 2002. The decrease in research and development expenses in absolute
dollars and as a percentage of revenues was due to reduced personnel and related expenses and facilities costs as
a result of restructuring actions implemented to realign our resources with our business plan. Headcount
decreased by approximately 22% in fiscal year 2003 from fiscal year 2002.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel and related costs for general corporate
functions, including executive, legal, finance, accounting, human resources and related information technology
and facilities costs. General and administrative expenses were $12.4 million in fiscal year 2003 and $12.8 million
in fiscal year 2002, representing a decrease of 3% in fiscal year 2003 from fiscal year 2002. General and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues were 16.9% in fiscal year 2003 and 18.3% in fiscal year
2002. The decrease in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenues was primarily due to reduced personnel
and related expenses as a result of restructuring actions implemented to realign our resources with our business
plan and a new lower cost facility.

Amortization of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets consisting of amortization related to our acquisitions was $4.9 million in
fiscal year 2003 and $6.0 million in fiscal year 2002. The decrease in amortization of intangibles in fiscal year
2003 from fiscal year 2002 was primarily due to purchased intangibles for WeSync and Smartcode becoming
fully amortized during fiscal year 2003 offset by a full year’s amortization cost in fiscal year 2003 for the Be
acquisition which occurred in November 2001.

Separation Costs

Separation costs reflect costs related to separating our businesses, such as consulting and professional fees.
Separation costs in fiscal years 2003 and 2002 primarily consisted of the costs related to the establishment of
PalmSource as a separate independent company. Separation costs were $5.0 million in fiscal year 2003 and
$0.5 million in fiscal year 2002. We expect to continue to incur separation costs in fiscal year 2004 relating to
our separation from Palm.

Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges principally consisted of workforce reductions, including severance, benefits, related
expenses and facility closings. Restructuring charges were $2.0 million in fiscal year 2003 and $2.2 million in
fiscal year 2002. The restructuring charges in the third quarter fiscal year 2003 action were primarily workforce
reduction costs for severance, benefits and related costs, of $2.0 million, which consisted of approximately
60 regular employees, primarily in the United States and facilities and property and equipment that will be
disposed of or removed from service, of approximately $0.2 million. As of May 31, 2003, headcount reductions
were essentially complete. Approximately $1.9 million cash has been paid in relation to this restructuring action
initiated to better align the expense structure with revenues. The restructuring charges in fiscal year 2002
consisted of two restructuring actions initiated during the second and fourth quarters of fiscal year 2002. These
charges consisted of an estimated loss on lease commitments for excess facilities of approximately $1.6 million,
as well as workforce reduction costs primarily related to severance, benefits and related costs of $0.6 million.
During the year ended May 31, 2003, PalmSource recorded restructuring adjustments totaling $0.2 million to
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reflect the changes in the estimated costs of certain actions from the original estimates. The workforce reductions
affected a small number of regular employees in Europe. As of May 31, 2003, the headcount reductions related to
the fiscal year 2002 restructuring actions are complete and the headcount reductions related to the fiscal year
2003 restructuring actions are essentially complete and are expected to be settled in fiscal year 2004 resulting in
annual savings of approximately $9.6 million.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest and other expense was $5.1 million in fiscal year 2003 and $0.7 million in fiscal year 2002. The
increase in interest and other expense in fiscal year 2003 from fiscal year 2002 was primarily due to a
$3.2 million charge to write down an investment in a privately-held company, which had been carried at cost and
for which we determined the decline in value to be other than temporary. The increase was also attributed to
$1.3 million of expense relating to a $50.0 million bond posted relative to the Xerox litigation and $0.5 million
due to interest on a $20.0 million, 2.48% intercompany note payable, which is eliminated in consolidation.

PalmSource Comparison of Fiscal Years Ended May 31, 2002 and 2001

Revenues

Revenues were $69.9 million in fiscal year 2002 and $86.4 million in fiscal year 2001, representing a
decrease of 19% in fiscal year 2002 from fiscal year 2001. Revenues from Palm Solutions Group were
$43.4 million and $60.3 million, representing 62.2% and 69.8% of revenues in fiscal years 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Revenue from Palm Solutions Group consisted primarily of royalty fees received for shipment of
PDAs. License and royalty revenues were $66.9 million in fiscal years 2002 and $85.1 million in fiscal year
2001, representing a decrease of 21% in fiscal year 2002 from fiscal year 2001. The decrease in license and
royalty revenues in fiscal year 2002 from fiscal year 2001 was principally due to lower royalties received from
Palm Solutions Group as a result of lower Palm Solutions Group revenues. Support and service revenues were
$3.0 million in fiscal year 2002 and $1.3 million in fiscal year 2001, representing an increase of 121% in fiscal
year 2002 from fiscal year 2001. The increase in fiscal year 2002 from fiscal year 2001 was due to the increase in
the number of licensees with maintenance and support agreements and the establishment of the professional
services business during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2002.

Total Cost of Revenues

‘Total cost of revenues’ is comprised of ‘Cost of revenues’ and the applicable portion of ‘Amortization of
intangible assets’ as shown in the PalmSource results of operations table. ‘Total cost of revenues’ was
$10.6 million in fiscal year 2002 and $5.4 million in fiscal year 2001. ‘Total cost of revenues’ as a percentage of
revenues was 15.2% in fiscal year 2002 compared to 6.3% in fiscal year 2001. ‘Cost of revenues’ was
$4.9 million in fiscal year 2002 and $2.6 million in fiscal year 2001, representing 7.1% and 3.0% of revenues,
respectively. Cost of license and royalty revenues was $2.8 million in fiscal year 2002 and $1.1 million in fiscal
year 2001, representing 4.0% and 1.3% of revenues, respectively. The increase in cost of license and royalty
revenues in fiscal year 2002 from fiscal year 2001, in absolute dollars was due to additional royalty payments to
new and existing third-party technology vendors of approximately $1.0 million and additional royalty payments
to eBook content providers of approximately $0.6 million. Cost of support and service revenues was $2.1 million
in fiscal year 2002 and $1.5 million in fiscal year 2001, representing 3.0% and 1.7% of revenues, respectively.
The increase in cost of support and service revenues, both in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenues, in
fiscal year 2002 from fiscal year 2001 was due to increased support and service personnel to support new
licensees of approximately $0.3 million and costs associated with the delivery of professional services of
approximately $0.3 million. The ‘Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets’ applicable to the cost of
revenues was $5.7 million in fiscal year 2002 compared to $2.9 million in fiscal year 2001.
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Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses were $19.3 million in fiscal year 2002 and $25.6 million in fiscal year 2001,
representing a decrease of 25% in fiscal year 2002 from fiscal year 2001. Sales and marketing expenses as a
percentage of revenues were 27.6% in fiscal year 2002 and 29.6% in fiscal year 2001. The decrease, both in
absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenues, in sales and marketing expenses in fiscal year 2002 compared to
fiscal year 2001 was due to restructuring actions taken to reduce personnel and related expenses and facilities
costs as we downsized our international operations of approximately $2.3 million in order to realign our
resources with our business plan.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses were $50.0 million in fiscal year 2002 and $55.5 million in fiscal year
2001, representing a decrease of 10% in fiscal year 2002 from fiscal year 2001. Research and development
expenses as a percentage of revenues were 71.6% in fiscal year 2002 and 64.2% in fiscal year 2001. The decrease
in research and development expenses in absolute dollars was due to reduced personnel and related expenses and
facilities costs as a result of restructuring actions implemented to realign our resources with our business plan.
The increase in research and development expenses as a percentage of revenues in fiscal year 2002 from fiscal
year 2001 was due to a decline in revenues in fiscal year 2002 compared to fiscal year 2001.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were $12.8 million in fiscal year 2002 and $12.9 million in fiscal year
2001, representing a decrease of 1% in fiscal year 2002 from fiscal year 2001. General and administrative
expenses as a percentage of revenues were 18.3% in fiscal year 2002 and 14.9% in fiscal year 2001. The increase
in general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues in fiscal year 2002 from fiscal year 2001 was
due to a decrease in revenues in fiscal year 2002 compared to fiscal year 2001.

Amortization of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets was $6.0 million in fiscal year 2002 and $9.4 million in fiscal year 2001.
The decrease was primarily the result of the implementation of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets, at the beginning of fiscal year 2002, which resulted in goodwill no longer being amortized. The decrease
was partially offset by amortization of purchased intangibles related to the November 2001 business combination
with Be Incorporated and by recording a full year’s amortization related to the fiscal year 2001 business
combinations with WeSync and peanutpress.

Separation Costs

Separation costs reflect costs related to separating our businesses, such as consulting and professional fees.
Separation costs were $0.5 million in fiscal year 2002 and $1.5 million in fiscal year 2001. Separation costs in
fiscal year 2002 primarily consisted of the establishment of PalmSource as a separate business. Separation costs
in fiscal year 2001 were related to Palm’s separation from 3Com in fiscal year 2000.

Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges were $2.2 million in both fiscal years 2002 and 2001. The restructuring charges in
fiscal year 2002 consisted of two restructuring actions initiated during the second and fourth quarters of fiscal
year 2002. These charges consisted of an estimated loss on lease commitments for excess facilities of
approximately $1.6 million, as well as workforce reduction costs primarily related to severance, benefits and
related costs of $0.6 million. The workforce reductions affected a small number of regular employees in Europe.
The restructuring charges in fiscal year 2001 related to the implementation of a series of cost reduction actions to
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minimize the impact of the economic slowdown. The restructuring charges primarily consisted of workforce
reduction costs for severance, benefits and related costs of $2.0 million, and costs related to lease commitments
for excess facilities of $0.2 million, of which all has been paid in cash. The fiscal year 2001 workforce reductions
affected approximately 45 regular employees, across all geographic regions and approximately $2.0 million had
been paid in cash since inception of the action through May 31, 2002. The restructuring charges in fiscal year
2002 consisted of estimated loss on lease commitments for excess facilities, as well as workforce reduction costs
primarily related to severance, benefits and related costs. The restructuring actions initiated in fiscal year 2002
have been completed.

Purchased In-Process Technology

Purchased in-process technology in fiscal year 2001 was a result of our business combination with
peanutpress. Approximately $0.2 million of the purchase price of peanutpress represented purchased in-process
technology that had not yet reached technological feasibility, had no alternative future use and was charged to
operations.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest and other expense was $0.7 million in fiscal year 2002 and interest and other income was less than
$0.1 million in fiscal year 2001. The change in interest and other income (expense) in fiscal year 2002 from
fiscal year 2001 was primarily due to $0.3 million of expenses relating to a $50.0 million bond relative to the
Xerox litigation and $0.2 million in interest on a $20.0 million 2.48% intercompany note payable, which is
eliminated in consolidation.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents at May 31, 2003 were $242.4 million, compared to $278.5 million at May 31,
2002. The decrease of $36.1 million in cash and cash equivalents was attributable to cash used in operating
activities of $63.9 million, cash provided by investing activities of $5.3 million and cash provided by financing
activities of $22.5 million. Cash used in operating activities consisted primarily of the net loss of $442.6 million
reduced by non-cash charges of $366.7 million and an increase in accrued restructuring and other liabilities of
$14.6 million. In connection with investing activities, we received $18.0 million in net proceeds from the sale of
short-term investments, offset by the use of $11.4 million to purchase property and equipment and $1.0 million to
purchase an equity investment in a privately-held company. Cash provided by financing activities consisted of
$20.0 million received from Sony for a 6.25% ownership position in PalmSource and $2.5 million of net
proceeds from the issuance of Palm common stock.

Accounts receivables, net of the allowance for doubtful accounts, was $97.4 million at May 31, 2003 an
increase of $33.8 million or 53% from $63.6 million at May 31, 2002. Days sales outstanding (“DSO”) of
receivables increased to 39 days at May 31, 2003 from 25 days at May 31, 2002. The increase in accounts
receivable and DSO was primarily due to the lower percentage of the revenue shipped in the third month of the
fourth quarter of fiscal year 2002 as compared to fiscal year 2003. In addition, in the fourth quarter of fiscal year
2002, we offered limited early payment incentives which reduced the May 31, 2002 accounts receivable by
approximately $4.9 million. The allowance for doubtful accounts represented approximately 4% of gross
accounts receivable at May 31, 2003 versus approximately 10% of gross accounts receivable at May 2002. At
May 31, 2002, the allowance for doubtful accounts included reserves for certain specific individually small direct
customer accounts receivable which constituted approximately 5% of the gross receivables at that date. During
fiscal year 2003, these small direct customer accounts receivable were deemed uncollectible and were written-off
resulting in a reduction in the allowance for doubtful accounts both in absolute dollars and as a percentage of
gross accounts receivable. The allowance for doubtful accounts is determined based upon our collections
experience, our assessment of specifically identified accounts and risks related to customer mix. During fiscal
year 2003, there were no significant changes in our collection policies or payment terms.
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We lease our facilities and certain equipment under capital and operating lease arrangements which expire
at various dates through September 2011. As of May 31, 2003, future minimum lease payments under
noncancelable operating leases are $12.6 million in fiscal year 2004, $11.1 million in fiscal year 2005,
$6.7 million in fiscal year 2006, $5.4 million in fiscal year 2007, $5.5 million in fiscal year 2008 and an
aggregate of $17.5 million thereafter.

In December 2001, we issued a subordinated convertible note in the principal amount of $50.0 million to
Texas Instruments. The note bears interest at 5.0% per annum, is due in December 2006 and is convertible into
our common stock at an effective conversion price of $92.64 per share. We may force a conversion, provided our
common stock has traded above $142.65 per share for a defined period of time. In the event Palm distributes
significant assets, we may be required to repay a portion of the note. The proposed PalmSource distribution does
not represent a significant distribution of assets under terms of the note. The note agreement defines certain
events of default pursuant to which the full amount of the note plus interest could become due and payable.

As of May 31, 2003, we had in place an asset-backed borrowing-base credit facility from a group of
financial institutions for up to a maximum of $150 million with the actual amount available determined by
eligible accounts receivable and inventory as well as a real estate line of credit less the amount of any
outstanding cash advances and letters of credit. As of May 31, 2003, we had used our credit facility to support the
issuance of letters of credit of $4.6 million. In June 2003, the asset-backed borrowing-base credit facility expired.
The $4.6 million of letters of credit issued under the credit facility were replaced by new letters of credit
collateralized with restricted cash.

On August 28, 2003, Palm entered into a two-year, $30.0 million revolving credit line from Silicon Valley
Bank (“SVB”). The credit line is secured by assets of the Company, including but not limited to cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, inventory and property and equipment. The interest rate is equal to SVB’s
prime rate (4% at August 28, 2003) or, at Palm’s election subject to specific requirements, equal to LIBOR plus
1.75% (2.87% at August 28, 2003). The interest rate may vary based on fluctuations in market rates. Palm is
subject to a financial covenant requirement under the agreement to maintain unrestricted cash on deposit in the
United States of not less than $100.0 million.

In September 2001, PalmSource’s president and chief executive officer received two restricted stock grants
in aggregate of 7,500 shares of Palm common stock under a two-year vesting schedule subject to vesting
restrictions and a guarantee that the fair market value of the related 7,500 shares of Palm common stock would be
at least $2.0 million at September 2003. The guaranteed amount is recorded ratably as compensation expense
over the vesting period. If on September 1, 2003 the fair market value is less than $2.0 million, PalmSource’s
president and chief executive officer will receive a cash payment, on September 15, 2003, equal to the difference
between $2.0 million and the fair market value of 7,500 shares of Palm common stock. As of May 31, 2003, the
total fair market value of 7,500 shares of Palm common stock was approximately $0.1 million and $1.7 million is
recorded as a liability related to this guarantee.

The Company has patent and license agreements with third party vendors under which we are committed to
pay up to $3.7 million in fiscal year 2004, $4.7 million in fiscal year 2005, $2.1 million in fiscal year 2006,
$0.5 million in fiscal year 2007, $0.4 million in fiscal year 2008 and $0.3 million in fiscal year 2009.

Palm has a minimum component purchase commitment with a third party under which we could be liable
for payments of up to a maximum of $4.9 million during calendar year 2003.
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The following is a summary of the contractual commitments associated with our debt and lease obligations,
as well as our purchase commitments as of May 31, 2003 (in thousands):

Year Ending May 31,

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter

Operating lease commitments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $12,638 $11,079 $6,747 $ 5,369 $5,481 $17,468
Capital lease commitments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 891 149 — — — —
Long-term convertible note . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — 50,000 — —
Guarantee of fair value of certain restricted
stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,000 — — — — —

Minimum purchase commitments:
Minimum commitment to third party . . . . . . . 4,900 — — — — —
Patent and license . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,683 4,723 2,135 475 439 335

Total contractual commitments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $24,112 $15,951 $8,882 $55,844 $5,920 $17,803

Palm utilizes contract manufacturers to build its products. These contract manufacturers acquire components
and build product based on demand forecast information supplied by Palm, which typically covers a rolling
12-month period. Consistent with industry practice, Palm acquires inventories through a combination of formal
purchase orders, supplier contracts, and open orders based on projected demand information. Such formal and
informal purchase commitments typically cover Palm’s forecasted component and manufacturing requirements
for periods ranging from 30 to 90 days. As of May 31, 2003, Palm had outstanding third-party manufacturing
commitments and component purchase commitments of approximately $82 million.

In March 2002, we filed a universal shelf registration statement to give us the flexibility to sell up to
$200 million of debt securities, common stock, preferred stock, depository shares and warrants in one or more
offerings and in any combination thereof. The net proceeds from the sale of securities offered are intended for
general corporate purposes, including to meet working capital needs and for capital expenditures. We had not
sold any securities under this universal shelf registration statement as of May 31, 2003. On August 22, 2003, we
sold 1.2 million shares of common stock under the registration statement to an institutional investor for proceeds
of $18.0 million. As of August 29, 2003, we had entered into agreements to sell an additional 1.2 million shares
of common stock under the registration statement to institutional investors for additional proceeds of
approximately $19.1 million.

We denominate our sales to certain European customers in the Euro and in Pounds Sterling. We also incur
expenses in a variety of currencies. We hedge certain balance sheet exposures and intercompany balances against
future movements in foreign currency exchange rates by using foreign exchange forward contracts. Gains and
losses on the contracts are intended to offset foreign exchange gains or losses from the revaluation of assets and
liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the reporting entity. All such gains
(losses) of $0.3 million, $(1.0) million and $0.5 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, are
included in interest and other income (expense) in our consolidated statements of operations. Our foreign
exchange forward contracts generally mature within 30 days. We do not intend to utilize derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes.

Based on current plans and business conditions, we believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will
be sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash requirements for at least the next 12 months. The net cash used in
operating activities during fiscal year 2003 was approximately $63.9 million and we anticipate a similar or lesser
amount over the next 12 months, which would be satisfied by our May 31, 2003 cash and cash equivalents
balance of $242.4 million. Subsequent to fiscal year end, we sold 1.2 million shares of our common stock to an
institutional investor for proceeds of $18.0 million. As of August 29, 2003, we had entered into agreements to
sell an additional 1.2 million shares of common stock to institutional investors for additional proceeds of
approximately $19.1 million. Based on our current forecast, we do not anticipate any short-term or long-term
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liquidity deficiencies. We cannot be certain, however, that our underlying assumed levels of revenues and
expenses will be accurate. If our operating results do not meet our expectations or if inventory, accounts
receivable or other assets require a greater use of cash than is currently anticipated, we could be required to seek
additional funding through public or private financings or other arrangements. In such event, adequate funds may
not be available when needed or may not be available on favorable terms, which could have a negative effect on
our business and financial condition.

Effects of Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation
(“FIN”) No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. FIN No. 45 requires that a liability be recorded in the guarantor’s balance
sheet upon issuance of a guarantee. In addition, FIN No. 45 requires disclosures about the guarantees that an
entity has issued, including a reconciliation of changes in the entity’s product warranty liabilities. The initial
recognition and initial measurement provisions of FIN No. 45 are applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees
issued or modified after December 31, 2002, irrespective of the guarantor’s fiscal year end. The disclosure
requirements of FIN No. 45 are effective for financial statements of interim or annual periods ending after
December 15, 2002. Palm adopted FIN No. 45 during the quarter ended February 28, 2003, which did not have
an impact on the Company’s historical financial position or results of operations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, an
amendment of SFAS No. 123 to provide alternative methods of transition for an entity that voluntarily changes to
the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, it amends the
disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosure in both annual and interim financial
statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method
used on reported results. SFAS No. 148 is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The new
interim disclosure provisions are effective for the first interim period beginning after December 15, 2002, which,
for Palm, will be the quarter ended August 31, 2003. The adoption of this statement did not have an impact on
the Company’s historical financial position or results of operations.

In April, 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities, which amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments,
including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities under SFAS
No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. SFAS No. 149 requires that contracts
with comparable characteristics be accounted for similarly and clarifies under what circumstances a contract with
an initial net investment meets the characteristic of a derivative and when a derivative contains a financing
component. SFAS No. 149 also amends the definition of an underlying to conform it to language used in FIN
No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others. SFAS No. 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003,
with certain exceptions. The adoption of SFAS No. 149 will not have an impact on the Company’s historical
financial position or results of operations.

In May, 2003 the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity, which establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and
measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS No. 150 requires
that an issuer classify a financial instrument that falls within its scope as a liability (or an asset in some
circumstances). SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003,
and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003, which for
Palm is the quarter ended November 30, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 will not have an impact on the
Company’s historical financial position or results of operations.
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Business Environment and Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks described below and the other information in this Form 10-K. The
risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing Palm, and there may be additional risks that
we do not presently know of or that we currently deem immaterial. The business, results of operations or
financial condition of Palm could be seriously harmed if any of these risks materialize. The trading price of
shares of Palm common stock may also decline due to any of these risks.

Company-Specific Trends and Risks:

Risks Related to Our Business

On June 4, 2003, we announced our intention to distribute the shares that we own of our PalmSource
subsidiary to our stockholders and to acquire Handspring through a merger transaction. If the transaction
is not completed, our stock price and business may be adversely affected, and we may have an outstanding
note from Handspring that may be subject to risk of default. Even if the transaction is completed, we may
not realize the benefits because of integration and other challenges.

On June 4, 2003, we announced a definitive agreement to distribute the shares that we own of our
PalmSource subsidiary to our stockholders and to acquire Handspring. The boards of directors of both Palm and
Handspring have approved the merger, but final consummation of the PalmSource distribution and Handspring
merger, which is expected to be completed this fall at the earliest, is contingent on the vote of both the Palm and
Handspring stockholders as well as other customary closing conditions.

Palm and Handspring have made the required filings under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements
Act of 1976 with the United States Federal Trade Commission and Department of Justice and the statutory
waiting period has terminated. Even after the statutory waiting period or the completion of the Handspring
merger, governmental authorities could seek to block or challenge the Handspring merger. Palm and Handspring
also may agree to restrictions or conditions imposed by antitrust authorities in order to obtain regulatory
approval, and these restrictions or conditions could harm the combined company’s operations. Moreover, a
competitor, customer or other third party could initiate a private action under the antitrust laws challenging or
seeking to enjoin the Handspring merger, before or after it is completed. The stockholders of either Palm or
Handspring may also fail to approve the Handspring merger at their respective stockholder meetings.

If the transaction is not completed, the trading price of Palm common stock may decline. In addition, our
business and operations may be harmed to the extent that customers, suppliers and others believe that we cannot
effectively compete in the marketplace without the transaction, or there is customer or employee uncertainty
surrounding the future direction of our product and service offerings and strategy on a standalone basis.
Moreover, Palm has incurred and will incur transaction costs associated with the Handspring merger, including
but not limited to legal, banking, consulting, printing and accounting fees which will not be recoverable if the
merger transaction does not close. In addition, each of Palm and Handspring have agreed to pay to the other a
termination fee if the merger agreement is terminated, under certain specified circumstances. Any delay in the
completion of the Handspring merger could diminish the anticipated benefits of the merger, result in additional
transaction costs or result in loss of revenue or other effects associated with uncertainty about the transaction.

In connection with the merger agreement, we may be required to loan up to $20.0 million to Handspring to
fund its operations. As of June 28, 2003, Handspring’s accumulated deficit was $417.3 million and its net worth
was $6.6 million. In addition, Handspring is likely to continue to incur losses in the short-term. If the transaction
does not close, the term loans may be subject to a risk of default, and while the loans would be collateralized by
all of the assets of Handspring, such assets may not be sufficient to allow Palm to fully recover the loaned funds.
Furthermore, the loaned funds could help Handspring in competing against us in various segments of the mobile
computing market.

52



Realizing the benefits of the transaction will depend in part on the integration of technology, operations and
personnel. The integration of the companies is a complex, time consuming and expensive process that, without
proper planning and implementation, could significantly disrupt our Solutions Group business. We are currently
planning this integration process which is diverting the attention of our management and employees and causing
us to incur expenses and use cash. If the transaction is not completed, this time and money will not be
recoverable. Furthermore, our failure to meet the challenges involved in integrating the operations of our
Solutions Group and Handspring in a timely manner, or at all, or otherwise to realize any of the anticipated
benefits of the transaction could seriously harm our results of operations.

If we do not externally separate our PalmSource and Solutions Group businesses, our business, results of
operations and stock price could suffer.

If we do not distribute our PalmSource common stock to our stockholders, our business may be adversely
affected because we may lose current licensees and/or attract fewer new licensees to the Palm OS platform due to
concern about lack of independence from the products of our Solutions Group. This could result in the Palm OS
platform being less competitive. In addition, we may face challenges managing our two independent businesses
in a single company without compromising business opportunities for one business because of potentially
conflicting business priorities with the other business. We may also have difficulty attracting and retaining key
employees without an external separation. In addition, if the distribution of PalmSource common stock to our
stockholders is delayed or not completed, our stock price could decline, and we would not be able to recover the
significant costs and diversion of management and employee attention that we have incurred and will continue to
incur in planning for and implementing the external separation.

If we fail to develop and introduce new products and services successfully and in a timely manner, we will
not be able to compete effectively and our ability to generate revenues will suffer.

We operate in a highly competitive, rapidly evolving environment, and our future success depends on our
ability to develop and introduce new products and services that our customers and end-users choose to buy. If we
are unsuccessful at developing and introducing new products and services that are appealing to our customers
and end-users with acceptable prices and terms, we will not be able to compete effectively and our ability to
generate revenues will suffer.

The development of new products and services can be very difficult and requires high levels of innovation.
The development process is also lengthy and costly. If we fail to anticipate our end users’ needs or technological
trends accurately or are unable to complete the development of products and services in a cost effective and
timely fashion, we will be unable to introduce new products and services into the market or successfully compete
with other providers. In addition, if we fail to timely develop wireless products that meet carrier product planning
cycles, our wireless device sales volumes may be negatively impacted. As a result, our revenues and cost of
revenues could be adversely affected.

As we introduce new or enhanced products or integrate new technology into new or existing products, we
face risks relating to such transitions including, among other things, disruption in customers’ ordering patterns,
excessive levels of older product inventories, delivering sufficient supplies of new products to meet customers’
demand, possible product and technology defects arising from the integration of new technology, and a
potentially different sales and support environment relating to any new technology. Our failure to manage the
transition to newer products or the integration of newer technology into new or existing products could adversely
affect our business and financial results.
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If we do not correctly anticipate demand for our products, we could have costly excess production or
inventories or we may not be able to secure sufficient quantities or cost-effective production of our
handheld devices and our cost of revenues could be adversely impacted.

The demand for our products depends on many factors, including pricing levels, and is difficult to forecast
due in part to competition, variations in economic conditions, seasonality, changes in consumer and enterprise
preferences and relatively short product life cycles. It is particularly difficult to forecast demand by individual
product. Significant unanticipated fluctuations in demand could result in costly excess production of inventories
or the inability to secure sufficient quantities or cost-effective production of our handheld devices. This could
adversely impact our cost of revenues and financial condition.

Our operating results are subject to fluctuations, and if we fail to meet the expectations of securities
analysts or investors, our stock price may decrease significantly.

Our operating results are difficult to predict. Our future operating results may fluctuate significantly and
may not meet our expectations or those of securities analysts or investors. If this occurs, the price of our stock
will likely decline. Factors that may cause fluctuations in our operating results include, but are not limited to, the
following:

Š changes in consumer and enterprise spending levels;

Š changes in general economic conditions and specific market conditions;

Š changes in consumer and enterprise preferences for our products and services;

Š price and product competition from other handheld devices or other devices with similar functionality;

Š seasonality of demand for our products and services;

Š variations in product costs or the mix of products sold;

Š quality issues with our products;

Š changes in pricing or promotional programs;

Š inability of our third party manufacturers to produce quality products on time;

Š failure to achieve targeted product cost reductions and operating expense reductions;

Š the timely introduction and market acceptance of new products and services;

Š excess inventory or insufficient inventory to meet demand;

Š unpredictability of product introductions by our licensees and market acceptance of such products; and

Š litigation brought against us.

Any of the foregoing factors, or any other factors discussed elsewhere herein, could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Economic conditions and increased competition could lead to reduced demand for our products.

The downturn in general economic conditions and the substantial decline in the stock market have led to
reduced demand for a variety of goods and services, including many technology products. Economic conditions
have created a challenging environment in the PDA market which experienced a decline in unit shipments and
value of shipments from calendar year 2001 to 2002, according to IDC, declining average selling prices and
increased competition. If conditions continue to decline, or fail to improve, we could see a further decrease in the
overall demand for our products that could negatively affect our operating results. This is particularly true with
respect to a number of our premium products as they typically carry a list price in excess of $300 and therefore
are expensive purchases for many consumers and enterprises.
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We rely on third party manufacturers to design and manufacture our handheld devices and third party
distribution centers to distribute our handheld devices, and our reputation and revenues could be
adversely affected if these third parties fail to meet their performance obligations.

We outsource most of our hardware design to third party manufacturers. We depend on their design
expertise and we rely on them to design our products at satisfactory quality levels. If our third party
manufacturers fail to provide quality hardware design, our reputation and revenues could suffer.

We outsource all of our manufacturing requirements to third party manufacturers. We depend on them to
produce a sufficient volume of our products in a timely fashion and at satisfactory quality levels. If our third
party manufacturers fail to produce quality products on time and in sufficient quantities, our reputation and
results of operations could suffer. In addition, we rely on our third party manufacturers to place orders with
suppliers for the components they need to manufacture our products. If they fail to place timely and sufficient
orders with suppliers, our revenues could suffer.

Our device products are currently manufactured by our third party manufacturers at their international
facilities, which are primarily located in China. In addition, we have entered into an agreement with a third party
manufacturer to manufacture and sell our handheld device products in Brazil. The cost, quality and availability of
third party manufacturing operations are essential to the successful production and sale of our handheld devices.
Our reliance on third party manufacturers exposes us to risks, which are not in our control and our revenues or
cost of revenues could be negatively impacted. For example, the Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS)
outbreak in China could result in quarantines or closures of our third party manufacturers or their suppliers. In
the event of such a quarantine or closure, our revenues, or cost of revenues and results of operations, could be
negatively impacted.

We do not have manufacturing agreements with all of the third party manufacturers upon which we rely to
manufacture our device products. The absence of a manufacturing agreement means that, with little or no notice,
these manufacturers could refuse to continue to manufacture all or some of the units of our devices that we
require or change the terms under which they manufacture our device products. If these manufacturers were to
stop manufacturing our devices, we may be unable to replace the lost manufacturing capacity on a timely basis
and our results of operations could be harmed. In addition, if these manufacturers were to change the terms under
which they manufacture for us, our manufacturing costs could increase and our cost of revenues could increase.

Our contract distribution facilities are physically separated from our contract manufacturing locations. This
requires additional lead-time to move products to customers. If we are shipping products near the end of the
quarter, this extra time could result in us not meeting anticipated shipment volumes for that quarter, which may
negatively impact the timing of our revenues. As a result of economic conditions or other factors, our distribution
facility providers may close or move their facilities with little notice to us, which could cause disruption in our
ability to deliver products. In addition, we do not have contracts with all of our third party distribution providers.
The absence of agreements means that, with little or no notice, these distribution facility providers could refuse
to continue to provide warehouse and distribution services for all or some of our devices or change the terms
under which they provide such services. Any disruption of distribution facility services could have a negative
impact on our revenues and results of operations. For example, in July 2003 we were notified by our largest
distribution facility provider, servicing all of the United States and Canada and most of Latin America, that the
warehouse and distribution facility that we utilize will be closed and services will be consolidated into another
facility within the next few months. If this provider is not able to complete this transition in a timely and
seamless manner, delivery of our existing products and the launch of our new Fall products could be adversely
affected. Any interruption or delay in delivery of our products could have a significant, adverse impact on our
market share, revenues, results of operations and financial condition.

Changes in transportation schedules due to terrorist threats or attacks, military activity, labor disruptions or
carrier financial difficulties could cause transportation delays and increase our costs for both receipt of inventory
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and shipment of products to our customers. For instance, our primary domestic freight carrier filed for
bankruptcy immediately after the close of our first quarter of fiscal year 2003. This led to delayed deliveries to
our customers. Additionally, labor disputes of West coast dockworkers in the second quarter of fiscal year 2003
led to less capacity and higher costs for the transportation alternatives we normally use. If these types of
disruptions occur, our results of operations could be adversely impacted.

We depend on our suppliers, some of which are the sole source for certain components and elements of our
technology, and our production or reputation could be seriously harmed if these suppliers were unable to
timely meet our demand or technical requirements on a cost effective basis.

Our device products contain components, including liquid crystal displays, touch panels, memory chips,
microprocessors, cameras and batteries, that are procured from a variety of suppliers. The cost, quality and
availability of components are essential to the successful production and sale of our device products.

Some components, such as displays and certain integrated circuits, digital signal processors,
microprocessors, radio frequency components and other discrete components, come from sole source suppliers,
one of which is also a competitor of ours in certain markets. Alternative sources are not always available or may
be financially prohibitive. If suppliers were unable or unwilling to meet our demand for sole source components
and if we are unable to obtain an alternative source or if the price for an alternative source is prohibitive, our
ability to maintain timely and cost-effective production of our handheld computing device products will be
seriously harmed.

We enter into agreements for the development and licensing of third party technology to be incorporated
into some of our products. Our ability to release and sell our products could be seriously harmed if the third party
technology is not delivered to us in a timely manner or contains errors or defects which are not discovered and
fixed prior to release of our products. Our inability to obtain alternative technology could result in damage to our
reputation as well as lost revenues and divert our development resources from other business objectives.

We rely on our handheld device products as the primary source of our revenues.

Our revenues and our results of operations depend substantially on the commercial success of our Palm
handheld devices. If revenues from our Palm handheld devices fail to meet expectations, our other revenue
sources will likely not be able to compensate for this shortfall and our results of operations may suffer. For the
year ended May 31, 2003, revenues from sales of devices and accessories constituted more than 90% of our
consolidated revenues.

According to IDC, from calendar year 2001 to calendar year 2002, the market for handheld devices has
declined and we derive substantially all of our revenues from this market. If this market fails to return to growth
or continues to decline, our results of operations and our growth potential could be negatively impacted. Our
proposed acquisition of Handspring, which is risky, is an effort to expand into a new product market. However,
the Handspring merger may not be completed or be successful and, regardless of whether the Handspring merger
is completed or successful, we may not have sufficient cash, resources, capacity or experience to expand into
other markets successfully, or at all.

We rely on distributors, retailers and resellers to sell our products, and disruptions to these channels
would adversely affect our ability to generate revenues from the sale of our handheld devices.

Our distributors, retailers and resellers sell products offered by our competitors. If our competitors offer our
distributors, retailers and resellers more favorable terms or have more products available to meet their needs or
utilize the leverage of broader product lines sold through the channel, those distributors, retailers and resellers
may de-emphasize or decline to carry our products. If we are unable to maintain successful relationships with
distributors, retailers and resellers or to expand our distribution channels, our business will suffer.
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Because we sell our products primarily to distributors, retailers and resellers, we are subject to many risks,
including risks related to product returns, either through the exercise of contractual return rights or as a result of
our strategic interest in assisting them in balancing inventories. In addition, our distributors, retailers or resellers
could modify their business practices, such as payment terms or inventory levels. Unexpected changes in return
requests, inventory levels, payment terms or other practices by our channel customers could negatively impact
our revenues or our financial condition.

Distributors, retailers and traditional resellers experience competition from Internet-based resellers that
distribute directly to end-user customers, and there is also competition among Internet-based resellers. We also
sell our products directly to end-user customers from our Palm.com web site. These varied sales channels could
cause conflict among our channels of distribution, which could harm our revenues and results of operations.

If we are unable to compete effectively with existing or new competitors our resulting loss of competitive
position could result in price reductions, fewer customer orders, reduced margins and loss of market
share, and our results of operations and financial condition would suffer.

We compete in the handheld device and operating system software markets. The markets for these products
and services are highly competitive, and we expect increased competition in the future, particularly as companies
from various established industry segments, such as mobile handset, personal computer and consumer
electronics, increasingly develop and market products that compete with us. Some of our competitors or potential
competitors possess capabilities developed over years of serving customers in their respective markets. In
addition, many of our competitors have significantly greater financial, technical and marketing resources than we
do. These competitors may be able to respond more rapidly than we can to new or emerging technologies or
changes in customer requirements. They may also devote greater resources to the development, promotion and
sale of their products. They may also be better able to withstand lower prices in order to gain market share at our
expense. Finally, these competitors bring with them customer loyalties, and such loyalties may limit our ability to
attract new users despite superior product offerings.

Our handheld computing devices compete with a variety of handheld computing products. Our principal
handheld device competitors include:

Š personal computer companies which also develop and sell handheld computing products, such as Acer,
Dell, Hewlett-Packard and Toshiba;

Š consumer electronics companies which also develop and sell handheld computing products, such as
Casio, Sharp and Sony;

Š Research In Motion Limited (“RIM”), a leading provider of wireless email, instant messaging and
Internet connectivity;

Š mobile handset manufacturers which also develop and sell wireless handheld and smartphone products
such as Audiovox, Ericsson, Handspring, HTC Corporation, Kyocera, LG Motorola, Nokia, Samsung,
Sanyo and Sony-Ericsson; and

Š a variety of privately held start-up companies looking to compete in our current and future markets,
such as Danger and Good Technology.

Some competitors sell or license server, desktop and/or laptop computing products in addition to handheld
computing products and may choose to market and sell or license their handheld products at a discounted price or
give them away for free with their other products, which could negatively affect our revenues, sales and
marketing expenses and financial condition.

Certain competitors may have longer and closer relationships with the senior management of enterprise
customers who decide which products and technologies will be deployed in their enterprises. Moreover, these
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competitors may have larger and more established sales forces calling upon potential enterprise customers and
therefore could contact a greater number of potential customers with more frequency. Consequently, these
competitors could have a better competitive position than we do, which could result in potential enterprise
customers deciding not to choose our products and services, which would adversely impact our business,
revenues, sales and marketing expenses and financial condition.

The separation of our Solutions Group and PalmSource businesses into two independent companies may
result in more competition for our Solutions Group’s handheld devices as PalmSource may license the Palm OS
to companies who compete directly or indirectly with our Solutions Group’s business. For example, PalmSource
has a license agreement with Sony and has recently signed Palm OS license agreements with HuneTech, Lenovo
(formerly known as Legend) and Group Sense (International) Limited, located in the Asia Pacific region. If the
revenues and gross margins of our Solutions Group business suffer because of competition from licensees of the
Palm OS platform, our revenues and results of operations could be negatively impacted.

Our Palm OS platform competes in the operating system software and services markets. The markets for
these products and services are highly competitive, and we expect competition to increase in the future. We
compete primarily with Microsoft and Symbian. Microsoft has substantially more resources than we do and has
the ability to impact interoperability with their desktop operating systems and software. Symbian is supported by
companies such as Nokia and Sony-Ericsson and has a significant portion of the worldwide smartphone market
that is important to our future success. Additionally, there are proprietary operating systems, open source
operating systems, such as Linux, and other software technologies, such as Java and RIM’s licensed technology,
which could be integrated into devices that compete with Palm Powered devices. Some of our competitors or
potential competitors have significantly greater financial, technical and marketing resources than we do. These
competitors may provide additional or better functionality than we do, or may be able to respond more rapidly
than we can to new or emerging technologies or changes in customer requirements. They may also devote greater
resources to the development, promotion and sale of their products and services and the third-party developer
community, which could attract the attention of influential user segments. In addition, if Microsoft or other
competitors’ actions were to disrupt the interoperability of Palm Powered devices, the marketability and market
share of Palm OS and Palm Branded devices could be adversely affected.

Successful new product introductions or enhancements by our competitors, or increased market acceptance
of competing products could reduce the sales and market acceptance of our products, cause intense price
competition or could make our products obsolete. To remain competitive, we must continue to invest significant
resources in research and development, sales and marketing and customer support. We cannot be sure that we
will have sufficient resources to make these investments or that we will be able to make the technological
advances necessary to be competitive. Increased competition could result in price reductions, fewer customer
orders, reduced margins and loss of market share. Our failure to compete successfully against current or future
competitors could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our Palm OS platform and handheld devices may contain errors or defects, which could result in the
rejection of our products, damage to our reputation, lost revenues, diverted development resources and
increased service costs and warranty claims.

Our Palm OS platform and our devices are complex and must meet stringent user requirements. In addition,
we warrant that our products will be free of defect for 90 to 365 days after the date of purchase, depending on the
product. In Europe we are required by law in some countries to provide a two-year warranty for certain defects.
We must develop our software and hardware products quickly to keep pace with the rapidly changing handheld
device and operating system markets. Products and services as sophisticated as ours are likely to contain
undetected errors or defects, especially when first introduced or when new models or versions are released. Our
products may not be free from errors or defects after commercial shipments have begun, which could result in the
rejection of our products, damage to our reputation, lost revenues, diverted development resources and increased
customer service and support costs and warranty claims, which could harm our business, revenues, cost of
revenues and financial condition.
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If we are unable to obtain key technology from third parties on a timely basis free from errors or defects,
we may have to cancel or delay the release of certain features in our Palm OS platform and handheld
device product shipments or incur increased costs.

We license third-party software for use in the Palm OS platform and handheld device products, as well as to
provide software development tools to enable applications to be written for our Palm OS platform. In addition to
third-party licensed software, we may enter into joint development agreements with certain licensees of the Palm
OS platform whereby a licensee will develop a specific feature for our Palm OS platform that we will then own
and may later incorporate into new releases of the Palm OS platform. Our ability to release and sell our products
could be seriously harmed if the third-party technology is not delivered to us in a timely manner or contains
errors or defects that are not discovered and fixed prior to release of our products and we are unable to obtain
alternative technology to use in our products. As a result, our product shipments could be delayed or our offering
of features could be reduced, which could adversely affect our business or results of operations. Furthermore, a
third-party developer or joint developer may improperly use or disclose the software we include in the Palm OS
platform or handheld device products, which could adversely affect our competitive position.

In addition, because we license some of our development tools from third parties, our business would suffer
if we could no longer obtain those tools from those third parties or if the tools developers wanted to use were not
available. If we are unable to offer technology that our licensees need to build successful Palm Powered products,
which we obtain by licensing the technology from third parties or developing it internally, then our business may
suffer.

For example, we recently modified the Graffiti handwriting recognition system in our Palm OS, which now
includes a subcomponent of the Jot technology we license from the Communication Intelligence Corporation
(“CIC”). If the technology we license from CIC contains errors or defects or cannot be seamlessly integrated into
the products of our licensees, our licensees’ ability to market their products may be delayed or cancelled. Further,
should we be required to license the Jot technology after expiration or termination of the Jot license, we may be
unable to renegotiate the license on favorable terms or obtain alternative technology from another third party,
which may require us to license other third-party solutions or develop aspects of the functionality ourselves. Any
of these events may result in higher licensing costs to us and delay the shipment of products based on Palm OS,
which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We have internally separated our business into two independent businesses by transferring our Palm OS
and licensing business to our PalmSource subsidiary. If we fail to manage our separate businesses
effectively, our on-going business prospects and overall financial performance may suffer.

In December 2001, we internally separated our business into two independent businesses and formed our
PalmSource subsidiary to hold our Palm OS platform and licensing business with the intent to make PalmSource
an independent public company in 2003. The two independent businesses may fail to sustain efficient operations
or successfully implement their business strategies. The implementation of the two independent business
strategies may result in actions or decisions that are unfavorable to the other business. For example, in order for
PalmSource to diversify its revenue, it may focus its development efforts on functionality that does not match the
direction or needs of the Solutions Group. Failure to effectively manage two independent business operations
could cause a decline in our revenues, compromise our on-going business prospects and impair our overall
financial performance.

PalmSource currently derives its revenue from a small number of licensees of Palm OS, and the failure of
one or more of them to sustain sales of Palm Powered products from which PalmSource derives revenue
could significantly harm PalmSource’s future business prospects.

PalmSource currently derives its revenue from a small number of licensees of Palm OS. Revenue from the
Solutions Group was $43.4 million, or 62.0% of revenues, in fiscal year 2002 and $39.3 million, or 53.5% of
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revenues, in fiscal year 2003. Revenue from Sony was $5.3 million, or 7.5% of revenue, in fiscal year 2002 and
$11.2 million, or 15.3% of revenue, in fiscal year 2003. Revenue from Handspring was $10.0 million, or 14.3%
of revenue, in fiscal year 2002 and $6.4 million, or 8.7% of revenues, in fiscal year 2003. Although PalmSource
recently expanded its number of licensees, many of these new licensees have yet to introduce products on the
market or sell significant numbers of units based on Palm OS. Additionally, the combination of Palm Solutions
Group and Handspring will increase the concentration of PalmSource’s customers. PalmSource expects that Palm
Solutions Group and Sony will continue to account for a substantial portion of its revenue for the foreseeable
future. If revenues from either Palm Solutions Group or Sony do not grow as PalmSource anticipates, if either of
them decide to not incorporate Palm OS into their future products, or if Palm Solutions Group experiences
financial difficulties and is not able to satisfy its annual minimum royalty commitments, PalmSource will have to
significantly reduce its expenses or increase its revenue from other sources in order to stay in business. The term
of PalmSource’s license agreement with Palm Solutions Group will expire in December 2006, its license
arrangement with Sony will expire in October 2012 and its license agreement with Handspring will be terminated
following the Handspring merger. Nothing restricts these licensees from competing with PalmSource or offering
products based on competing operating systems and these licensees may stop incorporating Palm OS in their
products during the term of their agreements with limited notice to PalmSource. Once these license arrangements
expire, PalmSource may not be able to renegotiate them on favorable terms, if at all. If PalmSource does not
continue to generate significant revenues from Palm Solutions Group or Sony or if PalmSource is unable to
generate an increased percentage of its revenues from other licensees, PalmSource’s business, results of
operations and financial condition will be significantly harmed.

If we do not deliver the wireless functionality and solutions that the market desires or if we fail to provide
wireless devices on additional domestic and international carrier networks, our results of operations could
suffer.

We must continue to develop solutions to compete in the evolving wireless space, which includes solutions
for WAN with carriers, LAN with 802.11 or similar technology and PAN with Bluetooth or similar technology.
The success of these products is in part based upon the broader adoption of the underlying wireless technology
and because the wireless market is still evolving, we cannot be assured which wireless technologies will be
broadly adopted. While we currently have offerings in each of these areas, we cannot assure that there will be
demand for our wireless solutions or that individuals will widely adopt our handheld devices as a means of
accessing wireless services. We are reliant on pricing plans put into effect by carriers. If carriers charge above a
rate consumers are willing to pay, the acceptance of our wireless solutions could be less than anticipated and our
revenues and results of operations could be adversely affected.

The success of our WAN based product, Tungsten W, as well as any future wireless products, is highly
dependent on our ability to establish new relationships and build on our existing relationships with strategic
domestic and international wireless carriers. We cannot assure that we will be successful in establishing new
relationships or advancing existing relationships with wireless carriers or that these carriers will act in a manner
that will promote the success of our Tungsten W. For example, service for our GSM/GPRS-based Tungsten W in
the United States is only offered on the AT&T Wireless network. If AT&T Wireless should stop providing
service for this product, our revenues would be adversely impacted. In addition, wireless products are subject to
lengthy certification processes with wireless carriers and governmental or regulatory authorities. These
certification requirements could delay the offering of the Tungsten W on additional carrier networks and delay
the introduction of future wireless products.

Our success largely depends on our ability to hire, retain, integrate and motivate sufficient numbers of
qualified personnel.

Our future success depends on our ability to attract and retain highly skilled personnel. We compensate our
employees through a combination of salary, bonuses, benefits and equity compensation. If we fail to provide
competitive compensation to our employees, we may be unable to retain them. Volatility or lack of positive
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performance in our stock price may also affect our ability to retain key employees, all of who have been granted
stock options.

Palm’s practice has been to provide incentives to all of its employees through the use of broad based stock
option plans. Proposed accounting rules concerning the expensing of stock options may cause us to reevaluate
our use of stock options as an employee incentive. Our ability to hire, retain and motivate our personnel may
suffer as a result.

In addition, many key personnel and executives hold options that have exercise prices per share that are
significantly above the market price of our common stock and the number of shares available for new option
grants is limited. We may find it difficult to provide competitive stock option grants and the ability to hire, retain
and motivate key personnel may suffer.

In recent quarters, we have initiated reductions in our workforce of both employees and contractors to
balance the size of our employee base with our anticipated revenue base. These reductions have resulted in
reallocations of employee duties, which could result in employee and contractor uncertainty. Reductions in our
workforce could make it difficult to motivate and retain the remaining employees and contractors, which could
affect our ability to deliver our products in a timely fashion and negatively affect our business.

Third parties have claimed and may claim in the future that we are infringing their intellectual property,
and we could suffer significant litigation or licensing expenses or be prevented from selling products if
these claims are successful.

In the course of our business, we frequently receive claims of infringement or otherwise become aware of
potentially relevant patents or other intellectual property rights held by other parties. We evaluate the validity and
applicability of these intellectual property rights, and determine in each case whether we must negotiate licenses
or cross-licenses to incorporate or use the proprietary technologies in our products. Third parties may claim that
we, our customers, or Palm OS platform licensees, are infringing or contributing to the infringement of their
intellectual property rights, and we may be found to infringe or contribute to the infringement of those
intellectual property rights and require a license to use those rights. We may be unaware of intellectual property
rights of others that may cover some of our technology, products and services.

Any litigation regarding patents or other intellectual property could be costly and time consuming and could
divert our management and key personnel from our business operations. The complexity of the technology
involved and the uncertainty of litigation generally increase the risks associated with intellectual property
litigation. Moreover, patent litigation has increased due to the current uncertainty of the law and the increasing
competition and overlap of product functionality in our markets. Claims of intellectual property infringement
might also require us to enter into costly royalty or license agreements or indemnify our customers or Palm OS
platform licensees. However, we may not be able to obtain royalty or license agreements on terms acceptable to
us or at all. We also may be subject to significant damages or injunctions against development and sale or our
products.

For information concerning pending matters, see “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 of Part I of this Form 10-K.

If Palm is unsuccessful in its litigation with Xerox, our business, results of operations and financial
condition could be significantly harmed and our licensees may not be able to ship products with Graffiti
handwriting recognition software.

We are engaged in a civil action brought by Xerox Corporation in 1997 in New York federal district court
alleging willful infringement of a Xerox patent by the Graffiti handwriting recognition system employed in
handheld computers operating the Palm OS.
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We cannot assure you that Palm will be successful in the litigation. If we are not successful, we may be
required to pay Xerox significant damages or license fees or pay significant amounts with respect to Palm OS
licensees for their losses. It may also result in other indirect costs and expenses, such as significant diversion of
management resources, loss of reputation and goodwill, damage to our customer relationships and declines in our
stock price. Accordingly, if Xerox is successful, our business, results of operations and financial condition would
be significantly harmed and we may be rendered insolvent. In addition, Xerox might again seek an injunction
preventing us or Palm OS licensees from offering products with Palm OS with Graffiti handwriting recognition
software. We and our licensees have largely transitioned our products to a handwriting recognition software that
does not use Graffiti.

For information concerning pending matters, see “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 of Part I of this Form 10-K.

If third parties infringe our intellectual property or if we are unable to secure and protect our intellectual
property, we may expend significant resources enforcing our rights or suffer competitive injury.

Our success depends in large part on our proprietary technology and other intellectual property rights. We
rely on a combination of patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets, confidentiality provisions and
licensing arrangements to establish and protect our proprietary rights. Our intellectual property, particularly our
patents, may not provide us a significant competitive advantage. If we fail to protect or to enforce our intellectual
property rights successfully, our competitive position could suffer, which could harm our operating results.

Our pending patent and trademark applications for registration may not be allowed, or others may challenge
the validity or scope of our patents or trademarks, including patent or trademark applications or registrations.
Even if our patents or trademark registrations are issued and maintained, these patents or trademarks may not be
of adequate scope or benefit to us or may be held invalid and unenforceable against third parties.

We may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and police our intellectual property rights.
Effective policing of the unauthorized use of our products or intellectual property is difficult and litigation may
be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights. Intellectual property litigation is not only
expensive, but time-consuming, regardless of the merits of any claim, and could divert attention of our
management from operating the business. Despite our efforts, we may not be able to detect infringement and may
lose competitive position in the market before we do so. We may not be able to detect infringement and may lose
competitive position in the market before we do so. In addition, competitors may design around our technology
or develop competing technologies. Intellectual property rights may also be unavailable or limited in some
foreign countries, which could make it easier for competitors to capture market share.

In the past, there have been leaks of proprietary information associated with our intellectual property. We
have implemented a security plan to reduce the risk of future leaks of proprietary information. We may not be
successful in preventing those responsible for past leaks of proprietary information from using our technology to
produce competing products or in preventing future leaks of proprietary information. The unauthorized use of our
technology or of our proprietary information by competitors could have a material adverse effect on our ability to
sell our products.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, existing laws, contractual provisions and remedies
afford only limited protection. Intellectual property lawsuits are subject to inherent uncertainties due to, among
other things, the complexity of the technical issues involved, and we cannot assure you that we will be successful
in asserting intellectual property claims. Attempts may be made to copy or reverse engineer aspects of our
products or to obtain and use information that we regard a proprietary. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that
we will be able to protect our proprietary rights against unauthorized third party copying or use. Use by others of
our proprietary rights could materially harm our business.
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We have an international presence in countries whose laws may not provide protection of our intellectual
property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, which may make it more difficult for us
to protect our intellectual property.

As part of our business strategy, we target countries with large populations and propensities for adopting new
technologies. However, many of these targeted countries do not prevent misappropriation of intellectual property or
deter others from developing similar, competing technologies or intellectual property. Effective protection of
patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and other intellectual property may be unavailable or limited in some
foreign countries. In particular, the laws of some foreign countries in which we are active may not protect our
intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. As a result, we may not be able to
effectively prevent competitors in these regions from infringing our intellectual property rights, which would reduce
our competitive advantage and ability to compete in those regions and negatively impact our business.

We are subject to general commercial litigation and other litigation claims as part of our operations, and
we could suffer significant litigation expenses in defending these claims and could be subject to significant
damages or remedies.

In the course of our business, we occasionally receive consumer protection claims, general commercial
claims related to the conduct of our business and the performance of our products and services and other
litigation claims. Any litigation regarding these consumer, commercial and other claims could be costly and
time-consuming and could divert our management and key personnel from our business operations. The
complexity of the technology involved and the uncertainty of consumer, commercial and other litigation increase
these risks. We also may be subject to significant damages or equitable remedies regarding the development and
sale of our products and operation of our business.

For information concerning pending matters, see “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 of Part I of this Form 10-K.

Our future results could be harmed by economic, political, regulatory and other risks associated with
international sales and operations.

Because we sell our products worldwide and most of the facilities where our devices are manufactured,
distributed and supported are located outside the United States, our business is subject to risks associated with
doing business internationally, such as:

Š changes in foreign currency exchange rates;

Š changes in a specific country’s or region’s political or economic conditions, particularly in emerging
markets;

Š changes in international relations;

Š trade protection measures and import or export licensing requirements;

Š potentially negative consequences from changes in tax laws;

Š difficulty in managing widespread sales operations; and

Š difficulty in managing a geographically dispersed workforce in compliance with diverse local laws and
customs;.

In addition, we are subject to changes in demand for our products resulting from exchange rate fluctuations
that make our products relatively more or less expensive in international markets. If exchange rate fluctuations
occur, our business and results of operations could be harmed by decreases in demand for our products or
reductions in margins.
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While we sell our products worldwide, one component of our strategy is to expand our sales efforts in China
and other countries with large populations and propensities for adopting new technologies. We have limited
experience with sales and marketing in some of these countries. There can be no assurance that we will be able to
market and sell our products in all of our targeted international markets. If our international efforts are not
successful, our results of operations and business growth could be harmed.

We may pursue strategic acquisitions and investments which could have an adverse impact on our
business if they are unsuccessful.

We have announced the proposed Handspring merger and we have made acquisitions in the past, notably
ThinAirApps, Inc., certain assets of Be Incorporated, peanutpress.com, Inc., WeSync.com, Inc., AnyDay.com,
Inc. and Actual Software Corporation. We will continue to evaluate other acquisition opportunities that could
provide us with additional product or service offerings or additional industry expertise as they arise. Acquisitions
could result in difficulties assimilating acquired operations and products, and result in the diversion of capital and
management’s attention away from other business issues and opportunities. Integration of acquired companies
may result in problems related to integration of technology and management teams. We may not successfully
integrate operations, personnel or products that we have acquired or may acquire in the future. If we fail to
successfully integrate acquisitions, our business could be materially harmed. In addition, our acquisitions may
not be successful in achieving our desired strategic objectives, which would also cause our business to suffer.
These transactions may result in the diversion of capital and management’s attention away from other business
issues and opportunities. In addition, we have made strategic venture investments in other companies that
provide products and services that are complementary to ours. If these investments are unsuccessful, this could
have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial position.

We may need or find it advisable to seek additional funding which may not be available and which may
result in dilution of the value of our common stock.

We currently believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to satisfy our anticipated
cash requirements for the next twelve months. We could be required to seek additional funding if our
expectations are not met. Even if our expectations are met, we may find it advisable to seek additional funding. If
we seek additional funding, adequate funds may not be available on favorable terms, or at all. If adequate funds
are not available on acceptable terms, or at all, we may be unable to adequately fund our business plans and it
could have a negative effect on our business and financial condition. In addition, if funds are available, the result
of our issuing equity securities could dilute the value of shares of our common stock and cause the market price
to fall and the result of issuing debt securities could be restrictive covenants which could impair our ability to
engage in certain business transactions.

We own land that is not currently being utilized in our business. If our expected ability to ultimately
recover the carrying value of this land is impaired, we would incur a non-cash charge to operations.

We own approximately 39 acres of land in San Jose, California which we do not plan to develop. In the
third quarter of fiscal year 2003, we reported an impairment charge to adjust the carrying cost of the land to its
then current fair market value. While we currently have no immediate plans to sell this property, a future sale or
other disposition of the land at less than its carrying value, or a further deterioration in market values that impacts
our expected recoverable value, would result in a non-cash charge which would negatively impact our results of
operations.

Business interruptions could adversely affect our business.

Our operations and those of our suppliers and customers are vulnerable to interruption by fire, earthquake,
power loss, telecommunications failure, terrorist attacks, wars, health epidemics and other events beyond our
control. In addition, the business interruption insurance we carry may not be sufficient to compensate us fully for
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losses or damages that may occur as a result of such events. Any such losses or damages incurred by us could
have a material adverse effect on our business.

War, terrorist attacks or other threats beyond our control could negatively impact consumer confidence,
which could harm our operating results.

Wars, terrorist attacks or other threats beyond our control could have an adverse impact on the United States
and world economy in general and consumer confidence and spending in particular, which could harm our
revenues and results of operations.

Recently enacted and proposed changes in securities laws and regulations are likely to increase our costs.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 along with other recent and proposed rules from the SEC and Nasdaq
require changes in our corporate governance, public disclosure and compliance practices. Many of these new
requirements will increase our legal and financial compliance costs, and make some corporate actions more
difficult, such as proposing new or amendments to stock option plans, which now requires stockholder approval.
These developments could make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer
liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to
obtain coverage. These developments also could make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified
executive officers and qualified members of our Board of Directors, particularly to serve on our audit committee.

Risks Related to the Securities Markets and Ownership of Our Common Stock

Our common stock price may be subject to significant fluctuations and volatility.

The market price of our common stock has been subject to significant fluctuations since the date of our
initial public offering. These fluctuations could continue. Among the factors that could affect our stock price are:

Š quarterly variations in our operating results;

Š changes in revenues or earnings estimates or publication of research reports by analysts;

Š speculation in the press or investment community;

Š strategic actions by us or our competitors, such as new product announcements, acquisitions or
restructurings;

Š actions by institutional stockholders or financial analysts;

Š general market conditions; and

Š domestic and international economic factors unrelated to our performance.

The stock markets in general, and the markets for high technology stocks in particular, have experienced
high volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. These broad
market fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.

Provisions in our charter documents and Delaware law and our adoption of a stockholder rights plan may
delay or prevent acquisition of us, which could decrease the value of shares of our common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that could make it more
difficult for a third party to acquire us without the consent of our Board of Directors. These provisions include a
classified Board of Directors and limitations on actions by our stockholders by written consent. Delaware law
also imposes some restrictions on mergers and other business combinations between us and any holder of 15% or
more of our outstanding common stock. In addition, our Board of Directors has the right to issue preferred stock
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without stockholder approval, which could be used to dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer.
Although we believe these provisions provide for an opportunity to receive a higher bid by requiring potential
acquirers to negotiate with our Board of Directors, these provisions apply even if the offer may be considered
beneficial by some stockholders.

Our Board of Directors adopted a stockholder rights plan, pursuant to which we declared and paid a
dividend of one right for each share of common stock outstanding as of November 6, 2000. Unless redeemed by
us prior to the time the rights are exercised, upon the occurrence of certain events, the rights will entitle the
holders to receive upon exercise thereof shares of our preferred stock, or shares of an acquiring entity, having a
value equal to twice the then-current exercise price of the right. The issuance of the rights could have the effect
of delaying or preventing a change in control of us.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Sensitivity

We currently maintain an investment portfolio consisting mainly of cash equivalents. These available-for-
sale securities are subject to interest rate risk and will fall in value if market interest rates increase. The primary
objective of our investment activities is to maintain the safety of principal and preserve liquidity while
maximizing yields without significantly increasing risk. This is accomplished by investing in marketable
investment grade securities and by limiting exposure to any one issue or issuer. We do not use derivative
financial instruments in our investment portfolio, and due to the nature of our investments, primarily debt
securities with maturities of less than 90 days, an immediate and uniform increase in market interest rates by
10 percent from levels at May 31, 2003 would cause an immaterial decline in the fair value of our investment
portfolio. We would not expect our operating results or cash flows to be affected to any significant degree by a
sudden change in market interest rates.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We denominate our sales to certain European customers in the Euro and in Pounds Sterling. Expenses and
other transactions are also incurred in a variety of currencies. We hedge certain balance sheet exposures and
intercompany balances against future movements in foreign currency exchange rates by using foreign exchange
forward contracts. Gains and losses on the contracts are intended to offset foreign exchange gains or losses from
the revaluation of assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
reporting entity. The net of gains and losses from these contracts and the revaluation of the foreign denominated
assets and liabilities was a gain (loss) of $0.3 million, $(1.0) million and $0.5 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively, and is included in interest and other income (expense) in our consolidated statements of
operations. Our foreign exchange forward contracts generally mature within 30 days. We do not intend to utilize
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. Movements in currency exchange rates could cause
variability in our revenues, expenses or interest and other income (expense).
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT

Management is responsible for preparing the Company’s consolidated financial statements and the other
information that appears in this Form 10-K. Management believes that the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
appropriate in the circumstances to reflect, in all material respects, the substance of events and transactions that
should be included, and that the other information in this Form 10-K is consistent with those statements. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements, management makes informed judgments and estimates of the
expected effects of events and transactions that are currently being accounted for.

In meeting its responsibility for the reliability of the consolidated financial statements, management depends
on the Company’s system of internal accounting controls. This system is designed to provide reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded and transactions are executed in accordance with management’s
authorization, and are recorded properly to permit the preparation of consolidated financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The Palm Board of Directors has an Audit Committee, which is comprised solely of Directors who are not
officers or employees of the Company. The Audit Committee meets with management periodically to review
their work and to monitor the discharge of each of their responsibilities.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent
auditors, and such independent auditors’ report is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A on page 69.

By: /s/ ERIC A. BENHAMOU By: /s/ JUDY BRUNER

Eric A. Benhamou
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Judy Bruner
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Palm, Inc.:

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Palm, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“the Company”) as of
May 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended May 31, 2003. Our audits also included the financial
statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Palm, Inc. and its subsidiaries at May 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended May 31, 2003 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule
referred to above, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California
June 20, 2003, except for Note 20, which is as of August 29, 2003
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Palm, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Years Ended May 31,

2003 2002 2001

Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 871,946 $1,030,831 $1,559,312
Costs and operating expenses:

Cost of revenues (excluding the applicable portion of amortization
of intangible assets) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 591,329 745,525 1,060,878

Cost of revenues—charge (benefit) for special excess inventory
and related costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (101,844) 268,930

Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 177,903 237,225 337,275
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 110,611 141,698 159,050
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50,179 56,444 87,842
Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets (*) . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,069 12,531 37,321
Separation costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,282 1,542 5,468
Impairment charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 102,540 — 106,669
Restructuring charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39,488 46,553 60,888
Purchased in-process technology . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 1,063

Total costs and operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,087,401 1,139,674 2,125,384
Operating loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (215,455) (108,843) (566,072)
Interest and other income (expense), net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,129) 938 41,881

Loss before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (217,584) (107,905) (524,191)
Income tax provision (benefit) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 224,998 (25,737) (167,715)

Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (442,582) $ (82,168) $ (356,476)

Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (15.23) $ (2.87) $ (12.59)

Shares used in computing net loss per share:
Basic and diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29,069 28,640 28,307

(*) Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets:
Cost of revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,164 $ 6,306 $ 4,135
Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 11 529
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 775 6,137 32,609
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 130 77 48

Total amortization of goodwill and intangible assets . . . . . . . . $ 6,069 $ 12,531 $ 37,321

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Palm, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except par value amounts)

May 31,

2003 2002

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 242,432 $ 278,547
Short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 17,970
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $4,645 and
$8,485, respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 97,437 63,551

Inventories . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,748 55,004
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 48,985
Prepaids and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,406 14,122

Total current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 371,023 478,179

Restricted investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,619 2,326
Land not in use . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60,000 160,000
Property and equipment, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34,622 51,556
Goodwill, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 68,785 68,785
Intangible assets, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 976 9,585
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34,800 205,440
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,801 13,225

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 576,626 $ 989,096

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 83,037 $ 88,909
Accrued restructuring . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35,235 35,512
Other accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 119,074 108,577

Total current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 237,346 232,998

Non-current liabilities:
Long-term convertible debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50,000 50,000
Deferred revenue and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,494 15,250

Minority interest in consolidated subsidiary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000 —

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 125,000 shares authorized;
none outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 2,000,000 shares authorized;
outstanding: 29,230 shares and 28,960 shares, respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29 29

Additional paid-in capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,123,819 1,122,674
Unamortized deferred stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (508) (5,743)
Accumulated deficit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (868,789) (426,207)
Accumulated other comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,235 95

Total stockholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 255,786 690,848

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 576,626 $ 989,096

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Palm, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(In thousands)

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Unamortized
Deferred

Stock-based
Compensation

Retained
Earnings
(Deficit)

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss) Total

Balances, June 1, 2000 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 28 $1,032,986 $(16,053) $ 12,437 $ (210) $1,029,188
Components of comprehensive loss:

Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (356,476) — (356,476)
Net unrealized gain on available-for-sale
investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 411 411

Accumulated translation adjustments . . . . . — — — — 23 23

Total comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — (356,042)

Common stock issued under stock plans . . . . . . . — 30,343 (2,848) — — 27,495
Options assumed in conjunction with
acquisitions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 10,501 (2,759) — — 7,742

Warrants issued in conjunction with purchase
agreement . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 3,842 — — — 3,842

Stock-based compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . — — 6,731 — — 6,731
Tax benefit from employee stock options . . . . . . — 15,196 — — — 15,196

Balances, May 31, 2001 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28 1,092,868 (14,929) (344,039) 224 734,152
Components of comprehensive loss:

Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (82,168) — (82,168)
Net unrealized loss on available-for-sale
investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — (573) (573)

Recognized losses included in earnings . . . — — — — 119 119
Accumulated translation adjustments . . . . . — — — — 325 325

Total comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — (82,297)

Common stock issued:
Under stock plans, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 3,495 (1,166) — — 2,329
Private placements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 959 — — — 959

Common stock issued and options assumed in
conjunction with acquisitions . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 29,861 — — — 29,862

Stock-based compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . — 12 5,831 — — 5,843
Cancelled restricted stock grants related to
terminated employees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (4,521) 4,521 — — —

Balances, May 31, 2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29 1,122,674 (5,743) (426,207) 95 690,848
Components of comprehensive loss:

Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (442,582) — (442,582)
Net unrealized loss on available-for-sale
investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — (1,707) (1,707)

Recognized losses included in earnings . . . — — — — 1,747 1,747
Accumulated translation adjustments . . . . . — — — — 1,100 1,100

Total comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — (441,442)

Common stock issued under stock plans, net . . . — 3,104 (627) — — 2,477
Stock-based compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . — — 3,903 — — 3,903
Cancelled restricted stock grants related to
terminated employees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (1,959) 1,959 — — —

Balances, May 31, 2003 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 29 $1,123,819 $ (508) $(868,789) $ 1,235 $ 255,786

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Palm, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Years Ended May 31,

2003 2002 2001

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(442,582) $ (82,168) $ (356,476)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26,353 28,289 13,991
Amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,252 19,654 47,135
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 219,625 (7,581) (213,467)
Impairment charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 102,540 — 106,669
Recognized loss on equity investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,953 5,110 —
Purchased in-process technology . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 1,063
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:

Accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (33,886) 51,854 7,699
Inventories . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32,256 52,496 (83,756)
Prepaids and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,892 (3,653) 1,302
Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,872) (149,326) 110,800
Accrued restructuring . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,728 6,079 32,399
Tax benefit from employee stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 15,196
Other accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,841 (173,342) 153,085

Net cash used in operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (63,900) (252,588) (164,360)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of land . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (219,015)
Purchases of property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (11,369) (16,169) (66,422)
Purchases of short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,841) (17,970) —
Maturities and sales of short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27,811 — —
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 43 (111,382)
Purchases of equity investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,000) — (12,880)
Purchases of restricted investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (293) (1,826) (241,860)
Sale of restricted investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 241,360

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,308 (35,922) (410,199)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuance of common stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,477 3,288 27,495
Issuance of preferred stock of consolidated subsidiary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000 — —
Issuance of convertible debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 50,000 —
Repayment of debt from businesses acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (1,295)

Net cash provided by financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,477 53,288 26,200

Change in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (36,115) (235,222) (548,359)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 278,547 513,769 1,062,128

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 242,432 $ 278,547 $ 513,769

Other cash flow information:
Cash refund (paid) for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (2,808) $ 16,137 $ (16,094)

Cash paid for interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (2,696) $ (147) $ (40)

Non-cash investing and financing activities are as follows:
Fair value of stock options assumed in business combination . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ 255 $ 10,501

Issuance of warrants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ 3,842

Common stock issued for acquisition of businesses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ 29,607 $ —

Acquisition of property and equipment through capital lease . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ 2,436 $ —

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Palm, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Background and Basis of Presentation

Palm, Inc. (“Palm” or “the Company”) develops, markets and sells a family of handheld computing device
products, licenses the Palm operating system (“Palm OS”) to other device and information appliance
manufacturers and offers a wireless access service.

Palm was founded in 1992 as Palm Computing, Inc. In 1995, it was acquired by U.S. Robotics Corporation.
In 1997, 3Com Corporation (“3Com”) acquired U.S. Robotics, and in 1999, 3Com announced the intent to
separate the Palm business into an independent company. In preparation for becoming an independent, publicly
traded company, Palm Computing, Inc. changed its name to Palm, Inc. and was reincorporated in Delaware in
December 1999. Palm’s legal separation from 3Com occurred on February 26, 2000 (“Separation Date”), at
which time Palm began to operate independently from 3Com. In March 2000, approximately 6% of the shares of
Palm common stock were sold in an initial public offering and concurrent private placements, and in July 2000,
3Com distributed the remaining shares of Palm common stock it owned, approximately 94% of Palm’s common
stock outstanding, to 3Com’s stockholders. In December 2001, Palm formed PalmSource, Inc., a stand-alone
subsidiary for its operating system business, and subsequently announced its intent to establish PalmSource, Inc.
(PalmSource) as an independent, publicly traded company.

Palm is organized into two operating segments—PalmSource and the Solutions Group. In the first quarter of
fiscal year 2002, Palm announced its strategy to separate its Palm OS business (PalmSource) and its device
business (the Solutions Group) into two independent companies. In December 2002, Palm received a ruling from
the Internal Revenue Service that a distribution of PalmSource stock to Palm stockholders, if it occurs in
accordance with the terms of the ruling, will be tax-free to the Company and its U.S. stockholders. On June 4,
2003, Palm entered into an agreement for a transaction in which Palm will distribute, on a pro rata basis to its
existing stockholders, all of the shares of PalmSource, Inc. common stock it owns; and immediately following
the PalmSource distribution, Palm will acquire Handspring, Inc. (“Handspring”), and Handspring stockholders
will receive Palm common stock in exchange for their Handspring common stock. In the PalmSource
distribution, the 10.0 million shares (as recapitalized via PalmSource’s one-for-five reverse stock split to take
effect prior to the distribution date) of PalmSource common stock held by Palm will be distributed to existing
Palm stockholders on a pro rata basis. The final exchange ratio for the PalmSource distribution will be
determined based on the number of shares of Palm common stock outstanding at the distribution date. In the
Handspring merger, the stockholders of Handspring will receive 0.09 of a share of Palm common stock for each
share of Handspring common stock held (an aggregate of approximately 13.4 million shares of Palm common
stock, based on the number of shares of Handspring common stock outstanding at June 28, 2003, Handspring’s
fiscal year end). The closing of the transaction effecting the PalmSource distribution and the Handspring merger
is subject to stockholder approval and other customary conditions. (See Note 20 to consolidated financial
statements.)

On October 15, 2002, Palm effected a one-for-twenty reverse stock split. All share and per share
information herein reflect this reverse stock split.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies

Fiscal Year

Palm’s 52-53 week fiscal year ends on the Friday nearest to May 31. Fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001 each
contained 52 weeks. For presentation purposes, the periods have been presented as ending on May 31.
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Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make judgments, assumptions and
estimates that affect the amounts reported in Palm’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
The Company bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other assumptions that it
believes are reasonable under the circumstances. However, future events are subject to change and the best
estimates and judgments routinely require adjustment. The amounts of assets and liabilities reported in the
Company’s balance sheets and the amounts of revenues and expenses reported for each of its fiscal periods are
affected by estimates and assumptions which are used for, but not limited to, the accounting for rebates, price
protection, product returns, allowance for doubtful accounts, warranty and technical service costs, goodwill and
intangible asset impairments, restructurings, inventory and income taxes. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Palm and its subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. These
reclassifications had no impact on previously reported net loss.

Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

Cash equivalents are highly liquid debt investments acquired with remaining maturities of three months or
less. Short-term investments are debt investments acquired with maturities between three and twelve months.
While Palm’s intent is to hold debt securities to maturity, consistent with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments In Debt and Equity Securities, Palm has
classified all debt securities as available-for-sale. Such securities are recorded at market value using the specific
identification method with unrealized gains and losses included as a component of other comprehensive income.
The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. Premiums and discounts are amortized
over the period from acquisition to maturity and are included in interest and other income (expense), along with
interest and dividends.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on Palm’s assessment of the collectibility of specific customer
accounts and an assessment of international, political and economic risk as well as the aging of the accounts receivable.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject Palm to credit risk consist of cash, cash equivalents and
short-term investments which are invested in highly liquid instruments in accordance with Palm’s investment
policy. Palm sells the majority of its products through distributors, retailers and resellers. While a significant
portion of Palm’s accounts receivable is concentrated with a few customers as shown below, generally credit risk
is diversified due to the number of entities comprising Palm’s customer base and their dispersion across different
geographic locations throughout the world. Palm generally sells on open account and performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers’ financial condition.
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The following individual customers accounted for 10% or more of total revenue for the years ended May 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001:

Years ended May 31,

2003 2002 2001

Ingram Micro . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18% 20% 19%
Tech Data . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9% 12% 9%

The following individual customers accounted for 10% or more of total accounts receivable:

May 31,

2003 2002 2001

Ingram Micro . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22% 26% 24%
Tech Data . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12% 14% 8%
Best Buy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8% 10% 10%

Inventories

Inventory purchases and purchase commitments are based upon forecasts of future demand. Palm values its
inventory at the lower of standard cost (which approximates first-in, first-out cost) or market. If Palm believes
that demand no longer allows it to sell its inventory above cost, or at all, then Palm writes down that inventory to
market or writes off excess inventory levels.

Restricted Investments

Restricted investments consist of U.S. government obligations and certificates of deposit with maturities of
three months or less. These investments are carried at cost, which approximates fair value, and are restricted as to
withdrawal. Restricted investments are held in brokerage accounts in Palm’s name.

Land, Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Costs related to internal use software are capitalized in
accordance with AICPA Statement of Position (“SOP”) No. 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer
Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use. Depreciation and amortization are computed over the shorter
of the estimated useful lives, lease or license terms on a straight-line basis (generally three to five years). Land
not in use is held at cost, reduced by impairment charges recorded as the result of declines in market value. (See
Note 6 to consolidated financial statements.)

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Palm evaluates the recoverability of goodwill annually, or more frequently if impairment indicators arise, as
required under SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment by
applying a fair-value-based test at the reporting unit level, which is the same as the business segment level. A
goodwill impairment loss is recorded for any goodwill that is determined to be impaired. Under SFAS No. 144,
Accounting for the Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, intangible assets are evaluated whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognized for
an intangible asset to the extent that the asset’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, which is determined based
upon the estimated future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset, including disposition. Cash flow
estimates used in evaluating for impairment represent management’s best estimates using appropriate
assumptions and projections at the time.
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Software Development Costs

Costs for the development of new software and substantial enhancements to existing software are expensed
as incurred until technological feasibility has been established, at which time any additional development costs
would be capitalized. Palm believes its current process for developing software is essentially completed
concurrent with the establishment of technological feasibility; accordingly, no costs have been capitalized to
date.

Equity Investments

Investments in equity securities with readily available fair values are considered available-for-sale and recorded at
cost with subsequent unrealized gains or losses included as a component of other comprehensive income. Investments
in equity securities whose fair values are not readily available and for which Palm does not have the ability to exercise
significant influence over the investee’s operating and financial policies are recorded at cost. Palm evaluates its
investments in equity securities on a regular basis and records an impairment charge to other interest income (expense)
when the decline in the fair value below the cost basis is judged to be other-than-temporary.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when earned in accordance with applicable accounting standards, including SOP
No. 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as amended. Palm recognizes revenues from sales of handheld device
products upon shipment, net of estimated returns, provided that collection is determined to be probable and no
significant obligations remain. Sales to resellers are subject to agreements allowing for limited rights of return,
rebates and price protection. Accordingly, revenue is reduced based on Palm’s estimates of liability related to
these rights at the time the related sale is recorded. The estimates for returns are adjusted periodically based upon
historical rates of returns, inventory levels in the channel and other related factors. The estimates and reserves for
rebates and price protection are based on specific programs, expected usage and historical experience.

Within PalmSource, revenue from software license agreements with manufacturers of handheld devices is
generally recognized on a per-unit or volume royalty basis, and any prepaid royalties received under the license
agreements are generally deferred and recognized on a per-unit or net sales basis in the period information is
reported by licensees, generally the month or quarter subsequent to the period of sale by the licensee. Upfront
license fees from subscription license arrangements are generally recognized ratably over the term of the
subscription period. Post contract support revenue consists primarily of fees for providing unspecified software
updates when and if available and technical support for software products to licensees. Post contract support
revenue is deferred and recognized ratably over the term of the agreement.

Within Solutions Group, revenue from software license agreements with end-users is recognized upon
delivery of the software, provided that collection is determined to be probable and no significant obligations
remain. Deferred revenue is recorded for post contract support and any other future deliverables, and is
recognized over the support period or as the elements of the agreement are delivered.

Vendor specific objective evidence of the fair value of the elements contained in these software license
agreements is based on the price determined by management having the relevant authority when the element is
not yet sold separately, but is expected to be sold in the marketplace within six months of the initial
determination of the price by management.

Revenue from wireless Internet access service subscriptions is recognized over the service period. Software
license revenues and expenses between Solutions Group and PalmSource are eliminated in consolidation.
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Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and were $67.7 million, $100.1 million and $157.3 million for
fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Included within total advertising costs are marketing
development funds paid to channel customers for which Palm receives identifiable benefits whose fair value can
be reasonably estimated and which are expensed in the period the related revenue is recognized.

Warranty Costs

Palm accrues for warranty costs based on historical rates of repair as a percentage of shipment levels and the
expected repair cost per unit, service policies and specific known warranty issues.

Restructuring Costs

Effective for calendar year 2003, in accordance with SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with
Exit or Disposal Activities, which supersedes Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 94-3, Liability
Recognition for Costs to Exit an Activity (Including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring), Palm records
liabilities for costs associated with exit or disposal activities when the liability is incurred instead of at the date of
commitment to an exit or disposal activity. Prior to calendar year 2003, in accordance with EITF Issue No. 94-3,
Palm accrued for restructuring costs when it made a commitment to a firm exit plan that specifically identified all
significant actions to be taken. Palm records initial restructuring charges based on assumptions and related
estimates it deems appropriate for the economic environment at the time these estimates are made. Palm
reassesses restructuring accruals on a quarterly basis to reflect changes in the costs of the restructuring activities,
and records new restructuring accruals as liabilities are incurred.

Separation Costs

Separation costs reflect costs, such as consulting and professional fees, associated with the process of the
planned external separation of PalmSource as well as those costs related to Palm’s separation from 3Com.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended May 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 is based on pre-tax financial
accounting income or loss. Prior to July 27, 2000 (“Distribution Date”), Palm’s operating results were included
in certain 3Com consolidated federal, state and foreign income tax returns. Deferred tax assets represent
temporary differences that will result in deductible amounts in future years, including net operating loss
carryforwards. A valuation allowance reduces deferred tax assets to estimated realizable value, based on
estimates and certain tax planning strategies. The carrying value of Palm’s net deferred tax assets assumes that it
is more likely than not that Palm will be able to generate sufficient future taxable income in certain tax
jurisdictions to realize the net carrying value.

Foreign Currency Translation

For non-U.S. subsidiaries with their local currency as their functional currency, assets and liabilities are
translated to U.S. dollars, monthly, at exchange rates as of the balance sheet date, and revenues, expenses, gains
and losses are translated, monthly, at average exchange rates during the period. Resulting foreign currency
translation adjustments are included as a component of other comprehensive income.

For Palm entities with the U.S. dollar as the functional currency, foreign currency denominated assets and
liabilities are translated to U.S. dollars at the year-end exchange rates except for inventories, prepaid expenses,
and property and equipment, which are translated at historical exchange rates. Gains (losses) resulting from
foreign currency translation, net of the effect of related hedging contracts, were $0.3 million, $(1.0) million and
$0.5 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and are included in interest and other income
(expense) in the consolidated statements of operations.
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Derivative Instruments

Palm conducts business on a global basis in several currencies. As such, Palm is exposed to movements in
foreign currency exchange rates. Palm enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to minimize the short-term
impact of foreign currency fluctuations on foreign currency receivables, investments, and payables. Gains and
losses on the contracts are included in interest and other income (expense) in the consolidated statements of
operations and offset foreign exchange gains or losses from the revaluation of intercompany balances or other
current assets, investments, and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
reporting entity. Palm’s foreign exchange forward contracts relate to current assets and liabilities and generally
mature within 30 days. Palm did not hold derivative financial instruments for trading purposes during the years
ended May 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

Stock-Based Compensation

Palm has employee stock plans, which are described more fully in Note 13 to consolidated financial
statements. The Company accounts for its employee stock plans under the intrinsic value method prescribed by
Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and Financial
Accounting Standards Board Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock
Compensation (an Interpretation of APB No. 25), and has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS
No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. Palm accounts for equity instruments issued to non-
employees in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123 and related guidance.

Under APB No. 25, the Company generally recognizes no compensation expense with respect to shares
issued under its employee stock purchase plan and options granted to employees under its stock option plan,
collectively called “options.” Concurrently, the Company’s stock option plan also allows for the issuance of
restricted stock awards, under which shares of common stock are issued at par value to key employees, subject to
vesting restrictions, and for which compensation expense equal to the fair market value on the date of the grant is
recognized over the vesting period.

Pursuant to FIN No. 44, options assumed in a purchase business combination are valued at the date of acquisition
at their fair value calculated using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The fair value of the assumed options is
included as part of the purchase price. The intrinsic value attributable to the unvested options is recorded as unearned
stock-based compensation and amortized over the remaining vesting period of the related options.

The following table illustrates the effect on net loss and net loss per share if Palm had elected to recognize
stock-based compensation expense based on the fair value of the options granted at the date of grant as prescribed
by SFAS No. 123. For the purposes of this pro forma disclosure, the estimated fair value of the options is assumed
to be amortized to expense over the options’ vesting periods, using the multiple option approach.

Years ended May 31,

2003 2002 2001

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Net loss, as reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(442,582) $ (82,168) $(356,476)
Add: Stock based compensation included in reported net loss, net of related
tax effects . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,903 5,843 6,731

Less: Stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value
method for all awards, net of related tax effects . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (41,758) (110,441) (152,629)

Pro forma net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(480,437) $(186,766) $(502,374)

Net loss per share, as reported—basic and diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (15.23) $ (2.87) $ (12.59)

Pro forma net loss per share—basic and diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (16.53) $ (6.52) $ (17.75)

79



SFAS No. 123 requires the use of option valuation models that were not developed for use in valuing
employee stock options. The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair
value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation
models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility. Because
options held by Palm employees and directors have characteristics significantly different from those of traded
options, and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in
the opinion of management, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair
value of these options. See Note 13 to consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the assumptions used
in the option valuation model and estimated fair value for employee stock options.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share is calculated based on the weighted average shares of common stock
outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per share is calculated based on the weighted average shares of
common stock outstanding, because the effect of stock options and warrants outstanding, calculated using the
treasury stock method, would have been anti-dilutive. For the years ended May 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
approximately 54,000, 15,000 and 142,000 common equivalent shares were excluded from the computations of
dilutive net loss per share, respectively.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net loss plus net unrealized gain (loss) on investments, recognized
losses included in earnings and accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments.

Effects of Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FIN No. 45, Guarantor’s
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.
FIN No. 45 requires that a liability be recorded in the guarantor’s balance sheet upon issuance of a guarantee. In
addition, FIN No. 45 requires disclosures about the guarantees that an entity has issued, including a reconciliation of
changes in the entity’s product warranty liabilities. The initial recognition and initial measurement provisions of
FIN No. 45 are applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002,
irrespective of the guarantor’s fiscal year end. The disclosure requirements of FIN No. 45 are effective for financial
statements of interim or annual periods ending after December 15, 2002. Palm adopted FIN No. 45 during the
quarter ended February 28, 2003, which did not have an impact on the Company’s historical financial position or
results of operations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, an
amendment of SFAS No. 123, to provide alternative methods of transition for an entity that voluntarily changes to
the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, it amends the
disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosure in both annual and interim financial
statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method
used on reported results. SFAS No. 148 is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The new
interim disclosure provisions are effective for the first interim period beginning after December 15, 2002, which,
for Palm, will be the quarter ended August 31, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 148 did not have an impact on
the Company’s historical financial position or results of operations.

In April, 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities, which amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments,
including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities under SFAS No.
133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. SFAS No. 149 requires that contracts with
comparable characteristics be accounted for similarly and clarifies under what circumstances a contract with an
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initial net investment meets the characteristic of a derivative and when a derivative contains a financing component.
SFAS No. 149 also amends the definition of an underlying to conform it to language used in FIN No. 45,
Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others. SFAS No. 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003, with
certain exceptions. The adoption of SFAS No. 149 will not have an impact on the Company’s historical financial
position or results of operations.

In May, 2003 the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity, which establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and
measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS No. 150 requires
that an issuer classify a financial instrument that falls within its scope as a liability (or an asset in some
circumstances). SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003,
and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003, which for
Palm is the quarter ended November 30, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 will not have an impact on the
Company’s historical financial position or results of operations.

Note 3. Business Combinations

In December 2001, Palm completed its acquisition of ThinAirApps, Inc. (“ThinAirApps”). The total
purchase price of $19.7 million consisted of $18.6 million of Palm common stock (262,519 shares issued based
on the average stock price for the five trading days ended on December 17, 2001), $0.3 million of stock options
assumed and $0.8 million of direct transaction costs. ThinAirApps was a privately–held, New York-based
developer of software enabling secure wireless access to corporate email and other critical enterprise data. As a
result of the acquisition, Palm expected to benefit from the licensing of ThinAirApps’ software technology and
the addition of engineers to the Solutions Group business, in addition to possibly integrating ThinAirApps’
technology into future versions of Palm’s products to enhance secure wireless access capabilities. Intangible
assets are being amortized over periods ranging from two to four years. This transaction is being accounted for as
a purchase pursuant to SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations. The goodwill for this acquisition is not deductible
for tax purposes. During the third quarter of fiscal year 2003, Palm recorded an impairment charge of
$2.5 million, pursuant to SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,
related to the core technology acquired from ThinAirApps.

In November 2001, Palm completed its purchase of specified assets of Be Incorporated (“Be”), including
substantially all of Be’s intellectual property and other technology assets. The total purchase price of
$12.2 million consisted of $11.0 million of Palm common stock (205,223 shares issued based on the closing
stock price on November 12, 2001) and $1.2 million of direct transaction costs. Be was a provider of software
solutions designed specifically for Internet appliances and digital media. In addition to the asset purchase, Palm
hired a substantial majority of Be’s engineers to work for PalmSource. Potential benefits of the acquisition
include the possibility of integrating Be’s operating system technology into future versions of the Palm OS to
provide greater Internet, communications and multimedia capability. Intangible assets are being amortized over
periods ranging from two to four years. This transaction is being accounted for as a purchase pursuant to SFAS
No. 141, Business Combinations. The goodwill for this acquisition is deductible for tax purposes.

In March 2001, Palm completed the acquisition of peanutpress.com, Inc. (“peanutpress”). The total purchase
price of $5.3 million consisted of $5.0 million of cash and $0.3 million of direct transaction costs. Total liabilities
assumed in the transaction of $0.1 million included accounts payable, accrued liabilities and contractual
commitments. Approximately $0.2 million of the purchase price of peanutpress represented purchased in-process
technology that had not yet reached technological feasibility, had no alternative future use and was charged to
operations. Peanutpress was a provider of an eBook reader and eBooks. Peanutpress developed, archived, hosted,
and securely distributed eBook collections on behalf of publishers of books. Intangible assets are being amortized
over periods ranging from two to four years. This acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting under APB No. 16, Business Combinations.

81



In December 2000, Palm completed the acquisition of WeSync.com, Inc. (“WeSync”). The total purchase
price of $46.1 million consisted of $39.5 million of cash, $5.8 million of stock options assumed and direct
transaction costs of $0.8 million. Total liabilities assumed in the transaction of $1.2 million included accounts
payable, accrued liabilities and contractual commitments. WeSync was a provider of wireless synchronization
technologies. WeSync’s technologies enabled work and personal groups using the Company’s web-based service
to share and synchronize changes to calendars and contacts on Palm Powered handhelds and PCs. Intangible
assets are being amortized over periods ranging from two to four years. This acquisition was accounted for using
the purchase method of accounting under APB No. 16, Business Combinations.

In June 2000, Palm completed the acquisition of AnyDay.com, Inc. (“AnyDay”). The total purchase price of
$85.7 million consisted of $71.4 million of cash, $4.7 million of stock options assumed, $9.2 million of
contractual commitments and $0.4 million of direct transaction costs. Total liabilities assumed in the transaction
of $13.7 million included accounts payable, accrued liabilities, contractual commitments and long-term debt.
Approximately $0.9 million of the purchase price of AnyDay represented purchased in-process technology that
had not yet reached technological feasibility, had no alternative future use and was charged to operations.
AnyDay was a provider of an Internet-based time management solution. AnyDay’s solution extended the
capabilities of the online calendar with group organizing, events directory and integrated email scheduling
system. This acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting under APB No. 16,
Business Combinations. During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, Palm recorded an impairment charge of
$47.7 million related to the goodwill and intangible assets of the AnyDay acquisition based upon an impairment
analysis necessitated by evolving market conditions that indicated that the carrying amounts of long-lived assets
acquired might not be fully recoverable through undiscounted future operating cash flows.

The original purchase prices were allocated based on the valuation, generally using a discounted cash flow
approach, of purchased core technology, purchased in-process technology, non-compete covenants, assembled
workforce and other identifiable intangible assets as follows (in thousands):

ThinAir Apps Be peanutpress WeSync AnyDay

Core technology . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,810 $ 800 $ 940 $ 6,280 $ 5,200
Non-compete covenants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 780 90 60 11,829
Assembled workforce . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 480 710 2,020
Publisher relationships . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 710 — —
Membership base . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 1,250
Purchased in-process technology . . . . . . . . . — — 210 — 853
Net tangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 468 — 77 — 2,326
Deferred stock-based compensation . . . . . . . — — — 2,759 —
Deferred tax liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,565 — — (2,642) (3,089)
Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,815 10,570 2,782 38,982 65,282

Purchase price . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $19,658 $12,150 $5,289 $46,149 $85,671
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Note 4. Cash and Available-For-Sale and Restricted Investments

The Company’s available-for-sale and restricted investments are as follows (in thousands):

May 31, 2003 May 31, 2002

Adjusted
Cost

Unrealized
Gain (Loss)

Carrying
Value

Adjusted
Cost

Unrealized
Loss

Carrying
Value

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 31,927 $— $ 31,927 $ 8,263 $— $ 8,263
Cash equivalents:

Money market funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49,605 — 49,605 73,936 — 73,936
State and local government
obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 117,900 — 117,900 94,448 — 94,448

Corporate notes/bonds . . . . . . . . . . . 33,000 — 33,000 98,900 — 98,900
Foreign corporate notes/bonds . . . . . 10,000 — 10,000 3,000 — 3,000

210,505 — 210,505 270,284 — 270,284

Total cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . $242,432 $— $242,432 $278,547 $— $278,547

Short-term investments:
Corporate notes/bonds . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $— $ — $ 17,987 $ (17) $ 17,970

Equity investments in publicly traded
companies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 463 $— $ 463 $ 35 $ (26) $ 9

Restricted investments:
U.S. government agency
obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,722 $— $ 1,722 $ 1,551 $— $ 1,551

Certificates of deposit . . . . . . . . . . . . 897 — 897 775 — 775

$ 2,619 $— $ 2,619 $ 2,326 $— $ 2,326

Note 5. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):

May 31,

2003 2002

Finished goods . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $16,835 $35,995
Work in process and raw materials . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,913 19,009

$22,748 $55,004

Note 6. Land not in use

The land, approximately 39 acres located in San Jose, California, was land on which Palm had previously
planned to build its new corporate headquarters. At the initiation of a seven-year master lease agreement during
the second quarter of fiscal year 2001, the lessor acquired the land for Palm’s future headquarters. Due to the
uncertain economic environment and changes to its business, in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, Palm
decided not to go forward with the lease commitment or construction of the future headquarters facility. Pursuant
to the terms of the master lease agreement, upon termination of the agreement, Palm was required to exercise its
option to purchase the land from the lessor at the lessor’s full initial purchase price. As a result, in the fourth
quarter of fiscal year 2001, Palm incurred an impairment charge of $59.0 million related to the land, consisting of
the difference in the value of the land at that date and Palm’s purchase price. The land was classified as held for
sale as of May 31, 2001 but ceased to be actively marketed during fiscal year 2002 and was reclassified as land
not in use. During the third quarter of the year ended May 31, 2003, Palm incurred an additional impairment
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charge of $100.0 million related to the land. Market conditions for commercial real estate in the Silicon Valley
have further deteriorated since the land was acquired in May 2001 and the Company determined that it would not
expect to hold the land as long as would be required to realize a $160.0 million carrying value. As a result the
Company reviewed the carrying value of the land for impairment. Accordingly, Palm has adjusted the carrying
value of the land to its fair market value at February 2003 of $60.0 million. The Company currently has no plans
to sell the land within the next twelve months.

Note 7. Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, net, consist of the following (in thousands):

May 31,

2003 2002

Equipment and internal use software . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 89,340 $ 85,692
Leasehold improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,558 2,519
Furniture and fixtures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,129 5,087

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 98,027 93,298
Accumulated depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (63,405) (41,742)

$ 34,622 $ 51,556

Note 8. Goodwill

Palm adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, as of the first day of fiscal year 2002.
As defined by SFAS No. 142, the Company identified two reporting units—the Solutions Group and
PalmSource, which constitute components of Palm’s business that include goodwill. During the fourth quarter of
fiscal year 2003, Palm completed its annual impairment test, and there was no impairment indicated.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows (in thousands):

Solutions
Group PalmSource Total

Balances, May 31, 2001 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,680 $39,489 $43,169
SFAS No. 142 adjustment, net of deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . 636 595 1,231

Balances, June 1, 2001 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,316 40,084 44,400
Goodwill acquired during the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,815 10,570 24,385
Goodwill transferred between reporting units . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,040) 3,040 —

Balances, May 31, 2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,091 53,694 68,785
Goodwill transferred between reporting units . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,276) 1,276 —

Balances, May 31, 2003 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $13,815 $54,970 $68,785

During the year ended May 31, 2003, the assets, including goodwill, related to Palm’s email software for the
Palm OS operating system that were previously included in Solutions Group were contributed to, and are now
included in, PalmSource. During the year ended May 31, 2002, the assets and liabilities, including goodwill,
related to Palm’s digital media business that were previously included in Solutions Group were contributed to,
and are now included in, PalmSource.
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Had the provisions of SFAS No. 142 been applied for the year ended May 31, 2001, the Company’s net loss
and net loss per share would have been as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year ended
May 31, 2001

Net loss, as reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(356,476)
Add back amortization:

Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,520
Acquired workforce . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,618

Related income tax effect . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (782)

Adjusted net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(332,120)

Net loss per share—basic and diluted, as reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (12.59)
Add back amortization of goodwill, acquired workforce and related income tax
effect . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.86

Adjusted net loss per share—basic and diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (11.73)

Note 9. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands):

May 31, 2003 May 31, 2002

Amortization
Period

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Impairment
Charges Net

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Core technology . . . . . . . . . 24-48 months $18,659 $(15,493) $(2,540) $626 $18,659 $(10,565) $8,094
Non-compete covenants . . . 6-24 months 12,759 (12,596) — 163 12,759 (11,692) 1,067
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36 months 710 (523) — 187 710 (286) 424

$32,128 $(28,612) $(2,540) $976 $32,128 $(22,543) $9,585

All of Palm’s intangible assets are subject to amortization. Estimated future amortization expense for the
fiscal years ending 2004 and 2005 are $0.9 and $0.1 million, respectively.

During the third quarter of fiscal year 2003, the Solutions Group recorded an impairment charge of
$2.5 million, pursuant to SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,
related to the core technology acquired from ThinAirApps. The core technology is no longer considered useful,
and its carrying value is not considered to be recoverable. The fair value of the core technology was determined
using the discounted cash flow method.

Note 10. Other Accrued Liabilities

Other accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

May 31,

2003 2002

Payroll and related expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 14,721 $ 11,967
Rebates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,051 6,702
Deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,328 11,551
Product warranty . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,911 30,008
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 56,063 48,349

$119,074 $108,577
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Note 11. Commitments

Certain Palm facilities are leased under operating leases. Leases expire at various dates through September
2011, and certain facility leases have renewal options with rentals based upon changes in the Consumer Price
Index or the fair market rental value of the property.

Future minimum lease payments, including facilities vacated as part of restructuring activities, are as
follows (in thousands):

Year ended May 31, Operating Capital

2004 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $12,638 $ 891
2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,079 149
2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,747 —
2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,369 —
2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,481 —
Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,468 —

$58,782 1,040

Amount related to interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (41)

Capital lease obligation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 999

Rent expense was $12.0 million, $24.1 million and $19.3 million for fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. In conjunction with its restructuring activities, the Company is attempting to sublease certain excess
space, the proceeds from which would partially offset the Company’s future minimum lease commitments. The
estimated sublease income of $25.7 million is not deducted from the above table. (See Note 15 to consolidated
financial statements.)

In December 2001, Palm issued a subordinated convertible note in the principal amount of $50.0 million to
Texas Instruments. The note bears interest at 5.0% per annum, is due in December 2006 and is convertible into
common stock at an effective conversion price of $92.64 per share. Palm may force a conversion, provided its
common stock has traded above $142.65 per share for a defined period of time. In the event Palm distributes
significant assets, the Company may be required to repay a portion of the note. The proposed PalmSource
distribution (see Note 20 to consolidated financial statements) does not represent a significant distribution of
assets under terms of the note. The note agreement defines certain events of default pursuant to which the full
amount of the note plus interest could become due and payable.

During the third quarter of fiscal year 2001, Palm issued to a vendor a fully vested warrant to purchase up to
12,500 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $584.38 per share. On each anniversary date beginning
January 2002, 25% of the shares subject to the warrant become exercisable. The warrant expires in January 2006.
The fair value of the warrant of $3.8 million was capitalized and is being amortized to cost of revenues over the
term of the agreement. The fair value of the warrant was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
valuation model with the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate, 4.9%; volatility, 67%; option term,
5 years; dividend yield, 0.0%.

As of May 31, 2003, we had in place an asset-backed borrowing-base credit facility from a group of
financial institutions for up to a maximum of $150 million with the actual amount available determined by
eligible accounts receivable and inventory as well as a real estate line of credit less the amount of any
outstanding cash advances and letters of credit. As of May 31, 2003, we had used our credit facility to support the
issuance of letters of credit of $4.6 million. In June 2003, the asset-backed borrowing-base credit facility expired.
The $4.6 million of letters of credit issued under the credit facility were replaced by new letters of credit
collateralized with restricted cash.
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In September 2001, PalmSource’s president and chief executive officer received two restricted stock grants
in aggregate of 7,500 shares of Palm common stock under a two-year vesting schedule subject to vesting
restrictions and a guarantee that the fair market value of the related 7,500 shares of Palm common stock would be
at least $2.0 million at September 2003. The guaranteed amount is recorded ratably as compensation expense
over the vesting period. If on September 1, 2003 the fair market value is less than $2.0 million, PalmSource’s
president and chief executive officer will receive a cash payment, on September 15, 2003, equal to the difference
between $2.0 million and the fair market value of 7,500 shares of Palm common stock. As of May 31, 2003, the
total fair market value of 7,500 shares of Palm common stock was approximately $0.1 million and $1.7 million is
recorded as a liability related to this guarantee.

The Company has patent and license agreements with third party vendors under which the Company is
committed to pay $3.7 million, $4.7 million, $2.1 million, $0.5 million, $0.4 million and $0.3 million during the
years ended May 31, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively.

Palm has a minimum component purchase commitment with a third party under which it could be liable for
payments of up to a maximum of $4.9 million during calendar year 2003.

Palm utilizes contract manufacturers to build its products. These contract manufacturers acquire components
and build product based on demand forecast information supplied by Palm, which typically covers a rolling
12-month period. Consistent with industry practice, Palm acquires inventories through a combination of formal
purchase orders, supplier contracts and open orders based on projected demand information. Such formal and
informal purchase commitments typically cover Palm’s forecasted component and manufacturing requirements
for periods ranging from 30 to 90 days. As of May 31, 2003, Palm had outstanding third-party manufacturing
commitments and component purchase commitments of approximately $82 million.

As part of the separation agreements with 3Com, Palm agreed to assume liabilities arising out of the Xerox,
E-Pass Technologies and Connelly litigation and to indemnify 3Com for any damages it may incur related to
these cases. (See Note 17 to consolidated financial statements.)

Under the indemnification clause of the Company’s standard reseller agreements and software license
agreements, the Company agrees to defend the reseller/licensee against third party claims asserting infringement
by the Company’s products of certain intellectual property rights, which may include patents, copyrights,
trademarks or trade secrets, and to pay any judgments entered on such claims against the reseller/licensee.

The Company’s product warranty accrual reflects management’s best estimate of probable liability under its
product warranties. Management determines the warranty liability based on historical rates of usage as a
percentage of shipment levels and the expected repair cost per unit, service policies and specific known issues.

Changes in the product warranty accrual are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended
May 31, 2003

Balance at beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 30,008
Payments made . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (39,626)
Accrual related to product sold during the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40,414
Change in estimated liability for pre-existing warranties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (12,885)

Balance at end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 17,911

Note 12. Minority Interest in Consolidated Subsidiary

Minority interest in consolidated subsidiary reflects a $20 million investment by Sony Corporation (“Sony”)
in PalmSource, giving Sony an ownership position of 6.25% of PalmSource. PalmSource sold an aggregate of
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3,333,333 shares of its Series A Preferred Stock at a purchase price of $6.00 per share. Sony has been and
continues to be a licensee of the Palm OS owned by PalmSource. Under the terms of a software license
agreement between PalmSource and Sony, PalmSource recorded license, royalty and support revenues of
$11.2 million, $5.3 million and $1.2 million for fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Note 13. Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred Stock

Palm’s Board of Directors has the authority to issue up to 125,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or
more series and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of ownership. No shares of preferred
stock were outstanding at May 31, 2003 and 2002.

Stockholder Rights Plan

In November 2000, the Board of Directors approved a preferred stock rights agreement and issued a
dividend of one right to purchase one one-thousandth of a share of the Company’s Series A Participating
Preferred Stock for each share of common stock outstanding as of November 6, 2000. The rights become
exercisable based upon certain limited conditions related to acquisitions of stock, tender offers, and certain
business combination transactions of Palm.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Palm has an employee stock purchase plan under which eligible employees can contribute up to 10% of
their compensation, as defined in the plan, towards the purchase of shares of Palm common stock at a price of
85% of the lower of the fair market value at the beginning of the offering period or the end of each six-month
purchase period. As of May 31, 2003, 1,750,000 shares of Palm common stock have been reserved for issuance
under the employee stock purchase plan. The employee stock purchase plan provides for annual increases on the
first day of each fiscal year in the number of shares available for issuance equal to 2% of the outstanding shares
of common stock on the first day of the fiscal year, or a lesser amount as may be determined by the Board of
Directors. During the years ended May 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, Palm issued approximately 231,000 shares,
107,000 shares and 37,000 shares, respectively, under the employee stock purchase plan. At May 31, 2003,
approximately 1,377,000 shares were available for issuance under this plan, which increased to 1,961,000 shares
on June 1, 2003 pursuant to the annual plan increase previously described.

Stock Option Plans

Palm has a stock option plan under which options to purchase shares of common stock may be granted to
employees, directors and consultants. Options are generally granted at not less than the fair market value at date of
grant, typically vest over a one- to four-year period and expire ten years after the date of grant. Palm’s stock
option plan also allows for the issuance of restricted stock awards, under which shares of common stock are issued
at par value to key employees, subject to vesting restrictions. For restricted stock awards, compensation expense
equal to the fair market value on the date of the grant is recognized over the vesting period. Certain Palm
employees also participated in the 3Com restricted stock plan, and at the Distribution Date, Palm employees who
had 3Com restricted stock grants forfeited the unvested portion of their 3Com restricted stock grants. The forfeited
unvested shares were replaced by Palm restricted stock grants. During the years ended May 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001, Palm recognized compensation expense of $3,309,000, $4,865,000, and $6,409,000, respectively, related to
Palm restricted stock grants. As of May 31, 2003, 4,948,000 shares of common stock have been reserved for
issuance under the stock option plan. The stock option plan provides for annual increases on the first day of each
fiscal year in the number of shares available for issuance equal to 5% of the outstanding shares of common stock
on the first day of the fiscal year or a lesser amount as may be determined by the Board of Directors. At May 31,
2003, approximately 825,000 shares of common stock were available for grant under this plan, which increased to
2,287,000 shares on June 1, 2003 pursuant to the annual plan increase previously described.
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Palm also has various stock option plans assumed in connection with various mergers and acquisitions.
Except for shares of Palm common stock underlying the options outstanding under these plans, there are no
shares of Palm common stock reserved under these plans, including shares for new grants. In the event that any
such assumed option is not exercised, no further option to purchase shares of Palm common stock will be issued
in place of such unexercised option. However, Palm has the authority, if necessary, to reserve additional shares of
Palm common stock under these plans to the extent such shares are necessary to effect the adjustment to maintain
option value, including intrinsic value, of the outstanding options under these plans as a result of the PalmSource
distribution.

Non-employee Director Stock Option Plan

Under the 2001 Stock Option Plan for Non-employee Directors, options to purchase common stock are
granted to non-employee members of the Board of Directors at an exercise price equal to fair market value on the
date of grant and typically vest over a 36-month period. As of May 31, 2003, 300,000 shares of common stock
have been reserved for issuance under the director stock option plan and approximately 273,000 shares of
common stock were available for grant. The Company also has an Amended and Restated 1999 Director Option
Plan which remains in effect only with respect to outstanding options previously granted and under which no
future grants of stock options will be made.

The following table summarizes the activity under all stock option plans (shares in thousands):

Years ended May 31,

2003 2002 2001

Number
of Shares

Weighted
average

exercise price
Number
of Shares

Weighted
average

exercise price
Number
of Shares

Weighted
average

exercise price

Outstanding at beginning of year . . . . . 2,327 $239.96 1,701 $471.71 654 $548.95
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,615 $ 14.05 1,621 $ 91.09 1,258 $392.68
Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (18) $ 12.96 (2) $ 23.46 (71) $273.15
Cancelled . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (903) $165.48 (993) $399.43 (140) $626.32

Outstanding at end of year . . . . . . . . . . . 4,021 $110.57 2,327 $239.96 1,701 $471.71

Exercisable at end of year . . . . . . . . . . . 1,882 $183.12 737 $339.37 295 $520.14

Prior to the Separation Date, certain Palm employees had been granted options to purchase 3Com common
stock under 3Com’s employee stock option plans. At the Distribution Date, approximately 3,503,000 3Com
options held by Palm employees were converted into options to purchase 334,000 shares of Palm common stock
and are included in the above schedule as fiscal year 2001 grants.

Information relating to stock options outstanding as of May 31, 2003 is as follows (shares in thousands):

Outstanding Exercisable

Range of exercise prices
Number
of shares

Weighted
average

exercise price

Weighted
average

contractual life
Number
of shares

Weighted
average

exercise price

(in years)

$3.80 to $12.10 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 235 $ 10.88 9.7 2 $ 5.85
$12.20 to $13.80 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,797 $ 13.78 9.3 408 $ 13.80
$14.00 to $72.80 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 651 $ 46.70 8.9 307 $ 65.39
$74.40 to $104.80 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 610 $103.73 8.2 562 $104.38
$107.20 to $506.25 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 442 $248.15 6.9 378 $243.91
$508.30 to $1,338.75 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 286 $750.63 6.8 225 $748.16

$3.80 to $1,338.75 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,021 $110.57 8.6 1,882 $183.12
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SFAS No. 123 Assumptions and Fair Value

The fair value of each option grant during the years ended May 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 reported above in
Note 2 to consolidated financial statements was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Years ended
May 31,

Assumptions applicable to stock options 2003 2002 2001

Risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.4% 3.4% 4.9%
Volatility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100% 100% 77%
Option term (in years) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.1 2.5 3.1
Dividend yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Years ended
May 31,

Assumptions applicable to employee stock purchase plan 2003 2002 2001

Risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.4% 3.4% 4.2%
Volatility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 99% 97% 77%
Option term (in years) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.0 2.0 1.8
Dividend yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

The weighted average estimated fair value of stock options granted during the years ended May 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001 was $8.79, $51.62, and $213.34 per share, respectively. The weighted average estimated fair
value of shares granted under the employee stock purchase plan during the years ended May 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001 was $14.73, $32.10 and $150.91 per share, respectively.

Note 14. Income Taxes

The income tax provision (benefit) consists of the following (in thousands):

Years ended May 31,

2003 2002 2001

Current:
Federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ (9,194) $ 25,289
State . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 534 (6,543) 8,549
Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,839 (2,419) 11,914

Total current . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,373 (18,156) 45,752

Deferred:
Federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 172,823 (13,981) (165,022)
State . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46,090 964 (42,317)
Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 712 5,436 (6,128)

Total deferred . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 219,625 (7,581) (213,467)

$224,998 $(25,737) $(167,715)

Income before income taxes for the years ended May 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001 includes foreign subsidiary
income (loss) of $4.4 million, $(42.2) million, and $(43.8) million, respectively.
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The income tax provision (benefit) differs from the amount computed by applying the federal statutory
income tax rate to income before income taxes as follows:

Years ended May 31,

2003 2002 2001

Tax computed at federal statutory rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal effect . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.1) 3.4 4.2
Research tax credits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 2.3 0.5
Acquired in-process technology and non-deductible goodwill . . . . — — (4.3)
Differential in foreign tax rates on earnings (losses) . . . . . . . . . . . (2.3) 4.0 (3.8)
Valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (130.6) (21.0) —
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5.4) 0.2 0.4

(103.4)% 23.9% 32.0%

The significant components of Palm’s deferred income tax assets are (in thousands):

May 31,

2003 2002

Net operating loss carryforwards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 194,830 $161,828
Land impairment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 62,994 23,379
Reserves not currently deductible for tax purposes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36,395 45,161
Tax credit carryforwards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,187 17,187
Deferred expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,815 15,835
Deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,910 5,013
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,435 8,719

341,566 277,122
Valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (306,766) (22,697)

$ 34,800 $254,425

As of the end of fiscal year 2002, Palm had recorded a net deferred tax asset of $254.4 million. The
realization of the net deferred tax asset was supported by certain identified tax strategies, involving the potential
sale or transfer of appreciated assets, which were prudent, feasible and which management would implement, if
necessary, to realize the related tax benefits before Palm’s net operating loss carryforwards expired. The
identified tax strategies included the potential sale or transfer of certain identified business operations, consisting
of the Company’s PalmSource, Inc. subsidiary and the Company’s wireless access service operations, as well as
the transfer of certain intellectual property from a foreign subsidiary to the United States, on a taxable basis.
During the first quarter of fiscal year 2003, there was a significant decline in the value of these identified
business operations and assets. In addition, the Company’s business plans had developed such that the potential
sale or transfer of PalmSource, Inc. and our wireless access service operations on a taxable basis were no longer
feasible tax planning strategies. As a result, the Company recorded a tax provision of $219.6 million to increase
its valuation allowances reflecting these changes and to reduce the net deferred tax assets to $34.8 million, which
is the amount supported by the value of its intellectual property transfer strategy which, as of that date and at the
end of fiscal year 2003, continues to be prudent, feasible and one that management would implement, if
necessary, to realize the related tax benefits before Palm’s net operating loss carryforwards expired. The
valuation allowance also increased as a result of the operating losses incurred during fiscal year 2003.

As of May 31, 2003, Palm has operating loss carryforwards for federal tax purposes totaling approximately
$562 million, which expire in various years through fiscal year 2024. Palm also has approximately $21 million of
remaining operating loss carryforwards acquired through business combinations, which expire in various years
between 2011 and 2022. In addition, Palm has federal and state research and experimental credit carryforwards
of approximately $17 million, which expire in various years between 2007 and 2024.
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Note 15. Restructuring Charges and Excess Inventory and Related Costs

Restructuring charges of $39.5 million recorded during fiscal year 2003 consist of $21.3 million related to
the restructuring actions taken during the third quarter of fiscal year 2003 plus $18.2 million of net adjustments
related to restructuring actions taken in prior fiscal years.

In the third quarter of fiscal year 2003, Palm recorded restructuring charges of $21.3 million related to
workforce reductions, primarily in the United States, of approximately 140 regular employees from the Solutions
Group and approximately 60 regular employees from PalmSource, facilities and property and equipment
disposed of or removed from service and cancelled programs. Restructuring charges relate to the implementation
of a series of actions to better align the Company’s expense structure with its revenues. In accordance with SFAS
No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities, restructuring costs are recorded as
incurred. Restructuring charges are recorded for facilities leased under operating leases, when Palm ceases using
the facility. Restructuring charges for employee workforce reductions are recorded upon employee notification
for employees whose required continuing service period is 60 days or less, and ratably over the employee’s
continuing service period for employees whose required continuing service period is greater than 60 days. As of
May 31, 2003, approximately 120 regular employees from the Solutions Group and 60 regular employees from
PalmSource had been terminated as a result of this restructuring.

Accrued liabilities related to the third quarter of fiscal year 2003 restructuring actions consist of the
following (in thousands):

Discontinued
project costs

Excess facilities and
equipment costs

Workforce
reduction costs Total

Solutions Group
Restructuring expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $10,577 $2,445 $ 6,085 $ 19,107
Cash payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,700) (106) (4,580) (9,386)
Fixed asset write-offs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,510) (743) (131) (4,384)

Solutions Group balances, May 31, 2003 . . . . . . 2,367 1,596 1,374 5,337

PalmSource
Restructuring expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 172 2,064 2,236
Cash payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (172) (1,715) (1,887)

PalmSource balances, May 31, 2003 . . . . . . . . . — — 349 349

Total Palm
Restructuring expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,577 2,617 8,149 21,343
Cash payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,700) (278) (6,295) (11,273)
Fixed asset write-offs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,510) (743) (131) (4,384)

Total Palm balances, May 31, 2003 . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,367 $1,596 $ 1,723 $ 5,686

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2002, Palm recorded restructuring charges of $16.7 million related to
decisions and commitments made in that quarter. These restructuring charges consist of workforce reduction
costs, excess facilities charges and the discontinuance of certain projects. Palm recorded approximately
$5.4 million related to workforce reductions across all geographic regions primarily related to severance, benefits
and related costs due to the reduction of approximately 90 regular employees, approximately $7.7 million related
to facilities and property and equipment that would be disposed of or removed from service in fiscal year 2003
and approximately $3.6 million related to projects that were cancelled. Workforce reductions were completed by
May 31, 2003. During the year ended May 31, 2003, Palm recorded restructuring adjustments totaling
$1.4 million to reflect the changes in the estimated costs of certain actions from the original estimates.

92



Accrued liabilities related to the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2002 restructuring actions consist of the
following (in thousands):

Discontinued
project costs

Excess
facilities costs

Workforce
reduction costs Total

Restructuring expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,600 $ 7,664 $ 5,385 $ 16,649
Cash payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,327) — — (2,327)
Write-offs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (12) — (12)

Balances, May 31, 2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,273 7,652 5,385 14,310
Restructuring adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (857) 302 (850) (1,405)
Cash payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (416) (7,954) (4,535) (12,905)

Balances, May 31, 2003 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ — $ —

In the second quarter of fiscal year 2002, Palm announced actions intended to reduce its cost structure and
originally recorded charges of $21.9 million for these actions. The second quarter fiscal year 2002 restructuring
charge consisted of workforce reduction costs across all geographic regions and excess facilities and related costs
for lease commitments for space no longer needed to support ongoing operations. Workforce reductions affected
approximately 215 regular employees, a reduction from the original estimate of 225 regular employees, and were
substantially complete by the second quarter of fiscal year 2003. During the remainder of fiscal year 2002, Palm
recorded charges totaling $0.2 million primarily due to charges from the original estimate in the expected
sublease income from excess facilities. During the year ended May 31, 2003, Palm recorded restructuring
adjustments totaling $1.5 million to reflect the changes in the estimated costs of certain actions from the original
estimates.

Accrued liabilities related to the second quarter of fiscal year 2002 restructuring actions consist of the
following (in thousands):

Excess
facilities costs

Workforce
reduction costs Total

Restructuring expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 8,364 $ 13,725 $ 22,089
Cash payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,083) (11,786) (13,869)
Write-offs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,693) (202) (3,895)

Balances, May 31, 2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,588 1,737 4,325
Restructuring adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (515) (1,009) (1,524)
Cash payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,073) (728) (2,801)

Balances, May 31, 2003 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ —

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, Palm recorded restructuring charges which consisted of carrying
and development costs related to the land on which Palm had previously planned to build a headquarters facility,
facilities costs related to lease commitments for space no longer intended for use, workforce reduction costs
across all geographic regions and discontinued project costs. These workforce reductions affected approximately
250 regular employees, a reduction from the original estimate of 300 regular employees, and were completed
during the year ended May 31, 2002. During fiscal year 2002, Palm recorded charges totaling $7.8 million due to
changes from the original estimate of the cost of these restructuring actions primarily as a result of a reduction in
estimated sublease income. During the year ended May 31, 2003, Palm recorded additional charges totaling
$21.1 million due to further changes from the original estimate of the cost of the restructuring actions announced
in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001 primarily due to changes in estimates of sublease income for excess
facilities. The ability to realize sublease income is dependent on lease market conditions. The amount of
estimated sublease income may be subject to change based upon developments in lease market conditions and
other pertinent facts. As of May 31, 2003, the balance consists of lease commitments, payable over nine years,
net of estimated sublease income of $25.7 million.
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Accrued liabilities related to the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001 restructuring actions consist of the
following (in thousands):

Land carrying and
development costs

Discontinued
project costs

Excess
facilities costs

Workforce
reduction costs Total

Balances, May 31, 2001 . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,258 $ 2,628 $17,529 $10,984 $ 32,399
Restructuring adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . 1,366 (349) 9,857 (3,059) 7,815
Cash payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,624) (1,788) (9,434) (7,260) (21,106)
Write-offs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (491) (1,400) (340) (2,231)

Balances, May 31, 2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 16,552 325 16,877
Restructuring adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . — — 21,358 (284) 21,074
Cash payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (8,361) (41) (8,402)

Balances, May 31, 2003 . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $29,549 $ — $ 29,549

Cost reduction actions initiated in the second and fourth quarters of fiscal year 2002 and in the fourth
quarter of fiscal year 2001 are complete except for remaining rent payments related to excess facilities. Cost
reduction actions initiated in the third quarter of fiscal year 2003 are expected to be substantially complete by the
end of the second quarter of fiscal year 2004. Palm cannot be assured that current estimates of the costs
associated with these restructuring actions will not change during the implementation period.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, the Company recorded a $268.9 million inventory related charge, in
addition to the restructuring charges described above. During the first three quarters of fiscal year 2001, the
Company was experiencing high growth rates and product supply constraints, including limited supply of certain
key components. As a result the Company purchased inventory and made purchase commitments with third party
suppliers in anticipation of the continuation of this trend. During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, the
Company experienced a sudden and significant decline in demand for its products. Revenues in the fourth quarter
of fiscal year 2001 were $165.3 million compared to revenues of $470.8 million during the third quarter of fiscal
year 2001. This rapid and unexpected decline in demand for handheld device products and in revenues resulted in
Palm recording a charge totaling $268.9 million consisting of $144.3 million for excess inventory and related
tooling costs and $124.6 million of non-cancelable inventory purchase commitments in excess of the Company’s
forecasted needs. This excess inventory charge was calculated in accordance with Palm’s policy, which is based
on inventory levels determined to be in excess of anticipated 12-month demand based upon the Company’s
internal sales and marketing forecasts of product demand and inventory levels in the distribution channel. During
fiscal year 2002, the Company experienced continued customer demand for the products that had been previously
written off and settled the component purchase commitments for less than the original amount. Accordingly,
during fiscal year 2002, the Company recognized a benefit of $101.8 million because it was able to sell
approximately $83.0 million of inventory that had previously been written off and to realize approximately
$18.8 million from the favorable settlement of non-cancelable component commitments.

Note 16. Employee Benefit Plan

Eligible Palm employees may participate in Palm’s 401(k) Plan (“the Plan”). As allowed under Section
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, the Plan provides tax-deferred salary deductions for eligible employees.
Participants may elect to contribute from 1% to 22% of their annual compensation to the Plan each calendar year,
limited to a maximum annual amount as set periodically by the Internal Revenue Service. In addition, the Plan
provides for Company matching contributions as determined by the Board of Directors. Palm matches 50% for
each dollar on the first 6% of target income contributed by the employee. Employees become vested in Palm
matching contributions according to a three-year vesting schedule based on initial date of hire. Palm’s expense
related to 401(k) matching contributions was $2.2 million, $2.3 million, and $2.4 million for the years ended
May 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Note 17. Litigation

Palm is a party to lawsuits in the normal course of its business. Litigation in general, and intellectual
property litigation in particular, can be expensive and disruptive to normal business operations. Moreover, the
results of complex legal proceedings are difficult to predict. Palm believes that it has defenses to the cases set
forth below and is vigorously contesting these matters. Palm is not currently able to estimate, with reasonable
certainty, the possible loss, or range of loss, if any, from the cases listed below, but an unfavorable resolution of
these lawsuits could materially adversely affect Palm’s business, results of operations or financial condition.

On April 28, 1997, Xerox Corporation filed suit in the United States District Court for the Western District
of New York. The case came to be captioned Xerox Corporation v. 3Com Corporation, U.S. Robotics
Corporation, U.S. Robotics Access Corp., and Palm Computing, Inc., Civil Action No. 97-CV-6182T. The
complaint alleged willful infringement of U.S. Patent No. 5,596,656, entitled “Unistrokes for Computerized
Interpretation of Handwriting.” The complaint sought unspecified damages and to permanently enjoin the
defendants from infringing the patent in the future. In 2000, the District Court dismissed the case, ruling that the
patent is not infringed by the Graffiti handwriting recognition system used in handheld computers using Palm’s
operating systems. Xerox appealed the dismissal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit
(“CAFC”). On October 5, 2001, the CAFC affirmed-in-part, reversed-in-part and remanded the case to the
District Court for further proceedings. On December 20, 2001, the District Court granted Xerox’s motion for
summary judgment that the patent is valid, enforceable, and infringed. The defendants filed a Notice of Appeal
on December 21, 2001. On February 22, 2002, the court denied a request for an injunction sought by Xerox to
prohibit the manufacture or sale of products using the Graffiti handwriting recognition system. The court also
rejected a request by Xerox to set a trial date to determine damages Xerox claims it is owed. In connection with
the denial of Xerox’s request to set a trial date on damages, the court required Palm to post a $50 million bond,
which was satisfied with a letter of credit from a financial institution. A Notice of Appeal from the District
Court’s order of February 22, 2002 was filed by Palm on March 15, 2002. A cross-appeal from the District
Court’s order of February 22, 2002 was filed by Xerox on March 4, 2002. A hearing on the appeal and cross-
appeal was held on January 6, 2003 before the CAFC. The CAFC has remanded the case to the District Court for
a determination on the issue of invalidity of the ‘656 patent. Xerox petitioned the CAFC for reconsideration of its
determination on the appeal and cross-appeal, but the CAFC has denied this petition and eliminated the
requirement for the $50 million bond from Palm. If Palm is not successful regarding the remand to the District
Court, the CAFC has noted that an injunction will apply. If an injunction is sought by Xerox and issued, it could
result in business interruption for Palm that would have a significant adverse impact on Palm’s operations and
financial condition if Palm has not transitioned to a handwriting recognition system outside the scope of Xerox’s
asserted claims. In addition, if Palm is not successful with regard to this remand to the District Court, Xerox has
stated in its court pleadings that it will seek at a trial, a significant compensatory and punitive damage award or
license fees from Palm. Furthermore, if Palm is not successful with regard to this remand to the District Court,
Palm might be liable to Palm’s licensees and other third parties under contractual obligations or otherwise sustain
adverse financial impact if Xerox seeks to enforce its patents claims against Palm’s licensees and other third
parties. In connection with Palm’s separation from 3Com, pursuant to the terms of the Indemnification and
Insurance Matters Agreement between 3Com and Palm, Palm may be required to indemnify and hold 3Com
harmless for any damages or losses which may arise out of the Xerox litigation.

On February 28, 2000, E-Pass Technologies, Inc. filed suit against “3Com, Inc.” in the United States
District Court for the Southern District of New York and later filed, on March 6, 2000, an amended complaint
against Palm and 3Com. The case is now captioned E-Pass Technologies, Inc. v. 3Com Corporation, a/k/a 3Com,
Inc. and Palm, Inc., Civil Action No. 00 CIV 1523. The amended complaint alleges willful infringement of U.S.
Patent No. 5,276,311, entitled “Method and Device for Simplifying the Use of Credit Cards, or the Like.” The
complaint seeks unspecified compensatory and treble damages and to permanently enjoin the defendants from
infringing the patent in the future. The case was transferred to the United States District Court for the Northern
District of California. In an Order dated August 12, 2002, the Court granted Palm’s motion for summary
judgment that there was no infringement. E-Pass appealed the Court’s decision to the CAFC. The issues on
appeal before the CAFC have been fully briefed and argued by the parties. On August 21, 2003, the CAFC issued
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a ruling reversing the claim construction of the District Court and the attendant summary judgment motion and
remanded the case to the District Court for further proceedings. In connection with Palm’s separation from
3Com, pursuant to the terms of the Indemnification and Insurance Matters Agreement between 3Com and Palm,
Palm may be required to indemnify and hold 3Com harmless for any damages or losses, which may arise out of
the E-Pass litigation.

On March 14, 2001, NCR Corporation filed suit against Palm and Handspring, Inc. in the United States
District Court for the District of Delaware. The case is captioned NCR Corporation v. Palm, Inc. and
Handspring, Inc., Civil Action No. 01-169. The complaint alleges infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 4,634,845
and 4,689,478, entitled, respectively, “Portable Personal Terminal for Use in a System for Handling
Transactions” and “System for Handling Transactions Including a Portable Personal Terminal.” The complaint
seeks unspecified compensatory and treble damages and to permanently enjoin the defendants from infringing
the patents in the future. The case was referred to Magistrate Judge Mary P. Thynge. In a Memorandum Opinion
dated July 11, 2002, the Magistrate Judge indicated that she would recommend that the District Court grant the
defendants’ motion for summary judgment that there was no infringement. NCR filed objections to the
recommendations of the Magistrate Judge, and Palm has filed a response to NCR’s objections. The District Court
granted Palm’s motion for summary judgment, ruling that Palm products do not infringe the NCR patents, and
denied NCR’s motion.

On January 23, 2003, Peer-to-Peer Systems LLC filed a complaint against Palm in the United States District
Court for the District of Delaware. The case is captioned Peer-to-Peer Systems, LLC vs. Palm, Inc., Civil Action
No. 03-115. The complaint alleges infringement of U.S. Patent No. 5,618,045 entitled “Interactive Multiple
Player Game System and Method of Playing a Game Between at Least Two Players”. The complaint seeks
unspecified compensatory and treble damages and to permanently enjoin the defendant from infringing the patent
in the future. Palm believes that the claims are without merit and intends to defend against them vigorously. The
parties have begun the discovery process.

In June 2001, the first of several putative stockholder class action lawsuits was filed in United States District
Court, Southern District of New York against certain of the underwriters for Palm’s initial public offering, Palm and
several of its officers. The complaints, which have been consolidated under the caption In re Palm, Inc. Initial
Public Offering Securities Litigation, Case No. 01 CV 5613, assert that the prospectus from Palm’s March 2, 2000
initial public offering failed to disclose certain alleged actions by the underwriters for the offering. The complaints
allege claims against Palm and the officers under Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
Certain of the complaints also allege claims under Section 10(b) and Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended. Other actions have been filed making similar allegations regarding the initial public offerings
of more than 300 other companies. All of these various consolidated cases have been coordinated for pretrial
purposes as In re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation, Civil Action No. 21-MC-92. An amended
consolidated complaint was filed in April 2002. The claims against the individual defendants have been dismissed
without prejudice pursuant to an agreement with plaintiffs. The Court has denied Palm’s motion to dismiss. A
special committee of Palm’s Board of Directors recently approved a tentative settlement proposal from plaintiffs,
which includes a guaranteed recovery to be paid by the issuer defendants’ insurance carriers and an assignment of
certain claims the issuers, including Palm, may have against the underwriters. There is no guarantee that the
settlement will become final however, as it is subject to a number of conditions, including court approval. Palm
believes that it has meritorious defenses to the claims against it and intends to defend the action vigorously if the
case does not settle.

On August 7, 2001, a purported consumer class action lawsuit was filed against Palm and 3Com in
California Superior Court, San Francisco County. The case is captioned Connelly et al v. Palm, Inc., 3 Com Corp
et al, Case No. 323587. An amended complaint alleging breach of warranty and violation of California’s Unfair
Competition Law was filed and served on Palm on August 15, 2001. The amended complaint, filed on behalf of
purchasers of Palm III, IIIc, V and Vx handhelds, alleges that certain Palm handhelds may cause damage to PC
cause damage to PC motherboards by permitting an electrical charge, or “floating voltage,” from either the
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handheld or the cradle to be introduced into the PC via the serial and/or USB port on the PC. The plaintiffs allege
that this damage is the result of a design defect in one or more of the following: HotSync software, handheld,
cradle and/or the connection cable. The complaint seeks restitution, rescission, damages, an injunction mandating
corrective measures to protect against future damage as well as notifying users of potential harm. Discovery is
closed. The parties engaged in mediation and have reached an agreement in principle to settle the action, subject to
acceptable documentation and court approval. In connection with Palm’s separation from 3Com, pursuant to the
terms of the Indemnification and Insurance Matters Agreement between 3Com and Palm, Palm may be required to
indemnify and hold 3Com harmless for any damages or losses which may arise out of the Connelly litigation.

On January 23, 2002, a purported consumer class action lawsuit was filed against Palm in California
Superior Court, San Francisco County. The case is captioned Eley et al v. Palm, Inc., Case No. 403768. The
unverified complaint, filed on behalf of purchasers of Palm m500 and m505 handhelds, alleges (1) that the
HotSync function in certain Palm handhelds does not perform as advertised and the products are therefore
defective and (2) that upon learning of the problem, Palm did not perform proper corrective measures for
individual customers as set forth in the product warranty. The complaint alleges Palm’s actions are a violation of
California’s Unfair Competition Law and a breach of express warranty. The complaint seeks alternative relief
including an injunction to have Palm desist from selling and advertising the handhelds, to recall the defective
handhelds, to restore the units to their advertised functionality, to pay restitution or disgorgement of the purchase
price of the units and/or damages and attorneys’ fees. Palm filed its answer denying the allegations and the
parties engaged in document and deposition discovery. Plaintiff and Palm engaged in mediation and have
reached an agreement in principle to settle the action, subject to acceptable documentation and court approval.
No trial date has been set.

On March 11, 2002, a purported consumer class action lawsuit was filed against Palm in the Wayne County
Circuit Court, Detroit, Michigan. The case is captioned Hayman, et al. v Palm, Inc., Case No. 02-208249-CP.
Plaintiffs allege that certain of Palm’s advertisements for its Palm III, V and m100 handheld devices were false
or misleading regarding the ability of the device to wirelessly and remotely access emails or the Internet without
the need for additional hardware or software sold separately. Plaintiffs allege violations of the Michigan
Consumer Protection Act, breach of express and implied warranties and Michigan common law, and seek to
recover the purchase price of the device from Palm for themselves and a class of all similarly situated consumers.
Palm has filed a motion to dismiss the lawsuit in its entirety. The Court has heard arguments on that motion, and
it has advised that it would rule on Palm’s motion to dismiss before considering the suitability of this lawsuit for
class treatment.

In October 2002, a purported consumer class action lawsuit was filed against Palm in Illinois Circuit Court,
Cook County. The case is captioned Goldstein v. Palm, Inc., Case No. 02CH19678. The case alleges consumer
fraud regarding Palm’s representations that its m100, III, V, and VII handheld personal digital assistant, as sold,
would provide wireless access to the Internet and email accounts, and would perform common business functions
including data base management, custom form creation and viewing Microsoft Word and Excel documents,
among other tasks. The case seeks unspecified actual damages and indemnification of certain costs. Palm
responded to the complaint and the case is in its early stages. No trial date has been set.

In August and September 2002, four purported consumer class action lawsuits were filed against Palm in
California Superior Court, Santa Clara County; California Superior Court, San Diego County; Illinois Circuit
Court, Cook County; and Illinois Circuit Court, St. Clair County. The respective cases are captioned Lipner and
Ouyang v. Palm, Inc., Case No. CV-810533; Veltman v. Palm, Inc., Case No. 02CH16143; Wireless Consumer’s
Alliance, Inc. v. Palm, Inc., Case No. GIC-794940; and Cokenour v. Palm, Inc., Case No. 02L0592. All four
cases allege consumer fraud regarding Palm’s representations that its m130 handheld personal digital assistant
supported more than 65,000 colors. Certain of the cases also allege breach of express warranty and unfair
competition. In general, the cases seek unspecified damages and/or to enjoin Palm from continuing it’s allegedly
misleading advertising. The parties have tentatively agreed to a settlement in principle, subject to acceptable
documentation and court approval.
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On February 27, 2003, a purported consumer class action lawsuit was filed against Palm in California
Superior Court, Santa Clara County. The case is captioned Hemmingsen et al v. Palm, Inc., Case No. CV815074.
The unverified complaint, filed on behalf of purchasers of Palm m515 handhelds, alleges that such handhelds fail
at unacceptably high rates, and in particular that instant updating and synchronization of data with PCs often will
not occur. The complaint further alleges that, upon learning of the problem, Palm did not perform proper
corrective measures for individual customers as set forth in the product warranty, among other things. The
complaint alleges that Palm’s actions violate California’s Unfair Competition Law and constitute a breach of
warranty. The complaint seeks restitution, disgorgement, damages, an injunction mandating corrective measures
including a full replacement program for all allegedly defective m515s or, alternatively mandating a refund to all
purported class members of the full purchase price for their m515s, and attorneys’ fees. The parties have begun
the discovery process.

On or about June 17 and 19, 2003, respectively, two putative class action lawsuits were filed in the Court of
Chancery in the State of Delaware in and for the County of New Castle against Palm, Handspring and various
officers and directors of Handspring. The cases are captioned Goldhirsch v. Handspring, Inc., et. al., Civil Action
No. 20376-NC and Majarian v. Handspring, Inc., et. al., Civil Action No. 20381-NC. The Majarian complaint
was amended on or about June 23, 2003 to, among other things, delete certain previously named officer
defendants. Both complaints allege that the officers and directors of Handspring breached their fiduciary duties to
Handspring stockholders by, among other things, failing to undertake an appropriate evaluation of Handspring’s
net worth as a merger or acquisition candidate and failing to maximize Handspring stockholder value by not
engaging in a meaningful auction of Handspring. The Majarian complaint also alleges, among other things, that
the officers and directors of Handspring breached their fiduciary duties by failing to act independently so that the
interests of Handspring’s public stockholders would be protected and enhanced. Both complaints allege that Palm
aided and abetted the alleged breaches of fiduciary duty of Handspring’s officers and directors. Both complaints
seek, among other things, a preliminary and permanent injunction against the transaction, a recission of the
transaction if it is consummated and unspecified damages. The Goldhirsch complaint also requests, among other
things, that the Court order Handspring’s officers and directors to take all necessary steps to maximize
stockholder value, including open bidding and/or a market check. Palm believes that the lawsuits are without
merit and intends to vigorously defend the cases.

Note 18. Related Party Transactions

Transactions with 3Com Corporation

After the legal separation from 3Com in February 2000, Palm has paid 3Com for certain leased facilities and
for transitional services required while Palm established its independent infrastructure, with transitional services
being completed in the third quarter of fiscal year 2002. Amounts paid to 3Com under these agreements since the
separation date were approximately $15.3 million, $25.2 million and $31.9 million for fiscal years 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively.

A Tax Sharing Agreement allocates 3Com’s and Palm’s responsibilities for certain tax matters. The
agreement requires Palm to pay 3Com for the incremental tax costs of Palm’s inclusion in consolidated,
combined or unitary tax returns with affiliated corporations. The agreement also provides for compensation or
reimbursement as appropriate to reflect re-determinations of Palm’s tax liability for periods during which Palm
joined in filing consolidated, combined or unitary tax returns with affiliated corporations.

Each member of a consolidated group for United States federal income tax purposes is jointly and severally
liable for the group’s federal income tax liability. Accordingly, Palm could be required to pay a deficiency in the
group’s federal income tax liability for a period during which Palm was a member of the group even if the Tax
Sharing Agreement allocates that liability to 3Com or another member.
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Effective as of the date of Palm’s legal separation from 3Com, subject to specified exceptions, Palm and
3Com each released the other from any liabilities arising from their respective businesses or contracts, as well as
liabilities arising from a breach of the separation agreement or any ancillary agreement.

Under the terms of a software license agreement between PalmSource and 3Com, PalmSource recorded
$0.4 million, $0.2 million and $0.1 million of support revenues for fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

Other Transactions and Relationships

In October 2002, Sony purchased Series A Preferred Stock of PalmSource, giving Sony an ownership
position of 6.25% of PalmSource. Sony has been and continues to be a licensee of the Palm OS owned by
PalmSource. Under the terms of a software license agreement between PalmSource and Sony, PalmSource
recorded $11.2 million, $5.3 million and $1.2 million of license, royalty and support revenues for fiscal years
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Effective October 2002, PalmSource entered into a business collaboration
agreement which expires in October 2012 with Sony under which PalmSource and Sony agreed to share certain
information regarding ongoing product and development plans and, for a period of at least three years, to
establish mutually agreed written co-development plans for potential areas of joint development.

Palm entered into a business consulting agreement effective as of June 2002 with Satjiv Chahil, who was
formerly Palm’s Chief Marketing Officer. Under this consulting agreement, Palm paid Mr. Chahil approximately
$0.4 million in consulting fees during fiscal year 2003. This consulting agreement expired on May 31, 2003.
During the term of the consulting agreement, Mr. Chahil served as a Palm spokesperson, delivering keynote
addresses at industry forums and assisting with industry and analyst relations activities, assisted with the
separation of PalmSource from Palm, and solicited advice and feedback from key influencers and opinion leaders
on Palm’s strategy and products.

In fiscal year 2003, Palm made a $1.0 million equity investment in and entered into a product procurement
agreement with Mobile Digital Media, Inc., a company founded by Barry Cottle, the former Senior Vice
President and Chief Internet Officer of Palm until his employment with Palm terminated in February 2002. Palm
paid $4.6 million for products purchased under the product procurement agreement during fiscal year 2003.
These products were purchased by Palm for resale.

In fiscal year 2003, Palm purchased $0.3 million of software licenses and services from Kontiki, Inc. The
agreement pursuant to which the licenses were acquired provides Palm with a fixed number of copies of
Kontiki’s digital content delivery software. It also grants to Palm the right to certain professional services for a
period of time after execution of the agreement. Under the agreement, Kontiki agrees to provide maintenance and
support services for a fee. As of the date of this report, Palm had paid the license fees in full. Michael Homer, a
current member of Palm’s Board of Directors, is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Kontiki, Inc.

In fiscal year 2003, Palm purchased $0.1 million of products from SanDisk Corporation through a series of
purchase orders and without further obligations on the part of Palm. Judy Bruner, Palm’s current Chief Financial
Officer, serves as a member of SanDisk’s Board of Directors.

Note 19. Business Segment Information

Palm develops, designs and markets Palm Branded handheld devices, accessories and the Palm OS
operating system. The Company is organized into two operating segments—the Solutions Group and
PalmSource. The Solutions Group develops and markets handheld devices and accessories to provide the user
with a simple, elegant and useful productivity tool. PalmSource develops and licenses the Palm OS and related
software, which is referred to as the Palm platform. The Palm platform is the foundation for Palm devices as well
as for devices manufactured by other third-party licensees.
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The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as for the Company as a whole, except that
for segment reporting purposes, PalmSource recognizes intersegment revenues from the Solutions Group based
on information reported by the Solutions Group in the month subsequent to the period of sale by the Solutions
Group of a Palm OS device, in accordance with the Palm OS license agreement between PalmSource and the
Solutions Group. For management reporting purposes, the Company does not allocate income tax provision
(benefit) to the operating segments.

The Solutions Group licenses the Palm platform from PalmSource and pays an intersegment royalty.
Intersegment revenues and expenses between Solutions Group and PalmSource are eliminated in consolidation.

Year ended May 31, 2003

Solutions
Group PalmSource Eliminations

Total
Palm

(in thousands)

Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 837,637 $ 73,414 $(39,105) $ 871,946
Cost of revenues * . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 625,245 5,719 (39,635) 591,329
Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 160,705 17,272 (74) 177,903
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 70,927 40,101 (417) 110,611
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,725 12,374 80 50,179

Segment operating contribution (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (56,965) (2,052)
Amortization of intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,127 4,942 — 6,069
Separation costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,258 5,024 — 9,282
Impairment charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 102,540 — — 102,540
Restructuring charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,504 1,984 — 39,488

Operating income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (202,394) (14,002) 941 (215,455)
Interest and other income (expenses), net . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,005 (5,134) — (2,129)

Segment income (loss) before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(199,389) $(19,136) $ 941 $(217,584)

* Segment cost of revenues excludes the applicable portion of amortization of intangible assets which is
included in the line “amortization of intangible assets”.

Year ended May 31, 2002

Solutions
Group PalmSource Eliminations

Total
Palm

(in thousands)

Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,004,388 $ 69,883 $(43,440) $1,030,831
Cost of revenues * . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 782,709 4,931 (42,115) 745,525
Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 217,998 19,309 (82) 237,225
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 91,539 50,033 126 141,698
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43,598 12,779 67 56,444

Segment operating contribution (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . (131,456) (17,169)
Cost of revenues—benefit for special excess inventory
and related costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (101,844) — — (101,844)

Amortization of intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,548 5,983 — 12,531
Separation costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,023 519 — 1,542
Restructuring charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44,357 2,196 — 46,553

Operating income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (81,540) (25,867) (1,436) (108,843)
Interest and other income (expenses), net . . . . . . . . . . . 1,615 (677) — 938

Segment income (loss) before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (79,925) $(26,544) $ (1,436) $ (107,905)
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Year ended May 31, 2001

Solutions
Group PalmSource Eliminations

Total
Palm

(in thousands)

Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,533,171 $ 86,432 $(60,291) $1,559,312
Cost of revenues * . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,118,490 2,580 (60,192) 1,060,878
Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 311,686 25,589 — 337,275
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 103,559 55,491 — 159,050
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 74,987 12,855 — 87,842

Segment operating contribution (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (75,551) (10,083)
Cost of revenues—benefit for special excess inventory
and related costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 268,930 — — 268,930

Amortization of intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27,907 9,414 — 37,321
Separation costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,007 1,461 — 5,468
Impairment charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 106,669 — — 106,669
Restructuring charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 58,662 2,226 — 60,888
Purchased in-process technology . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 853 210 — 1,063

Operating income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (542,579) (23,394) (99) (566,072)
Interest and other income (expenses), net . . . . . . . . . . . 41,870 11 — 41,881

Segment income (loss) before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (500,709) $(23,383) $ (99) $ (524,191)

* Segment cost of revenues excludes the applicable portion of amortization of intangible assets which is
included in the line “amortization of intangible assets”.

Historical information has been restated to conform to the current segment presentation. This includes
applying the terms of the license agreement between the Solutions Group and PalmSource, as amended and
restated, effective in the third quarter of fiscal year 2002, to the prior periods and reporting the imputed royalties
as revenues for PalmSource and cost of revenues for Solutions Group. These imputed royalties would not be
reported as revenues of PalmSource or as cost of revenues of Solutions Group under generally accepted
accounting principles in the separate financial statements of the respective entities.

As of May 31, 2003 and 2002, total assets for Solutions Group were $496.1 million and $905.2 million, total
assets for PalmSource were $108.3 million and $117.7 million and eliminations were $27.7 million and
$33.8 million, respectively. Assets were not allocated to segments for internal reporting purposes prior to fiscal
year 2002.

Geographic Information

Palm’s headquarters and most of its operations are located in the United States. Palm conducts its sales,
marketing and customer service activities throughout the world and also has a research and development facility
in France. Geographic revenue information is based on the location of the customer. For fiscal years 2003, 2002
and 2001, no single country outside the United States accounted for 10% or more of total revenues. Land not in
use is located in the United States. Revenues from unaffiliated customers and property and equipment by
geographic region are as follows (in thousands):

Years ended May 31,

2003 2002 2001

Revenues:
United States . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $526,821 $ 670,332 $ 966,613
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 345,125 360,499 592,699

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $871,946 $1,030,831 $1,559,312
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May 31,

2003 2002 2001

(in thousands)

Property and equipment, net:
United States . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $32,654 $46,470 $59,567
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,968 5,086 3,855

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $34,622 $51,556 $63,422

Note 20. Subsequent Events

On June 4, 2003, Palm entered into an agreement for a transaction which includes the proposed PalmSource
distribution and the proposed Handspring merger. In the PalmSource distribution, the 10.0 million shares (as
recapitalized via PalmSource’s one-for-five reverse stock split to take effect immediately prior to the distribution
date) of PalmSource common stock held by Palm will be distributed to existing Palm stockholders on a pro rata
basis. The final exchange ratio for the PalmSource distribution will be determined based on the number of shares
of Palm common stock outstanding at the distribution date. In the Handspring merger, the stockholders of
Handspring will receive 0.09 of a share of Palm common stock for each share of Handspring common stock held
(an aggregate of approximately 13.4 million shares of Palm common stock, based on the number of shares of
Handspring common stock outstanding at June 28, 2003, Handspring’s fiscal year end). The closing of the
transaction effecting the PalmSource distribution and the Handspring merger is subject to stockholder approval
and other customary conditions. The acquisition of Handspring by Palm will be a stock transaction and accounted
for using the purchase method pursuant to SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations.

On July 3, 2003, Palm filed a Registration Statement on Form S-4 with the Securities and Exchange
Commission which includes Palm’s and Handspring’s joint proxy statement/prospectus for the transaction
involving the distribution of PalmSource common stock held by Palm to Palm’s stockholders and Palm’s
subsequent acquisition of Handspring.

On August 22, 2003, Palm sold 1.2 million shares of its common stock under its universal shelf registration
statement to an institutional investor at a price of $15 per share, with proceeds to Palm of $18.0 million. The
proceeds of the offering will be allocated to the Solutions Group and will be used for general corporate purposes,
including capital expenditures and to meet working capital needs. Pending their application, the net proceeds will
be invested in interest bearing securities.

On August 28, 2003, Palm entered into a two-year, $30.0 million revolving credit line from a financial
institution. The credit line is secured by assets of the Company, including but not limited to cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, inventory and property and equipment. The interest rate may vary based on
fluctuations in market rates. Palm is subject to certain financial covenant requirements under the agreement.

As of August 29, 2003, Palm had entered into agreements to sell 1.2 million shares of its common stock
under its universal shelf registration statement to a group of institutional investors at a price of $15.90 per share,
with proceeds to Palm of approximately $19.1 million. The proceeds of the offering will be allocated to the
Solutions Group and will be used for general corporate purposes, including capital expenditures and to meet
working capital needs. Pending their application, the net proceeds will be invested in interest bearing securities.
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Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following tables present Palm’s condensed operating results for each of the eight fiscal quarters in the
period ended May 31, 2003. The information for each of these quarters is unaudited and has been prepared on the
same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K. In the opinion of
management, all necessary adjustments, which consist only of normal and recurring accruals, have been included
to fairly present the unaudited quarterly results. This data should be read together with Palm’s consolidated
financial statements and the notes to those statements included in this Form 10-K. On October 15, 2002, Palm
effected a one-for-twenty reverse stock split. All share and per share information herein reflect this reverse stock
split.

Three months ended (in thousands)

May 31,
2003

February 28,
2003

November 30
2002

August 31,
2002

May 31,
2002

February 28,
2002

November 30,
2001

August 31,
2001

Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $225,758 $ 209,016 $264,904 $ 172,268 $233,283 $292,651 $290,580 $214,317
Cost of revenues * . . . . . . . . . . 152,303 144,989 179,785 119,416 137,917 180,619 188,669 142,782
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . (15,021) (172,336) 3,520 (258,745) (27,477) 2,948 (25,208) (32,431)
Net income (loss) per share—

Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.51) (5.93) 0.12 (8.93) (0.95) 0.10 (0.89) (1.14)
Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.51) (5.93) 0.12 (8.93) (0.95) 0.10 (0.89) (1.14)

Shares used in computing per
share amounts—
Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29,180 29,082 29,046 28,968 28,937 28,838 28,423 28,361
Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29,180 29,082 29,086 28,968 28,937 28,869 28,423 28,361

* Cost of revenues includes ‘Cost of revenues’, ‘Cost of revenues—charge (benefit) for special excess inventory and related costs’ and the
applicable portion of ‘Amortization of intangible assets’.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the
Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the
period covered by this report were effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by us in reports
that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. We believe that a control
system, no matter how well designed and operated, cannot provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the
control system are met, and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and
instances of fraud, if any, within a company have been detected.

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the
Exchange Act) that occurred during our fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Part III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers

Directors

Set forth below is information concerning our current directors, their ages as of August 29, 2003 and the
year in which they became a director.

Name Age
Director
Since

Eric A. Benhamou . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48 1999
R. Todd Bradley . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44 2002
Gordon A. Campbell . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 59 1999
Gareth C.C. Chang . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60 2001
Jean-Jacques Damlamian . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 61 2000
Michael Homer . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45 2000
David C. Nagel . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 58 2000
Susan G. Swenson . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55 1999

Eric A. Benhamou has served as our Chief Executive Officer since November 2001 and our Chairman of
the Board of Directors since September 1999. From September 1990 to December 2000, he served as Chief
Executive Officer of 3Com Corporation, a provider of voice and data networking products, services and solutions
and Palm’s parent company prior to Palm’s initial public offering. Previously, he held a variety of senior
management positions in engineering, operations and management at 3Com. In 1981, Mr. Benhamou co-founded
Bridge Communications, an early networking pioneer, and was Vice President of Engineering until its merger
with 3Com in 1987. Before joining Bridge Communications, from 1977 to 1981, he worked at Zilog, Inc., a
designer, manufacturer and marketer of semiconductors for worldwide-embedded control markets, serving as
Project Manager, Software Engineering Manager and Design Engineer. Mr. Benhamou also serves as Chairman
of the Board of PalmSource, Inc., Cypress Semiconductor Inc., 3Com Corporation, Intransa and Atrica and as a
director of Legato Systems, Inc. Mr. Benhamou serves on the Executive Committee of TechNet. In addition, he
serves on the Stanford University School of Engineering Board of Advisors, as Vice Chairman of the Board of
Governors of Ben Gurion University and as Chairman of the Israel Venture Network. Mr. Benhamou holds
honorary doctoral degrees from Ben Gurion University of the Negev, Widener University, the University of
South Carolina and Western Governor’s University. He has a master of science degree in electrical engineering
from Stanford University and a Diplôme d’Ingénieur from Ecole Nationale Supérieure d’Arts et Métiers, Paris.

R. Todd Bradley has served as one of our directors since July 2002. Mr. Bradley was named Chief
Executive Officer of the Solutions Group of Palm, Inc. in June 2002, effective as of September 2002. He has
served as President and Chief Operating Officer of the Solutions Group since May 2002. From June 2001 to May
2002 Mr. Bradley served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of the Solutions Group. From
September 1998 to January 2001, Mr. Bradley held executive positions at Gateway Corporation, a computer
supplier and seller, serving most recently as Executive Vice President, Global Operations. From February 1997
to September 1998, he served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Transport International Pool, a GE
Capital Services company that is a global transportation equipment leasing and rental business. From September
1993 to February 1997, Mr. Bradley was with Dun & Bradstreet, a provider of business information solutions,
most recently serving as President of NCH Promotional Services, a Dun & Bradstreet subsidiary. Mr. Bradley
previously held various management positions within logistics, production and quality control at Federal Express
Corporation, an express international distributor of time-sensitive packages, documents and freight, and the
Miller Brewing Company, a beer brewer and distributor. Mr. Bradley holds a Bachelor of Science degree in
Business Administration from Towson State University.

Gordan A. Campbell has served as one of our directors since September 1999. Mr. Campbell is the
founder and, since 1993, has been President and Chairman of the Board, of Techfarm, Inc., a company formed to
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launch technology-based start-up companies. Mr. Campbell was the founder of a company that designs and
distributes very large-scale integrated circuit products, and served as its President and Chief Executive Officer
from December 1984 until November 1993, and as its Chairman of the Board from December 1984 until
November 1995. Mr. Campbell also serves as a director of Bell Microproducts, Inc. and Chairman of the board
of directors of 3D/Fx Interactive Inc.

Gareth C.C. Chang has served as one of our directors since July 2001. He has been the Chairman and
Managing Partner of GC3 & Associates International, LLC, a private investment and consulting company, since
June 2000. From September 1998 to April 2000, Mr. Chang served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
STAR TV, a provider of satellite television in Asia, and Executive Director of News Corporation, a global
provider of news, sports and entertainment. From July 1993 to August 1998, Mr. Chang was President of Hughes
Electronics International, a provider of digital television entertainment, broadband satellite networks and services
and global video and data broadcasting. During this time he also served as President of Direct TV International, a
provider of digital satellite television entertainment. Previously, he was Corporate Vice President of McDonnell
Douglas Corporation, a defense contractor, manufacturer of commercial airplanes and wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Boeing Company. Mr. Chang holds a bachelors degree in mathematics and physics from California State
University, Fullerton and a master of business administration degree from Pepperdine University. He also holds
an honorary doctoral of science degree from California State University, Fullerton, is currently a visiting
professor at Tsinghua University in Beijing, China and is also serving on the Public Policy Advisory Board of the
University of California, Los Angeles. Mr. Chang is currently a member of the Advisory Council of Nike Inc.
and also serves as a director of SRS Labs Inc.

Jean-Jacques Damlamian has served as one of our directors since September 2000. Mr. Damlamian has
been Senior Vice President, Group Technology and Innovation at France Telecom, a telecommunications
operator and network supplier, since January 2003. From January 1996 until January 2003, Mr. Damlamian
served as Group Executive Vice President in charge of the Development Branch of France Telecom. From April
1991 until January 1996, Mr. Damlamian was Senior Vice President, Marketing and Sales for France Telecom.
Mr. Damlamian served as Group Vice President, International and Industrial Affairs for France Telecom from
November 1989 until April 1991, and was its Vice President, Mobile Services from May 1988 until November
1989. Prior to May 1988, Mr. Damlamian worked in various divisions of France Telecom. Mr. Damlamian
graduated from the Ecole Polytechnique and Ecole Nationale Superieure des Telecommunications, and he is a
member of the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE). Mr. Damlamian is a recipient of the
French Legion d’Honneur and the Ordre National du Merite. In March 2001, Mr. Damlamian was elected Non-
Executive Chairman of the Supervisory Board of EUTELSAT S.A., a company that is incorporated in France and
operates satellite services throughout Europe and other parts of the world. Mr. Damlamian also serves as a
director of Bull S.A.

Michael Homer has served as one of our directors since February 2000. Mr. Homer has been the Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of Kontiki, Inc., a provider of a managed delivery system for enterprise media
and document control, since November 2000. From April 1999 to November 2000, Mr. Homer was Senior Vice
President at America Online, an Internet service provider. Prior to Netscape’s acquisition by America Online,
Mr. Homer held various positions at Netscape, a provider of software, services and website resources to
businesses and consumers using the Internet, beginning in October 1994, including Executive Vice President,
Sales and Marketing and General Manager of Netscape Netcenter. From April 1994 to October 1994, Mr. Homer
was a consultant. From August 1993 to April 1994, Mr. Homer served as Vice President, Engineering at EO
Corporation, a hand-held computer manufacturer, and from July 1991 to July 1993, Mr. Homer was Vice
President, Marketing of Go Corporation, a pen-based software company. He had previously been Director of
Product Marketing of Apple, a manufacturer of personal computers and related personal computing resources,
where he held various technical and marketing positions from 1982 through 1991. Mr. Homer holds a Bachelor
of Science degree from the University of California, Berkeley.

David C. Nagel has served as President and Chief Executive Officer of PalmSource, Inc., a subsidiary of
Palm, since December 2001 and has served as one of Palm’s directors since February 2000. From September
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2001 until December 2001, Dr. Nagel served as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Platform Solutions
Group of Palm. From April 1996 to September 2001 Dr. Nagel was the Chief Technology Officer of AT&T
Corp., a communications services corporation, President of AT&T Labs, a corporate research and development
unit of AT&T, and the Chief Technology Officer of Concert, a partnership between AT&T and British Telecom.
Prior to joining AT&T, Dr. Nagel was a Senior Vice President of Apple Computer, where he led the worldwide
research and development group responsible for Macintosh hardware, Mac OS software, imaging and other
peripheral products. Before joining Apple in 1988, Dr. Nagel was head of human factor research at NASA’s
Ames Research Center. Dr. Nagel holds undergraduate and graduate degrees in engineering and a doctorate in
experimental psychology, all from the University of California, Los Angeles. Dr. Nagel also serves as a director
of Liberate Technologies and PalmSource, Inc.

Susan G. Swenson has served as one of our directors since October 1999. Ms. Swenson has been President
and Chief Operating Officer and a director of Leap Wireless International, Inc., a provider of communications
solutions for the mass consumer market, since July 1999. From July 1999 to July 2000, Ms. Swenson was Chief
Executive Officer of Cricket Communications, Inc., a wireless communications service provider in the U.S. From
March 1994 to July 1999, Ms. Swenson served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Cellular One, a joint
venture between AirTouch/Vodafone and AT&T Wireless, two wireless communications service providers. On
April 13, 2003, Leap Wireless International and substantially all of its subsidiaries filed a voluntary petition for
reorganization under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code of 1978, as amended. Ms. Swenson is also a director of
Wells Fargo Bank.

Executive Officers

Set forth below is information concerning our current executive officers and their ages as of July 25, 2003.

Name Age Position

Eric A. Benhamou . . . . . . . . . 48 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
R. Todd Bradley . . . . . . . . . . 44 President and Chief Executive Officer, Solutions Group
David C. Nagel . . . . . . . . . . . 58 President and Chief Executive Officer, PalmSource, Inc.
Judy Bruner . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Marianne F. Jackson . . . . . . . 48 Senior Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer

Judy Bruner has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since September 1999. Prior
to joining Palm, from April 1988 to September 1999, Ms. Bruner held several executive and management
positions at 3Com Corporation. From April 1998 to September 1999, she was Vice President and Corporate
Controller of 3Com. From October 1996 to April 1998, Ms. Bruner was the Vice President, Finance for 3Com’s
Enterprise Systems Business Unit and from June 1995 to October 1996, she served as 3Com’s Vice President and
Corporate Treasurer. From April 1988 to June 1995 Ms. Bruner served in a variety of 3Com financial
management positions including Corporate Treasurer. Prior to joining 3Com, Ms. Bruner served as the Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer for Ridge Computers Inc., a privately held company that designed and
manufactured computer systems. She was with Ridge Computers Inc. from December 1984 until April 1988.
From July 1980 to December 1984, Ms. Bruner held a variety of accounting and finance positions at Hewlett-
Packard Company. Ms. Bruner holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in economics from the University of California,
Los Angeles and a Master of Business Administration degree from Santa Clara University. Ms. Bruner also
serves on the Board of Directors of SanDisk Corporation and Ciphergen Biosystems, Inc.

Marianne F. Jackson has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer since
February 2002. Prior to joining Palm, from November 1998 to October 2001, Ms. Jackson was Vice President,
Human Resources for Cisco Systems, Inc. From April 1995 to November 1998, Ms. Jackson was Vice President,
Human Resources at SanDisk Corporation. Ms. Jackson has also held executive leadership positions in Human
Resources at Logitech Inc., Silicon Graphics and Sun Microsystems. Ms. Jackson holds bachelor degrees in
Psychology and Sociology from the University of California, Santa Barbara. She also completed graduate course
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work from Santa Clara University in Counseling Psychology. Ms. Jackson has held Advisory Board positions
with MemeStreams, LifeMap Communications and the CDI Corporation.

The following current officers of Palm have been chosen to become Executive Officers effective upon the
consummation of the PalmSource distribution:

Name Age Position

Mary E. Doyle . . . . . . . . . . . . 51 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Assistant Secretary
Angel Mendez . . . . . . . . . . . . 42 Senior Vice President, Global Operations and Accessory Solutions,

Solutions Group
Ken Wirt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 52 Senior Vice President and General Manager of the Handheld Business

Unit

Mary E. Doyle has served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Assistant Secretary since April
2003. Prior to joining Palm, from July 1996 to December 2002, Ms. Doyle served as General Counsel and
Secretary at General Magic, Inc. From January 1997 to September 1998, she served as Vice President of
Business Affairs and, from September 1998 to December 2003, she served as Senior Vice President of Business
Affairs at General Magic. On December 12, 2002, General Magic filed a voluntary petition for bankruptcy
protection under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code of 1978, as amended. From July 1984 to July 1996,
Ms. Doyle served in various capacities at Teledyne, Inc., most recently as General Counsel of the Aerospace and
Electronics Segment. Ms. Doyle holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in biology and economics from the University
of California, Santa Cruz, and a Juris Doctor degree from the University of California Berkeley.

Angel Mendez has served as Senior Vice President, Global Operations and Accessory Solutions, Solutions
Group since July 2001. Prior to joining Palm, from April 2000 to March 2001, Mr. Mendez served as a Vice
President of Global Supply Chain Management at Gateway Corporation. From June 1998 to April 2000, he
served as Division Executive for Global Procurement at Citigroup. From July 1994 to June 1998, Mr. Mendez
served in various Senior Operations and Supply Chain Management positions at Allied Signal Inc. From April
1993 to July 1994 he served as Director—Materials Management for the Astro Space Division of the Martin
Marietta Corporation (formerly GE AstroSpace). From September 1982 to April 1993, he served in several
management positions at The General Electric Company. Mr. Mendez holds a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from The Crummer School at Rollins College and a Bachelor of Science degree in electrical
engineering from Lafayette College and is a graduate of General Electric’s Manufacturing Management Program.

Ken Wirt has served as Senior Vice President and General Manager of the Handheld Business Unit since
July 2003. From February 2003 to July 2003, he served as Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing, Solutions
Group. From February 2002 to February 2003, he served as Senior Vice President, Marketing and Product
Management, Solutions Group. From July 2001 to February 2002, Mr. Wirt served as Senior Vice President,
Marketing, Solutions Group. Prior to joining Palm, from February 1999 to December 2000, Mr. Wirt was the
Founder and Chief Executive Officer of Riffage.com, Inc. From January 1995 to February 1999, he served as the
Vice President of Corporate Marketing for Diamond Multimedia Systems, Inc. From May 1992 to December
1994, Mr. Wirt served as Director of Marketing for the Personal Interactive Electronics Division of Apple
Computer, Inc. Mr. Wirt holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Stanford University and a
Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of Michigan.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, requires Palm’s
executive officers, directors and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of Palm’s common stock to file
initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Such persons are required by Securities and Exchange Commission regulations to furnish Palm with copies of all
Section 16(a) forms filed by such persons.
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Based solely on Palm’s review of such forms furnished to Palm and written representations from certain
reporting persons, Palm believes that all filing requirements applicable to Palm’s executive officers, directors and
persons who beneficially own more than 10% of Palm’s common stock were complied with during the fiscal year
ended May 30, 2003.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Executive Compensation

The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation paid by Palm to (i) the Chief
Executive Officer of Palm and (ii) the four other most highly compensated individuals (based on salary and
bonus during the fiscal year ended May 30, 2003) who were serving as executive officers of Palm at the end of
the fiscal year ended May 30, 2003. We shall refer to such individuals collectively as the named executive
officers in this annual report.

Summary Compensation Table

Long-Term
Compensation Awards

Name and Principal Position
Fiscal
Year

Annual Compensation

Restricted
Stock

Award(s)
($)(2)

Securities
Underlying
Options (#)

All Other
Compensation

($)(3)Salary ($) Bonus ($) (1)

Eric A. Benhamou . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2003 525,000 36,750 — 60,000 —
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
of the Board of Palm, Inc. (4)

2002
2001

284,375
—

—
—

—
—

55,250
—

—
—

David C. Nagel . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2003 620,000 100,000 — — 6,011
President and Chief Executive Officer
of PalmSource, Inc. and Director of Palm, Inc. (5)

2002 432,213 100,000 426,000(8) 2,750 3,902

R. Todd Bradley . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2003 596,250 86,800 97,000(9) 72,500 128,418
President and Chief Executive Officer,
Solutions Group, and Director of Palm, Inc. (6)

2002 514,596 — 88,800(10) 80,000 55,194

Judy Bruner . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2003 330,000 32,340 48,500(11) 30,000 2,948
Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of Palm, Inc.

2002
2001

330,000
311,667

—
58,003

125,200(12)
—

21,154
12,100

2,795
5,788

Marianne Jackson . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2003 275,000 19,250 48,500(13) 25,000 7,046
Senior Vice President, Chief Human
Resources Officer of Palm, Inc. (7)

2002 90,625 — — 12,500 2,019

(1) In fiscal year 2001, Palm’s executive officers declined the bonuses that they were eligible to receive under Palm’s company-wide bonus
plan for the third quarter of fiscal year 2001. No executive officers were paid bonuses under Palm’s company-wide bonus plan for the
fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001 or for the fiscal year 2002 due to Palm’s financial performance.

(2) Based on the closing sale price of Palm’s common stock as reported on the Nasdaq National Market on May 30, 2003 of $11.98 per
share, the dollar value of 68,872 shares of restricted stock outstanding as of May 30, 2003 was $825,087, of which 41,100 shares were
subject to a right of repurchase by Palm. Palm does not presently plan to pay any dividends on shares of its restricted stock referred to in
this column.

(3) All other compensation generally includes payment of relocation expenses, 401(k) matching payments, group term life insurance
premiums and severance payments. With respect to Mr. Nagel, in the fiscal year ended May 30, 2003, all other compensation includes
$6,011 in group term life insurance premiums. With respect to Mr. Bradley, in the fiscal year ended May 30, 2003, all other
compensation includes $111,468 in housing allowances, $5,000 in 401(k) matching payments, $1,450 in group term life insurance
premiums and $10,500 in financial consulting expenses. With respect to Ms. Bruner, in the fiscal year ended May 30, 2003, all other
compensation includes $2,063 in 401(k) matching payments and $885 in group term life insurance premiums. With respect to
Ms. Jackson, in the fiscal year ended May 30, 2003, all other compensation includes $6,146 in 401(k) matching payments and $900 in
group term life insurance premiums.

(4) Mr. Benhamou became Chief Executive Officer of Palm, Inc, on November 9, 2001.
(5) Mr. Nagel became an employee of Palm, Inc. in September 2001 and President and Chief Executive Officer of PalmSource, Inc., a

subsidiary of Palm, Inc., in December 2001.
(6) Mr. Bradley became an employee of Palm, Inc. in June 2001 and was appointed a director of Palm, Inc. effective as of July 2002. In

addition, Mr. Bradley was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Solutions Group of Palm, Inc. effective as of September 2002.
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(7) Ms. Jackson became Senior Vice President, Chief Human Resources Officer of Palm, Inc. in February 2002. In order to facilitate the
integration of the management teams of the respective companies and the retention of Handspring employees, Marianne Jackson will be
leaving Palm following the transaction and Patricia A. Tomlinson will be assuming the role of Senior Vice President and Chief Human
Resources Officer.

(8) Represents the dollar value of grants of 2,500 shares and 5,000 shares of restricted stock to Mr. Nagel based upon the closing price of
$56.80 per share of Palm’s common stock on the date of grant. The grant of 2,500 shares of restricted stock vested upon the successful
release to the market of the first Palm ARM-based operating system. The grant of 5,000 shares of restricted stock vests in equal annual
increments over a two-year period.

(9) Represents the dollar value of 5,000 shares of restricted stock granted to Mr. Bradley based upon the closing price of $19.40 per share
of Palm’s common stock on the date of grant, which vests in equal annual increments over a three-year period.

(10) Includes the dollar value of 500 shares of restricted stock granted to Mr. Bradley based upon the closing price of $104.80 per share of
Palm’s common stock on the date of grant, which vests on the sixth anniversary of the date of grant. Also includes the dollar value of
500 shares of restricted stock granted to Mr. Bradley based upon the closing price of $72.80 per share of Palm’s common stock on the
date of grant, which vests as to 30 percent of the shares on the first and second anniversary of the date of grant and as to the remaining
40 percent of the shares on the third anniversary of the date of grant.

(11) Represents the dollar value of 2,500 shares of restricted stock granted to Ms. Bruner based upon the closing price of $19.40 per share of
Palm’s common stock on the date of grant, which vests in equal annual increments over a three-year period.

(12) Includes the dollar value of 500 shares of restricted stock granted to Ms. Bruner based upon the closing price of $104.80 per share of
Palm’s common stock on the date of grant, which vests on the sixth anniversary of the date of grant. Also includes the dollar value of
1,000 shares of restricted stock granted to Ms. Bruner based upon the closing price of $72.80 per share of Palm’s common stock on the
date of grant, which vests as to 30 percent of the shares on the first and second anniversary of the date of grant and as to the remaining
40 percent of the shares on the third anniversary of the date of grant.

(13) Represents the dollar value of 2,500 shares of restricted stock granted to Ms. Jackson based upon the closing price of $19.40 per share
of Palm’s common stock on the date of grant, which vests in equal annual increments over a three-year period.

Grants of Stock Options

The following table provides information concerning grants of options to purchase Palm’s common stock
made during the fiscal year ended May 30, 2003 to the named executive officers:

Option Grants in Fiscal Year 2003

Individual Grants
Potential Realizable
Value at Assumed

Annual Rates of Stock
Price Appreciation for

Option Term (4)

Name

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Options

Granted(#)(1)

% of Total
Options

Granted to
Employees

in Fiscal Year
2003(2)

Exercise
Price Per
Share

($/sh)(3)
Expiration

Date 5%($) 10%($)

Eric A. Benhamou . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60,000 2.3 12.10 11/01/12 456,578 1,157,057
David C. Nagel . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — —
R. Todd Bradley . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,500 0.5 13.80 09/03/12 108,484 274,921

60,000 2.3 13.80 09/03/12 520,725 1,319,619
Judy Bruner . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,000 1.1 13.80 09/03/12 260,362 659,809
Marianne F. Jackson . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,000 1.0 13.80 09/03/12 216,969 549,841

(1) All of the options in this table are subject to the terms of Palm’s 1999 Stock Plan, as amended, and are exercisable only as they vest.
(2) Based on a total of options to purchase 2,611,306 shares granted to all Palm employees in the fiscal year ended May 30, 2003.
(3) All options were granted at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of Palm’s common stock on the date of grant.
(4) Potential realizable values are net of exercise price, but before deduction of taxes associated with exercise. These amounts represent

certain assumed rates of appreciation only, based on the Securities and Exchange Commission rules, and do not represent Palm’s
estimate of future stock prices. No gain to an optionee is possible without an increase in stock price, which will benefit all stockholders
commensurately. A zero percent gain in stock price will result in zero dollars for the optionee. Actual realizable values, if any, on stock
option exercises are dependent on the future performance of Palm’s common stock, overall market conditions and the option holders’
continued employment through the vesting period.
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Exercises of Stock Options

The following table provides information concerning option exercises during the fiscal year ended May 30,
2003 and the exercisable and unexercisable options held by the named executive officers as of May 30, 2003:

Aggregated Option Exercises in Fiscal Year 2003 and Fiscal Year-End Option Values

Name

Shares
Acquired on
Exercise (#)

Value
Realized ($)

Number of Securities
Underlying Unexercised Options

at May 30, 2003 (#)

Value of Unexercised
In-the-Money Options
at May 30, 2003 (1)($)

Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable

Eric A. Benhamou . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 51,751 63,499 — —
David C. Nagel . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 2,500 250 — —
R. Todd Bradley . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 44,634 107,866 — —
Judy Bruner . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 50,037 41,229 — —
Marianne F. Jackson . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 9,461 28,039 — —

(1) Based on a fair market value of $11.98 per share as of May 30, 2003, the closing sale price per share of Palm’s common stock on that
date as reported on the Nasdaq National Market.

Employment, Severance and Change of Control Agreements

Pursuant to an Employment Offer Letter dated September 13, 2001, Mr. Nagel accepted the position of
Chief Executive Officer and President of PalmSource, Inc. The terms of the offer letter include, among other
things, a starting salary of $620,000 per year, participation in a discretionary cash bonus plan, a grant of stock
options to purchase shares of PalmSource (when possible), a grant of shares of Palm restricted stock, a sign-on/
retention bonus of $200,000 paid over 18 months, and standard benefits. Pursuant to the offer letter, Mr. Nagel is
entitled to severance benefits if his employment is terminated involuntarily by Palm or PalmSource, other than
for cause (as defined in the offer letter) or voluntarily by him for good reason (as defined in the offer letter).
These severance benefits include a severance payment equal to two times Mr. Nagel’s annual salary and 100% of
his target bonus, continued employee benefits for two years, a pro-rated bonus payment, acceleration of vesting
of his stock options and his Palm restricted stock grant as if he continues as an employee of PalmSource for two
additional years following his termination, payment of the difference between the total value of Mr. Nagel’s
Palm restricted stock grant on the date of termination and $2,000,000 (if such termination occurs prior to
September 15, 2003), and a waiver of any obligation on his part to return any of the sign-on/retention bonus.

Palm has entered into management retention agreements with the following named executive officers:
R. Todd Bradley, Judy Bruner and Marianne Jackson. The management retention agreements with Mr. Bradley
and Ms. Bruner entitle each such officer to full acceleration of the vesting of his or her outstanding stock options
and full vesting of any shares of restricted stock upon a change of control (as defined in the management
retention agreements). Under Ms. Jackson’s management retention agreement, Ms. Jackson’s outstanding stock
options and restricted stock become fully vested if, within 12 months following a change of control (as defined in
the management retention agreement), her employment is terminated involuntarily by Palm other than for cause
(as defined in the management retention agreement), death or disability or voluntarily by Ms. Jackson for good
reason (as defined in the management retention agreement). Further, the management retention agreements with
all of the named executive officers listed above provide that each such officer is entitled to additional severance
benefits if, within 12 months following a change of control (as defined in the management retention agreements),
the employee’s employment is terminated involuntarily by Palm other than for cause (as defined in the
management retention agreements), death or disability or voluntarily by the employee for good reason (as
defined in the management retention agreements) and the employee enters into a mutual release of claims with
Palm. These severance benefits include a severance payment of one times annual salary and target bonus (except
that with respect to Mr. Bradley, this severance payment is two times annual salary and target bonus), continued
company-paid coverage of certain employee benefits for a minimum of two years following his or her
termination, pro-rated bonus payment and a tax equalization payment to eliminate the effects of any applicable
“golden parachute” excise tax.

110



In addition, Palm has entered into severance agreements with R. Todd Bradley and Judy Bruner. Pursuant to
the severance agreements, each of these employees is entitled to severance benefits if the employee’s
employment is terminated involuntarily by Palm other than for cause (as defined in the severance agreements),
death or disability (as defined in the severance agreements) or voluntarily by the employee for good reason (as
defined in the severance agreements) and the employee enters into a mutual release with Palm, complies with all
of the terms of the severance agreement, including the non-solicitation of employees, and does not qualify for
payments and benefits under his or her management retention agreement. With respect to Ms. Bruner, the
severance benefits include a lump-sum payment equal to 100% of annual base salary, one year of accelerated
vesting of stock options (excluding any shares that would vest solely or have their vesting accelerate upon the
achievement of performance objectives), vesting of one-half of any shares of restricted stock (excluding any
shares that vest solely or have their vesting accelerate upon the achievement of performance objectives) and
certain employer paid health benefits for one year if the employee elects continuation coverage. With respect to
Mr. Bradley, the severance benefits include a lump-sum payment equal to 200% of annual base salary, two years
of accelerated vesting of stock options (excluding any shares that would vest solely or have their vesting
accelerate upon the achievement of performance objectives), vesting of one-half of any shares of restricted stock
(excluding any shares that vest solely or have their vesting accelerate upon the achievement of performance
objectives) and certain employer paid health benefits for two years if the employee elects continuation coverage.
Under the terms of the severance agreements, a termination event will not be deemed to have occurred where an
individual is employed by a subsidiary of Palm and Palm distributes the securities of such subsidiary to Palm’s
stockholders.

Palm has also entered into executive retention agreements with the following named executive officers
pursuant to the Solution Group’s executive retention program: R. Todd Bradley, Judy Bruner and Marianne
Jackson. Pursuant to these agreements, each of these officers is entitled to a guaranteed bonus based on target
percentages of his or her eligible base salary for the period from the first quarter of fiscal year 2003 through the
second quarter of fiscal year 2004. The bonuses are contingent on the achievement of minimum performance
ratings exceeding expectations and are scheduled to be paid after the end of Palm’s quarter ending November 28,
2003, provided the officer has remained at Palm through that date. In addition, these agreements provide for
grants of restricted stock to these officers, subject to a three year vesting schedule in equal annual installments, in
the following amounts (such amounts are adjusted to give effect to the one-for-20 reverse stock split of Palm
common stock effective as of October 15, 2002): 5,000 shares for Mr. Bradley, 2,500 shares for Ms. Bruner and
2,500 shares for Ms. Jackson.

In May 2001, Palm entered into an offer letter agreement with R. Todd Bradley, which provides for: a base
annual salary of $525,000, bonus eligibility, and a grant of an option to acquire 37,500 shares of Palm common
stock (such number of shares is adjusted to give effect to the one-for-twenty reverse stock split of Palm common
stock effective as of October 15, 2002) subject to four year vesting with 25% vesting after the first year and
monthly vesting thereafter. In May 2002, Mr. Bradley was promoted to President, Solutions Group, and his
compensation was adjusted to provide for an enhanced bonus potential and a grant of an additional option to
acquire 37,500 shares of Palm common stock (such number of shares is adjusted to give effect to the one-for-
twenty reverse stock split of Palm common stock effective as of October 15, 2002), subject to four year vesting
with 25% vesting after the first year and the remaining option vesting monthly thereafter. In September 2002,
Mr. Bradley’s title was changed to President and Chief Executive Officer, Solutions Group, and his base annual
salary was increased to $620,000. In August 2003, Mr. Bradley’s annual base salary was increased to $660,000,
and in July 2003, he was granted an option to purchase 150,000 shares of Palm common stock, subject to
monthly vesting over three years.

In January 2002, Palm entered into an offer letter agreement with Marianne F. Jackson, which provides for:
a base annual salary of $275,000, bonus eligibility, and a grant of an option to acquire 22,500 shares of Palm
common stock (such number of shares is adjusted to give effect to the one-for-twenty reverse stock split of Palm
common stock effective as of October 15, 2002), subject to four year vesting with 25% vesting after the first year
and monthly vesting thereafter.
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In September 2003, Palm entered into a severance agreement with Ms. Jackson, which, pursuant to her
existing severance agreement, provides for a lump sum payment on approximately November 1, 2003 in the
amount of $275,000, payment of accrued but unused paid time off, up to $10,000 of executive outplacement
services, coverage of COBRA premiums through October 2004, one year of accelerated vesting of stock options
as of approximately November 1, 2003 (excluding any shares that would vest solely or have their vesting
accelerate upon the achievement of performance objectives) and accelerated vesting of one-half of any shares of
restricted stock that remain unvested as of approximately November 1, 2003 (excluding any shares that vest
solely or have their vesting accelerate upon the achievement of performance objectives). In addition, the
severance agreement provides an additional lump sum payment in the amount of $187,000, which Ms. Jackson
would have earned pursuant to the executive retention program had she remained with Palm through
November 28, 2003.

In November 2002, Palm entered into a letter arrangement with Eric Benhamou, which provides for: an
annual base salary of $525,000; bonus eligibility; a grant of an option exercisable for 60,000 shares of Palm
common stock (such amount gives effect to the one-for-twenty reverse stock split of Palm common stock
effective as of October 15, 2002), which vests in equal annual installments over three years and accelerated
vesting in full at the time of the PalmSource distribution; and an additional grant of an option exercisable for
5,000 shares of Palm common stock to be made at the time of the consummation of the PalmSource distribution.

Palm’s 1999 Stock Plan, as amended (the “Stock Plan”), provides that in the event of Palm’s merger with or
into another corporation or the sale of substantially all of Palm’s assets, the successor corporation may assume or
substitute an equivalent award for each outstanding option or stock purchase right. If following such an
assumption or substitution, the holder of an option or stock purchase right is terminated without cause within
12 months following a change of control (as defined in the Stock Plan), then the vesting and exercisability of
50% of the then unvested shares of common stock of Palm subject to his or her option or stock purchase right
will accelerate. If the outstanding options or stock purchase rights are not assumed or substituted for in
connection with a merger or sale of assets, the administrator of the Stock Plan will provide notice to the optionee
that he or she has the right to exercise the option or stock purchase right as to all of the shares subject to the
option or stock purchase right, including shares which would not otherwise be exercisable, for a period of
15 days from the date of the notice. The option or stock purchase right will terminate upon the expiration of the
15-day period.

Under Palm’s 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended, in the event of Palm’s merger with or into
another corporation or the sale of all or substantially all of Palm’s assets, the successor corporation may assume
or substitute an equivalent option for each outstanding option. If the successor corporation does not assume or
substitute for the outstanding options, the purchase periods and offering periods then in progress will be
shortened by setting a new exercise date, which will be before the merger or sale of assets.

Palm’s Amended and Restated 1999 Director Option Plan, as amended, or the 1999 Director Plan, provides
that in the event of Palm’s merger with or into another corporation or the sale of substantially all of Palm’s
assets, each outstanding option may be assumed or an equivalent option substituted by the successor corporation.
If the successor corporation does not assume or substitute for an outstanding option, the option will become fully
vested and exercisable. If an option becomes fully vested and exercisable in lieu of such assumption or
substitution, the administrator of the 1999 Director Plan will notify the optionee that the option is fully
exercisable for 30 days from the date of such notice and that the option will terminate upon the expiration of such
30-day period. In addition, in the event of a change of control (as defined in the 1999 Director Plan), the
exercisability of each outstanding option will accelerate and become fully vested and exercisable immediately
prior to the change of control as to all of the shares then subject to the option. The option will terminate
immediately following the change of control.

Palm’s 2001 Stock Option Plan for non-employee directors, or the 2001 Director Plan, provides that in the
event of Palm’s merger with or into another corporation or the sale of substantially all of Palm’s assets, each
outstanding option may be assumed or an equivalent option substituted by the successor corporation. If the
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successor corporation does not assume or substitute for an outstanding option, the option will become fully
vested and exercisable. If an option becomes fully vested and exercisable in lieu of such assumption or
substitution, the administrator of the 2001 Director Plan will notify the optionee that the option is fully
exercisable for 30 days from the date of such notice and that the option will terminate upon the expiration of such
30-day period. In addition, if a change of control (as defined in the 2001 Director Plan) occurs and a non-
employee director will cease to be such as an immediate and direct consequence of the change of control, his or
her outstanding options (if not yet expired) will become fully exercisable on the date of the change of control.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.

The following table sets forth certain information, as of September 23, 2003, with respect to the beneficial
ownership of Palm’s common stock by (i) each person who is known to Palm to own beneficially more than 5%
of Palm’s common stock; (ii) each director and director-nominee of Palm; (iii) the Chief Executive Officer and
each other person included in the Summary Compensation Table beginning on page 108 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K/A, referred to in this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A collectively as the named executive officers;
and (iv) all current executive officers and directors of Palm as a group. Beneficial ownership is determined in
accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and generally includes voting or
investment power with respect to the securities. Shares of Palm’s common stock subject to options or warrants
that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of September 23, 2003 are deemed to be outstanding
and beneficially owned for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of that person but are not treated
as outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner(1)

Amount and Nature
of Beneficial
Ownership(2)

Percent of
Common Stock
Outstanding(3)

FMR Corp. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
82 Devonshire Street, Boston, MA 02109

3,193,483(4) 10.1%

Wellington Management Company, LLP . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
75 State Street, Boston, MA 02109

2,661,075(5) 8.4

Eric A. Benhamou . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 134,303(6) *
R. Todd Bradley . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 84,696(7) *
Judy Bruner . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 64,844(8) *
Gordon A. Campbell . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,850(9) *
Gareth C.C. Chang . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,834(10) *
Jean-Jacques Damlamian . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,000(11) *
Michael Homer . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,418(12) *
Marianne F. Jackson . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,447(13) *
David C. Nagel . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,250(14) *
Susan G. Swenson . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,850(15) *
All current directors and executive officers as a group (10 persons) . . . . . 354,492(16) 1.1

* Less than 1%.
(1) Unless otherwise noted, the address for the beneficial owners listed in this table is c/o Palm, Inc.,

400 N. McCarthy Blvd., Milpitas, California 95035.
(2) To Palm’s knowledge, except as indicated in the footnotes to this table, the persons named in the table

have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown as beneficially
owned by them, subject to community property laws where applicable.

(3) Based on 31,761,542 shares of Palm’s common stock issued and outstanding as of September 23, 2003.
(4) Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 10, 2003,

including sole voting power with respect to 669,109 shares and shared voting power with respect to none
of the shares.
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(5) Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 12, 2003,
including sole voting power with respect to none of the shares and shared voting power with respect to
1,888,695 shares. Based on a report from Thomson Financial Group, dated as of September 5, 2003, Palm
believes that Wellington Management Company may beneficially own only approximately
1,000,000 shares or 3.1% of common stock outstanding.

(6) Includes 73,834 shares issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of September 23,
2003.

(7) Includes 78,696 shares issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of September 23,
2003.

(8) Includes 60,504 shares issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of September 23,
2003.

(9) Includes 8,350 shares issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of September 23,
2003.

(10) Includes 4,334 shares issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of September 23,
2003.

(11) Includes 7,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of September 23,
2003.

(12) Includes 7,918 shares issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of September 23,
2003.

(13) Includes 18,245 shares issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of September 23,
2003.

(14) Includes 2,750 shares issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of September 23,
2003. Also includes 7,000 shares held by Mr. Nagel and his spouse as trustees of the Nagel/Schreiner
Revocable Trust.

(15) Includes 8,350 shares issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of September 23,
2003.

(16) Includes 269,981 shares issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of September 23,
2003. Also includes 7,000 shares held by Mr. Nagel and his spouse as trustees of the Nagel/Schreiner
Revocable Trust.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table summarizes our equity compensation plans as of May 31, 2003:

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Plan Category

Number of
securities to be

issued upon exercise
of outstanding

options, warrants
and rights

(a)

Weighted average
exercise price
of outstanding

options, warrants
and rights

(b)

Number of
securities remaining
available for future

issuance under equity
compensation plans
(excluding securities

reflected in column (a))
(c)

Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,027,058 $112.13 2,474,983(1)(2)

Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders (3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — —

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,027,058 $112.13 2,474,983

(1) This number of shares includes 1.4 million shares of our common stock reserved under our 1999 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan, as amended, (the “1999 ESPP”) for future issuance.

(2) Our 1999 Stock Plan, as amended, (the “1999 Stock Plan”) provides for annual increases on the first day of
each fiscal year in the number of shares available for issuance under the 1999 Stock Plan equal to 5% of the
outstanding shares of our common stock on such date or a lesser amount as determined by our Board of
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Directors. In addition, the 1999 ESPP provides for annual increases on the first day of each fiscal year in the
number of shares available for issuance under the 1999 ESPP equal to 2% of the outstanding shares of our
common stock on such date or a lesser amount as determined by our Board of Directors.

(3) This category of shares does not include outstanding options to purchase 6,285 shares of our common stock
assumed in connection with various mergers and acquisitions. At May 31, 2003, these assumed options had
a weighted average exercise price of $138.20 per share. Except for shares of our common stock underlying
the options outstanding under these plans, there are no shares of Palm common stock reserved under these
plans, including shares for new grants. In the event that any such assumed option is not exercised, no further
option to purchase shares of our common stock will be issued in place of such unexercised option. However,
we do have the authority, if necessary, to reserve additional shares of Palm common stock under these plans
to the extent such shares are necessary to effect the adjustment to maintain option value, including intrinsic
value, of the outstanding options under these plans as a result of the PalmSource distribution.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Transactions with 3Com Corporation

After the legal separation from 3Com in February 2000, Palm has paid 3Com for certain leased facilities and
for transitional services required while Palm established its independent infrastructure. Amounts paid to 3Com
under these agreements since the separation date were approximately $12.9 million, $25.2 million and
$31.9 million for fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

A Tax Sharing Agreement allocates 3Com’s and Palm’s responsibilities for certain tax matters. The
agreement requires Palm to pay 3Com for the incremental tax costs of Palm’s inclusion in consolidated,
combined or unitary tax returns with affiliated corporations. The agreement also provides for compensation or
reimbursement as appropriate to reflect re-determinations of Palm’s tax liability for periods during which Palm
joined in filing consolidated, combined or unitary tax returns with affiliated corporations.

Each member of a consolidated group for U.S. federal income tax purposes is jointly and severally liable for
the group’s federal income tax liability. Accordingly, Palm could be required to pay a deficiency in the group’s
federal income tax liability for a period during which Palm was a member of the group even if the Tax Sharing
Agreement allocates that liability to 3Com or another member.

Effective as of the date of Palm’s legal separation from 3Com, subject to specified exceptions, Palm and
3Com each released the other from any liabilities arising from their respective businesses or contracts, as well as
liabilities arising from a breach of the separation agreement or any ancillary agreement.

Under the terms of a software license agreement between PalmSource and 3Com, PalmSource recorded
$0.4 million and $0.2 million of support revenues for fiscal years 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Transactions between Palm and PalmSource

See “The PalmSource Separation” in this joint proxy statement/prospectus for a description of the principal
agreements relating to the separation of PalmSource from Palm.

At the date of the PalmSource distribution, PalmSource will assume $15.0 million of a note payable to
Texas Instruments made by Palm, which bears interest at 5.0% per annum and is due December 6, 2006.

In December 2001, Palm entered into the software license agreement with PalmSource, which was amended
and restated in June 2003. David C. Nagel, one of our directors, is the President and Chief Executive Officer of
PalmSource. Under the software license agreement, we recorded aggregate payments of $21.4 million to
PalmSource in fiscal year 2002 and $38.9 million in fiscal year 2003, respectively. The agreement establishes
minimum annual license and royalty commitments which are $37.5 million for the contract year ending
December 3, 2003 and $39.0 million for the contract year ending December 3, 2004.
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Other Transactions and Relationships

Palm entered into a business consulting agreement effective as of June 2002 with Satjiv Chahil, who was
formerly Palm’s Chief Marketing Officer. Under this consulting agreement, Palm paid Mr. Chahil approximately
$0.4 million in consulting fees during fiscal year 2003. This consulting agreement expired on May 31, 2003.
Mr. Chahil served as a Palm spokesperson, delivering keynote addresses at industry forums and assisting with
industry and analyst relations activities, assisted with the separation of PalmSource from Palm, and solicited
advice and feedback from key influencers and opinion leaders on Palm’s strategy and products.

In fiscal year 2003, Palm made a $1.0 million equity investment in and entered into a product procurement
agreement with Mobile Digital Media, Inc., a company founded by Barry Cottle, the former Senior Vice
President and Chief Internet Officer of Palm until his employment with Palm terminated in February 2002. Palm
paid $4.6 million for products purchased under the product procurement agreement during fiscal year 2003.
These products were purchased by Palm for resale.

In fiscal year 2003, Palm purchased $0.3 million of software licenses and services from Kontiki, Inc.
Michael Homer, a current member of Palm’s board of directors, is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
Kontiki, Inc.

In fiscal year 2003, Palm purchased $0.1 million of products from SanDisk Corporation through a series of
purchase orders and without further obligations on the part of Palm. Judy Bruner, Palm’s current chief financial
officer, serves as a member of the board of directors of SanDisk Corporation.

Eric Benhamou is the Chairman of the board of directors of both Palm and PalmSource and is currently
employed by Palm as its Chief Executive Officer.

David Nagel is currently a member of the board of directors of both Palm and PalmSource and is currently
employed by PalmSource as its President and Chief Executive Officer.

Marianne Jackson, Senior Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer of Palm, is the sister of
Robert J. Finnochio, a director of PalmSource.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by Item 14 of Form 10-K is not required to be included in this report in
accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission Release No 34-47265A.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule, and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report:

1. Financial Statements—See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statements
Schedule at Item 8 on page 67 of this Report on Form 10-K.

2. Financial Statement Schedules—See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial
Statements Schedule at Item 8 on page 67 of this Report on Form 10-K.

3. Exhibits—The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this
Report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit
Number Description

2.1(1) Agreement and Plan of Reorganization between the registrant, Peace Separation Corporation,
Harmony Acquisition Corporation and Handspring, Inc., dated June 4, 2003.

2.2(2) Master Separation and Distribution Agreement between 3Com and the registrant effective as of
December 13, 1999, as amended.

2.3(3) Assignment and Assumption Agreement between 3Com and registrant, as amended.

2.4(3) Master Technology Ownership and License Agreement between 3Com and the registrant.

2.5(3) Master Patent Ownership and License Agreement between 3Com and the registrant.

2.6(3) Master Trademark Ownership and License Agreement between 3Com and the registrant.

2.7(3) Employee Matters Agreement between 3Com and the registrant.

2.8(3) Tax Sharing Agreement between 3Com and the registrant.

2.9(3) Master Transitional Services Agreement between 3Com and the registrant.

2.10(3) Real Estate Matters Agreement between 3Com and the registrant.

2.11(3) Master Confidential Disclosure Agreement between 3Com and the registrant.

2.12(3) Indemnification and Insurance Matters Agreement between 3Com and the registrant.

2.13(2) Form of Non-U.S. Plan.

2.14(1) Amended and Restated Master Separation Agreement between the registrant and PalmSource, Inc.

2.15(1) General Assignment and Assumption Agreement between the registrant and PalmSource, Inc.

2.16(1) Amendment No. 1 to General Assignment and Assumption Agreement between the registrant and
PalmSource, Inc.

2.17(1) Amended and Restated Indemnification and Insurance Matters Agreement between the registrant
and PalmSource, Inc.

2.18(1) Amended and Restated Software License Agreement between the registrant and PalmSource, Inc.

2.19(1) Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Software License Agreement between the registrant
and PalmSource, Inc.

2.20(1) Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Software License Agreement between the registrant
and PalmSource, Inc.

2.21(1) Elaine Software License and Software and Services Agreement between the registrant and
PalmSource, Inc.

2.22(1) SDIO License Agreement between the registrant and PalmSource, Inc.

2.23(1) Development Agreement between the registrant and PalmSource, Inc.

2.24(1) Amended and Restated Tax Sharing Agreement between the registrant and PalmSource, Inc.

2.25(1) Amended and Restated Intercompany Loan Agreement between the registrant and PalmSource
Holding Company.
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Exhibit
Number Description

2.26(1) Assignment and Assumption Agreement for the Amended and Restated Intercompany Loan
Agreement between the registrant and PalmSource Holding Company and PalmSource, Inc.

2.27(1) Master Technology Ownership and License Agreement between the registrant and PalmSource,
Inc.

2.28(1) Amendment No. 1 to Master Technology Ownership and License Agreement between the
registrant and PalmSource, Inc.

2.29(1) Master Confidential Disclosure Agreement between the registrant and PalmSource, Inc.

2.30(1) Amendment No. 1 to Master Confidential Disclosure Agreement between the registrant and
PalmSource, Inc.

2.31(1) Master Patent Ownership and License Agreement between the registrant and PalmSource, Inc.

2.32(1) Strategic Collaboration Agreement between the registrant and PalmSource, Inc.

2.33(1) Amendment No. 1 to Strategic Collaboration Agreement between the registrant and PalmSource, Inc.

2.34 Xerox Litigation Agreement between the registrant and PalmSource, Inc., as amended.

2.35(1) Employee Matters Agreement between the registrant and PalmSource, Inc.

2.36(1) Letter Agreement Regarding Cash Contributions between the registrant and PalmSource, Inc.

2.37(1) Business Services Agreement between the registrant and PalmSource, Inc.

2.38(1) Loan Agreement between the registrant and Handspring, Inc., dated as of June 4, 2003.

3.1(4) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

3.2(5) Amended and Restated Bylaws.

3.3(6) Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferences and Privileges of Series A Participating Preferred Stock.

4.1 Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3 hereof.

4.2(7) Specimen Stock Certificate.

4.3(6) Preferred Stock Rights Agreement between the registrant and EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.
(formerly Fleet National Bank).

4.4(8) 5% Convertible Subordinated Note Due 2006, dated as of December 6, 2001.

4.5 Letter Agreement regarding $50,000,000 5% Convertible Subordinated Note between the
registrant and Texas Instruments Incorporated.

10.1(9) 1999 Stock Plan, as amended.

10.2(2) Form of 1999 Stock Plan Agreements.

10.3(9) 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

10.4(2) Form of 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan Agreements.

10.5(10) Amended and Restated 1999 Director Option Plan.

10.6(2) Form of 1999 Director Option Plan Agreements.

10.7(2) Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by the registrant with each of its directors and
executive officers.

10.8(2)** RAMMobile Data USA Limited Partnership Value Added Reseller Agreement between RAM
Mobile Data USA Limited Partnership (now Cingular Wireless) and the registrant.

10.9(2)** Supply Agreement between Manufacturers’ Services Salt Lake City Operations, Inc. and the registrant.

10.10(2) Common Stock Purchase Agreement between America Online (now AOL Time Warner) and the
registrant.

10.11(2) Common Stock Purchase Agreement between Motorola and the registrant.

10.12(2) Common Stock Purchase Agreement Between Nokia and the registrant.

10.13(2) Form of Management Retention Agreement.
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Exhibit
Number Description

10.14(11) Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Land between 3Com Corporation and the registrant.

10.15(12) Master Lease dated as of November 16, 2000 by and between the registrant and Societe Generale
Financial Corporation, as supplemented.

10.16(12) Participation Agreement dated as of November 16, 2000 by and among the registrant, Societe
Generale Financial Corporation, Societe Generale and certain other parties.

10.17(12) Guaranty dated as of November 16, 2000 by and between the registrant and Societe Generale, New
York Branch.

10.18(13)** First Amendment to Supply Agreement between Manufacturers’ Services Salt Lake City
Operations, Inc. and the registrant.

10.19(14) Amended and Restated Lease, dated as of May 31, 2001, between the registrant and Societe
Generale Financial Corporation, as supplemented.

10.20(14) Termination Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2001, between the registrant, Societe Generale
Financial Corporation, Societe Generale and certain other parties.

10.21(4)** Loan and Security Agreement by and among the registrant, Foothill Capital Corporation, Heller
Financial, Inc. and The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc. dated as of June 25, 2001.

10.22(4)** Amendment Number One to Loan Agreement by and among the registrant, Foothill Capital
Corporation, Heller Financial, Inc. and The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc. dated as of
August 6, 2001.

10.23(4) Employment Offer Letter for David C. Nagel dated September 13, 2001.

10.24(8)** Agreement and General Release of All Claims between the registrant and Carl J. Yankowski dated
as of November 8, 2001.

10.25(8)** Convertible Note Purchase Agreement dated December 6, 2001.

10.26(8)** Registration Rights Agreement dated as of December 6, 2001.

10.27(8)** Amendment Number Two to Loan Agreement by and among the registrant, Foothill Capital
Corporation, Heller Financial, Inc. and The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc. dated as of
November 30, 2001.

10.28(8)** Loan Agreement by and among Palm Europe Limited, Foothill Capital Corporation, Heller
Financial, Inc. and The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc. dated as of November 30, 2001.

10.29(15)** Guarantee and Debenture by and between Palm Europe Limited and Foothill Capital Corporation
dated as of November 30, 2001.

10.30(15) General Continuing Guaranty by the registrant in favor of Foothill Capital Corporation, Heller
Financial, Inc. and The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc. dated as of November 30, 2001.

10.31(15) Share Charge by and between Palm Ireland Investment and Foothill Capital Corporation dated as
of November 30, 2001.

10.32(8)** Loan Agreement by and among Palm Global Operations Ltd., Foothill Capital Corporation, Heller
Financial, Inc., and The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc. dated as of November 30, 2001.

10.33(15) Guarantee and Debenture by and between Palm Global Operations Limited and Foothill Capital
Corporation dated as of January 7, 2002.

10.34(15) General Continuing Guaranty by the registrant in favor of Foothill Capital Corporation, Heller
Financial, Inc. and The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc. dated as of November 30, 2001.

10.35(15) Share Charge by and between Palm Ireland Investment and Foothill Capital Corporation dated as
of November 30, 2001.

10.36(16)** Amendment Number One to Value Added Reseller Agreement between Cingular Interactive, L.P.
(formerly known as BellSouth Wireless Data, L.P., which was formerly known as RAMMobile
Data USA Limited Partnership) and the registrant.

10.37(17)** Sublease Agreement by and between Cisco Systems Inc. and the registrant.
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Exhibit
Number Description

10.38(17) Lease Agreement between Network Appliance, Inc. and PalmSource, Inc.

10.39(17) Amendment No. 1 to Lease Agreement and Work Letter Agreement.

10.40(4) Amendment Number Three to Loan Agreement by and among the registrant, Foothill Capital
Corporation, Heller Financial, Inc. and The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc. dated as of
March 22, 2002.

10.41(4) Amendment Number Four to Loan Agreement by and among the registrant, Foothill Capital
Corporation, Heller Financial, Inc. and The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc. dated as of June 7,
2002.

10.42(4) Management Retention Agreement by and between the registrant and R. Todd Bradley dated as of
September 17, 2002.

10.43(4) Form of Severance Agreement for Executive Officers.

10.44(4) Management Retention Agreement between the registrant and Marianne Jackson dated as of
February 12, 2002.

10.45(9) 2001 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended.

10.46(7) Management Retention Agreement between the registrant and Judy Bruner dated as of March 17,
2000.

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1 Consent of Independent Auditors.

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer under Rule 13a-14(a).

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer under Rule 13a-14(a).

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer under Rule 13a-14(b).

(1) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (No. 333-106829)
filed with the Commission on July 3, 2003, as amended.

(2) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
October 22, 2002.

(3) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission
on April 10, 2000.

(4) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with Commission on
October 11, 2002.

(5) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission
on October 15, 2001, as amended.

(6) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
November 22, 2000.

(7) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission
on April 14, 2003.

(8) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Form 10-Q/A filed with the Commission on April 17,
2002.

(9) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission
on January 10, 2003.

(10) Incorporated by reference from the Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the Commission on
October 2, 2000.

(11) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission
on October 12, 2000.

(12) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
December 1, 2000.

(13) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission
on April 11, 2001.
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(14) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
June 15, 2001.

(15) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission
on January 14, 2002, as amended.

(16) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Form 10-Q/A filed with the Commission on February 26,
2002.

(17) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission
on July 30, 2002.

** Confidential treatment granted on portions of this exhibit.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

September 26, 2003

PALM, INC.

By: /s/ JUDY BRUNER

Judy Bruner
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Know all persons by these presents, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Eric
Benhamou and Judy Bruner, jointly and severally, his or her attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him or
her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto
and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his or her substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date

PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER:

*
Eric A. Benhamou

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER AND
PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING OFFICER:

/s/ JUDY BRUNER

Judy Bruner

Senior Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer

September 26, 2003

*
R. Todd Bradley

President and Chief Executive Officer,
Solutions Group,
Director

*
Gordon A. Campbell

Director

*
Gareth C. C. Chang

Director

*
Jean-Jacques Damlamian

Director

*
Michael Homer

Director

*
David C. Nagel

President and Chief Executive Officer,
PalmSource, Inc.,
Director

*
Susan G. Swenson

Director

*By: /s/ JUDY BRUNER

Judy Bruner
Attorney-in-fact
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PALM, INC.

SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Years ended May 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

(in thousands)

For the year ended May 31, 2003:

Balance
at

beginning
of period

Additions
(Deductions)
charged to
costs and
expenses Deductions

Balance
at end of
period

Allowance for doubtful accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 8,485 $ 872 $ (4,712) $ 4,645
Product return reserve . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,996 38,781 (44,782) 19,995
Product warranty . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,008 27,529 (39,626) 17,911

For the year ended May 31, 2002:

Balance
at

beginning
of period

Additions
(Deductions)
charged to
costs and
expenses Deductions

Balance
at end of
period

Allowance for doubtful accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $14,899 $ (4,806) $ (1,608) $ 8,485
Product return reserve . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41,136 75,537 (90,677) 25,996
Product warranty . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40,995 45,666 (56,653) 30,008

For the year ended May 31, 2001:

Balance
at

beginning
of period

Additions
(Deductions)
charged to
costs and
expenses Deductions

Balance
at end of
period

Allowance for doubtful accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6,810 $ 8,728 $ (639) $14,899
Product return reserve . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,042 120,373 (98,279) 41,136
Product warranty . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,984 82,784 (72,773) 40,995
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Certifications

I, Eric A. Benhamou, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Palm, Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/A of Palm, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) [Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238 and 34-47986]

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 25, 2003 By: /s/ ERIC A. BENHAMOU

Eric A. Benhamou
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer



Certifications

I, Judy Bruner, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Palm, Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/A of Palm, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) [Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238 and 34-47986]

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 25, 2003 By: /s/ JUDY BRUNER

Judy Bruner
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer



CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Eric Benhamou, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of Palm, Inc. on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended
May 30, 2003 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K/A fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Palm, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Palm, Inc. and will
be retained by Palm, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

By: /s/ ERIC A. BENHAMOU

Name: Eric A. Benhamou
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

I, Judy Bruner, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of Palm, Inc. on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended
May 30, 2003 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K/A fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Palm, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Palm, Inc. and will
be retained by Palm, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

By: /s/ JUDY BRUNER

Name: Judy Bruner
Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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